

Unicentre CH-1015 Lausanne http://serval.unil.ch

Year : 2013

The Role of the  $\delta\mbox{-}Opioid$  Receptor in Skin Homeostasis and Wound Healing

Author : Christine Neumann

(Christine Neumann) (2013) (The Role of the  $\delta$ -Opioid Receptor in Skin Homeostasis and Wound Healing)

Originally published at : Thesis, University of Lausanne

Posted at the University of Lausanne Open Archive. http://serval.unil.ch

#### Droits d'auteur

L'Université de Lausanne attire expressément l'attention des utilisateurs sur le fait que tous les documents publiés dans l'Archive SERVAL sont protégés par le droit d'auteur, conformément à la loi fédérale sur le droit d'auteur et les droits voisins (LDA). A ce titre, il est indispensable d'obtenir le consentement préalable de l'auteur **et/ou de l'éditeur** avant toute utilisation d'une oeuvre ou d'une partie d'une oeuvre ne relevant pas d'une utilisation à des fins personnelles au sens de la LDA (art. 19, al. 1 lettre a). A défaut, tout contrevenant s'expose aux sanctions prévues par cette loi. Nous déclinons toute responsabilité en la matière.

#### Copyright

The University of Lausanne expressly draws the attention of users to the fact that all documents published in the SERVAL Archive are protected by copyright in accordance with federal law on copyright and similar rights (LDA). Accordingly it is indispensable to obtain prior consent from the author and/or publisher before any use of a work or part of a work for purposes other than personal use within the meaning of LDA (art. 19, para. 1 letter a). Failure to do so will expose offenders to the sanctions laid down by this law. We accept no liability in this respect.



UNIL | Université de Lausanne

# Faculté de biologie et de médecine

Département de Médecine Service de Dermatologie and Vénéréologie Centre Hospitalier Universitaire Vaudois (CHUV)

# THE ROLE OF THE δ-OPIOID RECEPTOR IN SKIN HOMEOSTASIS AND WOUND HEALING

Thèse de doctorat ès science de la vie (PhD)

présentée à la

Faculté de biologie et de médecine de l'Université de Lausanne

par

### **CHRISTINE NEUMANN**

Biologiste diplômée de la Philipps-Universität Marburg (Allemagne)

Jury

Prof. Peter Frey, Président Prof. Christian Widmann, Directeur de thèse Dr. Mei Bigliardi-Qi, Co-directrice Prof. Desmond J. Tobin, Expert Prof. Isabelle Decosterd, Expert Dr. Marc R. Suter, Expert

Lausanne 2013

UNIL | Université de Lausanne Faculté de biologie et de médecine

Ecole Doctorale Doctorat ès sciences de la vie

# Imprimatur

Vu le rapport présenté par le jury d'examen, composé de

Président Directeur de thèse Co-directeur de thèse

Monsieur Prof. Peter Frey Madame Prof. Christian Widmann Madame Dr Mei Bigliardi

Experts

Madame Prof. Isabelle **Decosterd** Monsieur Prof. Desmond J. **Tobin** Monsieur Dr Marc **Suter** 

le Conseil de Faculté autorise l'impression de la thèse de

# Madame Christine Neumann

Biologiste diplômée de Philipp's Universität Maarburg, Allemagne

intitulée

### the Role of the $\delta$ – opioid receptor in skin Homeostasis and wound healing

Lausanne, le 20 septembre 2013

pour Le Doyen de la Faculté de Biologie et de Médecine

Peter Frey Prof.

# Acknowledgement

This thesis would not have been possible without the help and support of Mei and Paul Bigliardi first in the Neurodermatology lab in Lausanne and then in the new Experimental Dermatology lab after the movement to Singapore.

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor Professor Christian Widmann for his useful comments, remarks, and engagement throughout the process of this thesis.

The deepest appreciation goes to my committee members, Professor Desmond J. Tobin and Dr. Marc R. Suter, for doing me the honour of evaluating my thesis and the advices they have given me. Also I would like to thank the president of the jury Professor Peter Frey for making himself available and his efforts during the demi-thesis and the oral exams of the defence of the doctor's thesis.

I am thankful to all of my colleagues in the Experimental Dermatology group in Singapore and would like to give special thanks to Yi Ling and Ting Ting. Also I would like to thank Professor Birgit Lane for her support during the stay in Singapore as well as members of the Epithelial Biology lab for welcoming me with open arms and helping to set up the new lab in Singapore. Tong San and Paula thank you for your discussions and resources, without them crucial parts of the work would not have been possible.

Furthermore, my appreciation goes to the former and current members of the Skin Biology lab from Professor Daniel Hohl in Lausanne. Thank you Stefanie, Dianelys, Caroline, Marcel, Stephane, Christophe, and Lida for your advices, discussions, and the enjoyable time beside the research. Dev and Magda thank you for retrieving me out of my shell from time to time, which made the time in Lausanne unforgettable.

Gratitude goes also to former members of Professor Widmann's lab namely Nieves, Alessandro, Davide, and Gil for their support and advices.

I am grateful to the Lausanne Genomic Technology Facility (LGTF) for their expertise and support, especially Sylvain Pradervand, Leonore Wigger, Mélanie Dupasquier, and Alexandra Paillusson.

Without the financial support of the Swiss National Fond and the Singapore Biomedical Research Council of the Singapore Agency for Science, Technology and Research (A\*STAR) this work would not have been possible.

Mein größter Dank aber gilt meiner Familie und meinen Freunden für ihr Verständnis, ihre Geduld und ihre moralische Unterstützung.

### **Table of Contents**

Abbreviations	5
Summary/Résumé	9
CHAPTER I – General Introduction	13
I.1. The Human Skin	14
I.1.1. The Structure and Function of the Human Skin	14
I.1.1.1. The Epidermis	15
I.1.1.2. The Dermis	19
I.1.1.3. The Hypodermis	20
I.1.2. Epidermal Homeostasis and Differentiation	20
I.1.3. The Neuro – Endocrine – Cutaneous Interaction	
I.2. The Opioid Receptor System	31
I.2.1. The Opioid Ligands – Endogenous and Exogenous	31
I.2.2. General Introduction into the Family of Opioid Receptors	32
I.2.3. The Opioid Receptor Functions in Human	34
I.2.3.1. Ionic Homeostasis	34
I.2.3.2. Opioid mediated impact on cell proliferation and differentiation	35
I.2.3.3. Analgesia	36
I.2.3.4. Addiction	37
I.2.3.5. Immune function	38
I.2.3.6. Additional opioid receptor functions	39
I.2.4. The Delta Opioid Receptor	41
I.2.5. The Delta Opioid Receptor Mediated Signalling	43
I.2.6 The Receptor Oligomerisation	46
I.3. The ERK MAP Kinase Signalling Pathway	48
I.4. The Transcription Factor POU2F3	54
CHAPTER II – Aim of the Project	59

СНАРТЕ	CR III – Results	. 63
III.1. The	Cell Membrane Localisation of the DOR in Cultured Keratinocytes	
is C	Calcium Dependent	. 64
III.2. Inte	rnalised DOR-GFP Protein is Localised in	
Dif	ferent Subcellular Compartments	66
III.3. Imn	nediate Morphological Changes in Response to DOR Activation	
Mea	asured by Impedance Recording	69
III.4. DO	R Activation Triggers MAPK Pathway Signalling in Keratinocytes	72
III.5. DO	R Signalling in Keratinocytes Inhibits Proliferation in vitro	. 77
III.6. DO	R Delays in vitro Keratinocyte Differentiation	. 79
III.7. DO	R Signalling Changes the Gene Expression Profile in Keratinocytes	. 83
III.8. The	Transcription Factor POU2F3 is Involved in DOR-Mediated Regulation of	
Ker	atinocyte Differentiation	. 87
III.9. DO	R Signalling Impairs Stratification and Homeostasis in a	
Rec	constructed-Epidermis Model	90
СНАРТЕ	<b>CR IV – Discussion and Perspectives</b>	93
СНАРТЕ	CR V – Material and Methods	109
V.1. Rea	gents	110
V.1.1.	Chemicals	110
V.1.2.	Reaction Kits	110
V.1.3.	Plasmids and Constructs	110
V.1.4.	Antibodies	111
V.2. Met	thods	112
V.2.1.	Cultivation of Primary Fibroblasts	112
V.2.2.	Cultivation of Keratinocytes	112
V.2.3.	Plasmid Purification, Cultivation of HEK 293 cells, Lentiviral production, and	d
	Viral Transduction	114

	V.2.4.	Treatment of Cells	115
	V.2.5.	xCELLigence Impedance Measurements	116
	V.2.6.	Gene Expression Analysis	116
	V.2.7.	Extraction of Total RNA	118
	V.2.8.	Reverse Transcriptase PCR (RT-PCR)	118
	V.2.9.	Quantitative Real-Time PCR	119
	V.2.10.	Extraction of Proteins for Western Blot Analysis	119
	V.2.11.	SDS-Polyacrylamide Gel Electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)	120
	V.2.12.	Immunoblot Analysis (Western Blot)	120
	V.2.13.	Immunocytochemistry and Fluorescence Microscopy	121
	V.2.14.	Immunohistochemistry and Confocal Microscopy of Organotypic Cultures	122
	V.2.15.	Incucyte Proliferation Assay	122
	V.2.16.	Organotypic Culture	123
	V.2.17.	Quantification of the Epidermal Area from Organotypic Cultures	123
CH	IAPTE	R VI – References	125

## Abbreviations

<b>2</b> D	Two dimensional	DOP	8 opioid receptor
2D 3D	Three dimensional	DOR NDNDF	[D Pan <sup>2,5</sup> ] ankanhalin
JD ACh	A cethycholine	DIDIE DTT	Dithio 1.4 threitol
АСП	A drenocorticotronic hormone	DTT DUSP6	Dual-specificity phosphatase
ACTN1	Actinin alpha 1	FCM	Extracellular matrix
	A denosine di-phosphate	FDTA	Ethylen_diamine_N N N' N'-
ADI	A dult hippocampal progenitors	EDIA	tetraacetate
	Acquired immune deficiency	FF A 1	Early endosome antigen 1
AIDS	syndrome	ELA I FCF	Endermal growth factor
	Analysis of variance	FGFR	Epidermal growth factor recentor
AP_1	Activator protein-1	FGTA	1 2-bis-(2-aminoethoxyethane)-
AP_2	Activator protein-7	LUIA	N N N' N'-tetraacetic acid
AI -2 ARNT	Aryl hydrocarbon recentor	FI	Extracellular loop
ANNI	nuclear translocator	FD	Endoplasmatic raticulum
АТР	A denosine tri-phosphate	ER ER	Endoplasmatic reticulum Extracellular-signal regulated
RDNF	Brain-derived neurotrophic factor	LINK	kinase
DDNF	Basal membrane	FTV/	Ets variant gene $\Lambda$
	Bovine nituitary extract	EIV4 FTV5	Ets variant gene 5
DIE	Bovine pitultary extract	EIVJ FPS	Ets variant gene 5 Fetal boying serum
DSA C/FPD	CCAAT/enhancer binding	FDS FRV032	F box only protein 32
C/EDF	protein	FDAU52 ECS	Fetal calf serum
$Ca^{2+}$	Calaium	FCS FLC	Filogarin
	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate	FLG FOVD1	Forkhead box D1
CCD5	CC chamolying recentor 5	FUADI FOYD2	Forkhead box D3
Cda 42	Cell division evels 42	FOADJ FOYN1	Forkhead box N1
	Cadharin 2 N Cadharin	FUANI Erol	For like antigen 1
	Complementary deoxyribonucleic		Clyceraldebyde 3 phosphate
CDNA	agid	GALDU	debudrogenese
CCDD	Calcitonin gana related partida	CDD1	Guanylate hinding protein 2
	Chinese hamster overv	GDF 2	interferon inducible
	Cell index	CDP	Guanosine di phosphat
CISH	Chromogenic in situ hybridisation	CED	Green fluorescent protein
	Carbon dioxide		G protein coupled recentor
Cot	Mitogen activated protein kinase		Glucocorticoid receptor
COL	kinase kinase 8	CDHI 3	Grainyhead like 3
CDFP	cAMP response element binding	CPKs	G protein coupled receptor
CTPS	Cytidine 5 prime triphosphate	GNNS	kinases
CIIS	synthetase	СТР	Guanosine tri-phosphate
CYCP2	Chemokine CXC motif recentor	HDAC	Histone deacetylase
CACK2	2	HIVED3	Human immunodeficiency virus
CXCR4	Chemokine CXC motif recentor		type 1 enhancer-binding protein 3
CACK		HMC-14	High mobility group nucleosomal
Cvs	T Cysteine	11010-14	hinding protein 1
	$[D_A]a^2$ NMe_Phe <sup>4</sup> Gly-ol <sup>5</sup> ]-	нррт 1	Hypoxanthine guanine
UTITIOU	enkenhalin	111 1\1-1	nhosnhoribosyltransferase 1
Dlv3	Distal-less homeobox 3	HPV	Human nanillomavirus
DMFM	Dulbecco's Modified Fagle's	HUAFC	Human umbilical arterial
	Medium	HUALU	endothelial cells
DMSO	Dimethylsulfoxide	Ы	Inhibitor of DNA hinding
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid	IF	Intermediate Filament
		**	

IKKa	Inhibitor of NF - κB kinase-alpha	mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
IL	Intracellular loop	MSH	Melanocyte-stimulating
IL-1	Interleukin 1		hormones
IL-8	Interleukin 8	MSKs	Mitogen- and stress-activated
IP <sub>3</sub>	Inositol tri-phosphate		kinases
IRF 6	Interferon regulatory fatcor 6	NA	Numerical aperture
IVL	Involucrin	Na	Sodium
JNK 1-3	c-Jun N-terminal kinase 1 to 3	NES	Nuclear export signal
K <sup>+</sup>	Potassium	NF-ĸB	Nuclear Factor - $\kappa B$
KCNJ13	Potassium channel, inwardly	NGF	Nerve growth factor
	rectifying, subfamily J, member	NHEK	Normal numan epidermal
	13 Vrum al like factor 4	NICS	Neuro immuno autonoous system
KLF 4	Kruppet-like factor 4	NICS	Nitric oxide
KOP	KHOCK-OUL	NOL C1	Nucleolar and coiled-body
KUK VDT 1	K - opioid receptor	NOLCI	phosphoprotein 1
KNI I VDT 10	Keratin 10	NPC	Nuclear pore complex
KRT 10 KRT 14	Keratin 1/	NPY	Neuropeptide Y
KRT 16	Keratin 16	Oct	Octamer binding transcription
KRT 5	Keratin 5	0	factor
KAN 5 K-SFM	Keratinocyte serum-free medium	OD	Optical density
LAMP 1	Lysosome-associated membrane	p.a.	pro analysis
	protein 1	p120ctn	p120-catenin
LB	Luria broth	PAGE	Polyacrylamide gel
Leu	Leucine		electrophoresis
LIPG	Lipase, endothelial	PARP	PolyADP-ribose polymerase
LOR	Loricrin	PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
LPS	Lipopolysaccaride	PCNA	Proliferating cell nuclear antigen
LRP8	Low density lipoprotein receptor-	PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
	related protein 8	PDYN	Pro-dynorphin
MAP3K	Mitogen-activated protein kinase	PENK	Pro-enkephalin
	kinase kinase	Phe	Phenylalanine
MAP4K	Mitogen-activated protein kinase	PI3K DVA	Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase
MADIZ	kinase kinase kinase	PKA DVC	Protein kinase A
MAPK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase		Phospholipase C
МАРКАРК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase-		Pointed like domain
MADER	Mitogen estivated protein kinase	PMSF	Phenylmethylsulfonylfuoride
	kinase	POMC	Pro-opiomelanocortin
MCM6	Minichromosome maintenance S	POU2F3	POU domain, class 3.
MCMO	nombe homolog of 6	100110	transcription factor 2
MEK	MAP/ERK kinase kinase	POU-HD	POU-homeodomain
MEKK1	MAP/ERK kinase kinase 1	POU-S	POU-specific domain
Met	Methionine	PPAR	Peroxisome proliferator-activated
miRNAs	Micro ribonucleic acid		receptor
MIZ 1	Myc-interacting zinc finger	Rac	Ras-related C3 botulinum toxin
	protein 1		substrate 1
MMP	Matrix metalloproteinase	Rb	Retinoblastoma
MNKs	MAP kinase-interacting kinases	RNA	Ribonucleic acid
MOR	$\mu$ - opioid receptor	RPL13a	60S ribosomal protein L13a
Mos	v-Mos moloney murine sarcoma	rpm	Revolutions per minute
	viral oncogene homolog	KSKS DTV	90 KDa ribosomal S6 kinases
mOvol1	Mouse Ovo, drosophila, homolog-like 1	KIN	Receptor tyrosine kinases

RT-PCR	Reverse transcriptase –	ТА	Transactivation domain
	polymerase chain reaction	TBS	Tris-buffered saline
RXRα	Retinoic X receptor alpha	TF	Transcription factor
SCIP	POU domain, class 3,	TG1	Transglutaminase 1
	transcription factor 1	TGFβ	Transforming growth factor $\beta$
SDS	Sodium dodecylsulfate	ТМ	Transmembrane domaine
SEM	Standard error of the mean	TNFα	Tumor necrosis factor $\alpha$
Skn-1	POU domain, class 3,	TRPV	Transient receptor potential
	transcription factor 2		cation channel subfamily V
SLC7A11	Solute carrier family 7 (cationic	USF 1	Upstream stimulatory factor 1
	amino acid transporter, y+	UTR	Untranslated region
	system), member 11	UV	Utraviolet
SP	Substance P	UVB	Ultraviolet B
SPR-1	Psoriasis susceptibility 1	VASP	Vasodilator-stimulated
	candidate gene 2		phosphoprotein
SPRR2A	Small prolin-rich proteins 2A	VIP	Vasoactive intestinal polypeptide
SPRs	Small prolin-rich proteins	WT	Wild type
STAT3	Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3	ZNF367	Zinc finger protein 367

#### **Summary**

In view of the constant environmental assaults that the skin must endure, the delicate balance of an eloquent sequence of epidermal gene expression and repression, that is required for appropriate differentiation and proliferation of keratinocytes, might easily become derailed in the absence of robust stabilizing mechanisms. The presence of a local neuroendocrine system is thereby important to coordinate a response towards irritations. In fact, the expression of several neurohormones, neurotransmitters, and neuropeptides, including pro-opiomelanocortin derivatives, such as  $\beta$ -endorphin and [Met<sup>5</sup>]-Enkephalin has been shown in skin, as well as expression of the  $\delta$ -opioid receptor (DOR). However, there is currently a lack of understanding of the molecular mechanisms by which their signalling modulates keratinocyte function.

The present work demonstrates that DOR signalling specifically activates the ERK 1/2 MAPK pathway in human keratinocyte cell lines. This activation inhibits cell proliferation, resulting in decreased epidermal thickness in an organotypic skin model. Furthermore, DOR expression markedly delays induction of keratin intermediate filament Keratin 10 (KRT 10) and KRT 1 during *in vitro* differentiation, and abolishes the induction of KRT 10 in the organotypic skin model. This is accompanied by deregulation of involucrin (IVL), loricrin (LOR), and filaggrin (FLG), illustrated by a markedly reduced induction of their expression upon initiation of differentiation *in vitro*.

Additionally, POU2F3 was identified as a transcription factor mediating the DOR induced regulation of keratinocyte differentiation related genes. It was revealed that DOR-mediated ERK-dependent downregulation of this factor affects key aspects of keratinocyte function.

However, it is evident that additional triggers influence the functionality of the DOR itself. Calcium at concentrations above 0.1 mM and cell-cell contact both enhance the presence of receptor molecules on the keratinocytes cell surface. Keratinocytes with internalized receptor do not respond to DOR ligands in the same way as keratinocytes with a functional membrane localized receptor.

This work suggests that upon specific extrinsic or intrinsic impulses, keratinocytes are able to respond via the neuro-epidermal opioidergic system. This response must be spatially and temporarily controlled in order to avoid an imbalance of epidermal homeostasis and delayed wound healing, as observed in the DOR knock-out mouse model of Bigliardi-Qi *et al.*, 2006. Understanding this highly complex process substantiates the development of better treatments for pathological skin conditions. Complementing previous studies in DOR-deficient mice, these data suggest that DOR activation in human keratinocytes significantly influences epidermal morphogenesis and homeostasis, and might have a major impact during the wound healing process.

#### Résumé

Au regard des agressions environnementales constantes que la peau doit endurer, l'équilibre fragile entre l'expression et la répression des gènes épidermiques, nécessaire à la différentiation et la prolifération des kératinocytes, pourrait facilement être perturbé en l'absence des mécanismes de stabilisation robustes. La présence d'un système neuroendocrinien local est donc importante afin de coordonner une réponse aux éventuelles irritations. En effet, l'expression de plusieurs neurohormones, des neurotransmetteurs et des neuropeptides, y compris des dérivés pro-opiomélanocortine comme la  $\beta$ -endorphine et [Met5]-enképhaline, ainsi que l'expression du récepteur  $\delta$ -opioïde (DOR) a été démontré dans la peau. Cependant, les mécanismes moléculaires par lesquels ils modulent la fonction des kératinocytes sont mal connus.

Le présent travail démontre que la voie de signalisation DOR active spécifiquement la voie ERK 1/2 MAPK dans les lignées cellulaires de kératinocytes humains, inhibant la prolifération des cellules et entraîne une diminution de l'épaisseur épidermique dans un modèle organotypique de peau. De plus, l'expression de DOR retarde nettement l'induction de la kératine 10 (KRT 10) et la kératine 1 (KRT 1) dans une modèle 2D de différentiation *in vitro*, et supprime l'induction de KRT 10 dans un modèle organotypique de peau. Ceci est accompagné de la dérégulation de l'involucrine (IVL), la loricrine (LOR) et la filaggrin (FLG), résultant en une induction nettement réduite de leur expression lors de l'initiation *in vitro*.

De plus, POU2F3 a été identifié comme un facteur de transcription régulant les gènes de différentiation des kératinocytes modulés par DOR. Il a été démontré que la régulation négative de POU2F3 via la voie DOR-ERK affecte les principaux aspects de la fonction des kératinocytes.

Toutefois, il est évident que des facteurs supplémentaires influencent la fonctionnalité de la voie DOR elle-même. Le calcium et le contact cellule-cellule augmentent la quantité des récepteurs à la surface cellulaire des kératinocytes. Les kératinocytes dont les récepteurs sont internalisés ne répondent pas de la même manière que ceux possédant des récepteurs fonctionnels localisée à la membrane.

Ce travail suggère que lors de signaux intrinsèques ou extrinsèques spécifiques, les kératinocytes sont capable de répondre via le système opioïdergique neuro-epidermique. Cette réponse doit être spatialement et temporairement contrôlée afin d'éviter un déséquilibre de l'homéostasie épidermique et un retard de cicatrisation. La compréhension de ce processus très complexe pourrait permettre à terme le développement de meilleurs traitements des affections cutanées pathologiques. En complément des études précédentes sur des souris DOR-déficientes, ces données suggèrent que l'activation de DOR dans les kératinocytes humains influence la morphogenèse et l'homéostasie de l'épiderme, et pourrait jouer un rôle lors du processus de cicatrisation.

# <u>CHAPTER I</u>

# GENERAL INTRODUCTION

#### I.1. THE HUMAN SKIN

#### I.1.1. The Structure and Function of the Human Skin

The skin is the largest and one of the most diverse organs of the human body. It helps us sensing external effects while at the same time protecting us from them. Pathogens, mechanical, chemical, osmotic, and thermal assaults as well as ultraviolet (UV) radiation need to be controlled. Serving as a protective barrier keeping stressors out and essential body fluids in, the skin has its major function in the interface between the organism and the environment (Baroni et al., 2012; Elias, 2005; Menon and Kligman, 2009; Tsuruta et al., 2002; Valacchi et al., 2012). Additionally, skin carries out many biological synthetic processes, including formation of vitamin D under the influence of UVB radiation and synthesis of cytokines and growth factors. But skin is equally the target of a variety of hormones. Its complex structure and biological functions are associated with various ailments, including developmental defects, autoimmune disorders, allergies, and cancer (Gray's Anatomy - 39th Edition 2005). The skin is organized in three layers, the uppermost epidermis, underneath the dermis, followed by the hypodermis. Several specialized structures such as nerve fibres, free nerve

endings, mechanoreceptors, hair follicles, sebaceous or sweat glands, blood and lymphatic vessels are embedded within, as illustrated in Figure 1.



Figure 1 - Structure of human skin

Adapted from Human Anatomy Models, IDS. Ltd

- 1) Epidermis
- 2) Dermis
- 3) Hypodermis
- 4) Hair follicle
- 5) Erector muscle of hair
- 6) Hair shaft
- 7) Dermal papilla
- 8) Sebaceous gland
- 9) Bloodvessels
- 10)Nerve fibers (yellow)
- 11)Pacinian corpuscle (mechanoreceptor: touch and vibration)
- 12)Meissner's corpuscles or tactile corpuscles (mechanoreceptor: touch)
- 13)Sweat gland

#### I.1.1.1. The Epidermis

The epidermis is a continuously self-renewing, stratified squamous epithelium and the main cell type present are keratinocytes. They are equipped with numerous receptors receiving signals from cytokines like tumour necrosis factor alpha (TNF $\alpha$ ) (Coffey, Jr. et al., 1987; Pillai et al., 1989; Staiano-Coico et al., 1990; Trefzer et al., 1991), transforming growth factor beta (TGF $\beta$ ) (Choi and Fuchs, 1990; Kane et al., 1991; Mansbridge and Hanawalt, 1988; Partridge et al., 1989; Pelton et al., 1989), interleukin 1 (IL-1) (Blanton et al., 1989; Hauser et al., 1986; Kupper et al., 1986), neuromediators like calcitonin-gene related peptide (CGRP) (Takahashi et al., 1993) or opioids (Bigliardi et al., 1998; Bigliardi-Qi et al., 1999; Cheng et al., 2008; Nissen and Kragballe, 1997; Schauer et al., 1994), and growth factors like epidermal growth factor (EGF) (Barrandon and Green, 1987; Green et al., 1987; Green and Couchman, 1985; Pittelkow et al., 1993; Rheinwald and Green, 1977). Keratinocytes undergo a highly reproducible terminal differentiation program resulting in the formation of four distinct layers, which provide the protective barrier, crucial for survival. The innermost layer is the basal layer, followed by the spinous, granular and the outermost cornified layer (McGrath et al., 2004).

The result of keratinocyte differentiation is the expression of a unique array of keratin intermediate filament (IF) differentiation markers in each compartment (Figure 2), which may reflect the different structure and metabolic requirements of cells in each layer. Keratins represent the largest group of intermediate filament proteins and are differentially expressed as pairs of type I and type II intermediate filaments. They mainly function to maintain cell and tissue integrity (Koster and Roop, 2004a).



Figure 2 - Structure of the epidermis

The epidermis is composed of several cell layers. Resting on the basement membrane is the stratum basale, consisting of proliferating, transient-amplifying cells. The basal layer stratifies to give rise to differentiated cell layers of the stratum spinosum, stratum granulosum and the stratum corneum. SPRs, small proline-rich proteins Adapted from (Fuchs and Raghavan, 2002).

Epidermal growth and proliferation need to be balanced carefully and are regulated in time and space by the process of homeostasis. This process assures that the number of epidermal cells remains constant. Therefore, new cells generated by each cell division has to exactly compensate the number of cells lost by differentiation and desquamation (Blanpain and Fuchs, 2009). Basal cells attach to an underlying basement membrane that is rich in extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins, including collagen type IV, nidogen, perlecan, and large laminins like laminin 5, the main ECM ligand of the epidermal basement membrane. The attachment depends on two types of cell-junction adhesion complexes, hemidesmosomes and focal adhesions (Watt, 2002). Hemidesmosomes contain a transmembrane core, including  $\alpha_6\beta_4$  integrins and type XVII collagen that connect intracellular to the keratin IF network, via the linker proteins plectin and dystonin (BP230). The integrins and collagen XVII connect to extracellular matrix proteins laminin-332 and laminin-331. Further, anchoring fibrils, mainly constituted of collagen VII, extend from the basal membrane. This structure provides the mechanical strength needed for the epidermal-dermal anchoring. On the other side, focal adhesions contain  $\alpha_3\beta_1$  integrins, which connect to the actin and microtubule networks of the keratinocytes. During wound healing theses proteins regulate migration and attachment of the keratinocytes to the underlying extracellular matrix to enable the re-epithelialisation. Genetic alterations of hemidesmosomal components result in several types of blistering disorders of the skin (Christiano and Uitto, 1996; Nagy and McGrath, 2010) and are likely to be involved in the development and progression of certain cancers (Hashmi and Marinkovich, 2011).

Basal cells as well as keratinocytes from the upper layers also have to adhere to one another. Intercellular adhesion is mediated by three types of intercellular junctions: the desmosome, adherens junctions, and tight junctions (Yuki et al., 2007). All types of intercellular junctions are essential for epithelial sheet formation and tissue integrity. During terminal differentiation, as the sheets migrate upwards towards the skin surface, epidermal cells must constantly change their intercellular interactions. On the other side, during wound healing, epidermal cells transiently downregulate intercellular adhesion, accompanied with an increase in cell proliferation to facilitate the re-epithelialisation process (Garrod et al., 2005; Thomason et al., 2012).

Adherens junctions are composed of a transmembrane core of E-cadherin, whose ectodomain binds Calcium (Ca<sup>2+</sup>) to mediate transcadherin interactions between neighbouring cells. Intracellular E-cadherin binds to  $\beta$ -catenin and p120-catenin (p120ctn). These molecules then associate with an array of actin regulatory proteins, including Rho-GTPase and  $\alpha$ -catenin that in turn interacts with vasodilator-stimulated phosphoprotein (VASP), formins, ajuba, and  $\alpha$ actinin. This cascade of interacting regulatory proteins influences the actin-myosin network to coordinate cell-cell adhesion and migration (Perez-Moreno et al., 2003) (Figure 3A).

Desmosome structures consist mainly of heterophilic interactions between transmembrane glycoproteins that belong to the desmocollin and desmoglein subfamily of cadherins. As illustrated in Figure 3B, the desmosomal cadherins desmocolin and desmoglein are connected

to intermediate filaments through a protein complex consisting of plakoglobin, desmoplakin and plakophilin (Schmidt and Koch, 2007). This connection provides a cohesive integrated mechanical framework across and within stacks of keratinocytes. Cell-cell junction-associated proteins connect structure and signalling molecules, so that intercellular junctions function to integrate a number of cellular processes, ranging from cytoskeletal dynamics to proliferation, transcription, and differentiation (Garrod, 1996; Muller et al., 2008). The cadherins may thereby act as a membrane trap for  $\beta$ -catenin, p120ctn or plakoglobin, increasing their degradation at the membrane and augmenting the turnover of cytosolic molecules. This process prevents their nuclear translocation, therefore regulating the transcriptional activities of  $\beta$ -catenin, p120ctn and plakoglobin (Daniel, 2007; Maher et al., 2009; McCrea et al., 2009; Zhurinsky et al., 2000).



Figure 3 - Adherens junctions and desmosomes in the epidermis

Simplified models of (A) an adherens junction and (B) a desmosome, which highlights some of the main protein - protein interactions found in these structures. Adherens junctions and desmosomes mediate cell - cell contact between all cells of the epidermis and are present in all metabolically active cell layers. The adherens junctions form a bridge between the actin cytoskeleton of neighbouring cells. By contrast, desmosomes associate with the keratin filament cytoskeleton of cells. p120ctn, adherens junction protein p120, p120-catenin; VASP, vasodilator-stimulated phosphoprotein. Adapted from (Fuchs and Raghavan, 2002).

In addition to keratinocytes, the epidermis contains melanocytes, Langerhans cells and Merkel cells. Melanocytes produce melanin, the main natural pigment of the skin that is then transferred to keratinocytes. Melanin not only influences the colour of skin, but also protects the deeper layers from UV radiation (Bessou-Touya et al., 1998) and acts as scavenger of free

radicals (Menter et al., 1998). Langerhans cells are mobile dendritic, antigen presenting cells, present in all stratified epithelia. They become mature after contact with antigens (Romani et al., 2012). Finally, Merkel cells are pressure-detecting mechanoreceptors (Boulais and Misery, 2008).

#### I.1.1.2. The Dermis

The dermis is a supportive and elastic connective tissue, principally constituted by fibroblasts and fibrous molecules that compose the ECM. Embedded into this matrix are blood vessels, nerves, lymphatics, and skin appendages. As the epidermis is non-vascularized, it receives its nutrients from the underlying dermis and this epithelial-mesenchymal interaction is essential for normal tissue maintenance and during wound healing.

The dermis undergoes continuous turnover involving ECM production and degradation, synthesized and organized by fibroblasts. Fibroblasts are mesenchymal cells of varied origins and comprise a heterogeneous population of cells defined according to their location within the dermis. Two subpopulations of fibroblasts reside in the two distinct dermal layers: the papillary and reticular dermis (Sorrell and Caplan, 2004). Different populations of fibroblasts are associated with hair follicles but additional subpopulations of dermal fibroblasts might exist as well (Gharzi et al., 2003; Jahoda et al., 1991; Millar, 2002; Nolte et al., 2008; Sorrell and Caplan, 2009).

An important characteristic of fibroblasts is that, through mechanical stress, inflammation or TGFβ1 stimulation, they acquire a new differentiation state and become myofibroblasts (Vaughan et al., 2000). Myofibroblasts, in response to monocyte/macrophage derived factors, produce a provisional wound matrix, that is enriched in foetal-like fibronectin and hyaluronan (Gailit and Clark, 1994; Juhlin, 1997; Singer and Clark, 1999). These cells also provide the motive force to contract the wound (Sappino et al., 1990). At present, it is well accepted that

the differentiation of fibroblasts into myofibroblasts represents a key event during skin wound repair (Li and Wang, 2011).

#### I.1.1.3. The Hypodermis

The hypodermis is a layer of loosely arranged connective tissue of variable thickness representing the deepest part of the skin. It is often composed of adipocytes, organised in lobules, separated by connective tissue. It plays an important role in thermoregulation, acts as shock absorber, and constitutes a store of metabolic energy (Hayward and Keatinge, 1981).

#### I.1.2. Epidermal Homeostasis and Differentiation

The physiological process that maintains a constant number of cells in self-renewing organs is called tissue homeostasis. Skin stem cells have an unlimited capacity to self-renew and are the main components of the epidermal homeostasis. They reside in different compartments, the bulge region of the hair follicle, sebaceous glands, and in the basal layer of interfollicular epidermis. One model for epidermal homeostasis suggests that stem cells from the basal layer divide asymmetrically with the mitotic spindle positioned parallel to the basement membrane, produce cells with either transient proliferative capacity and cells that remain stem cells (Figure 4) (Blanpain and Fuchs, 2009). Transient amplifying cells might then undergo a number of divisions residing in the basal layer, before they execute the program of terminal differentiation, migrate upwards, and slough from the surface, so that throughout life in humans the epidermis replenishes itself every four weeks (Fuchs, 2007; Potten, 1981). Another model proposed that stem cells in the basal layer give rise directly to differentiating cells without the step of a transient amplifying cell (Clayton et al., 2007). The cell division is hereby the crucial step. Oriented, asymmetric cell divisions control the polarity of the cells and the modification of cellular adhesion with its neighbouring cells, as well as attachment to



the underlying basement membrane (Lechler and Fuchs, 2005; Poulson and Lechler, 2010).

Figure 4 - Stem Cell division during adult homeostasis in mouse tail skin.

During epidermal homeostasis in the adult mouse tail skin, asymmetric cell divisions occur with the plane of division parallel to the basal membrane, such that only one daughter cell inherits a cell fate determinant, such as Numb, and remains a stem cell (step 1), whereas the other becomes transient amplifying, committed to terminal differentiation, and probably undergoes delamination to reach the spinous layers (step 2). Combined lineage tracing experiments and mathematical modelling suggest that epidermal tail homeostasis in mice does not require the existence of transient amplifying cells. Therefore, the second model proposes perpendicular cell division giving rise to a stem cell and a directly differentiating keratinocyte through lost of contact with the basement membrane (Blanpain and Fuchs, 2009; Clayton et al., 2007). Figure adapted from (Blanpain and Fuchs, 2009).

Any imbalance between proliferation and differentiation might result in a thinning of the skin and loss of protection, in case of too little proliferation, whereas too much proliferation is a characteristic of hyperproliferative disorders like psoriasis and cancer (Bernard et al., 1985; Cangkrama et al., 2013; Demehri et al., 2009; Descargues et al., 2008; Ferone et al., 2012; Guttman-Yassky et al., 2009; Li et al., 2012; Mansbridge et al., 1984; Marinari et al., 2009; Neumüller and Knoblich, 2009). Additionally, during a wounding situation the epidermis must sense when to activate keratinocytes for proliferation and migration and to stop, once the wound is healed (Arwert et al., 2012; Chong et al., 2009; Florin et al., 2006; Frank et al., 1996; Li et al., 2010; Natarajan et al., 2006; Thelu et al., 2002).

When keratinocytes withdraw from the cell cycle and start to differentiate they exit the basal layer and switch off the expression of genes encoding the IF keratin 5 (KRT 5) and KRT 14. Entering the spinous layer, cells switch on the expression of KRT 10 and KRT 1 to form a more robust IF network. This change in keratin expression was discovered more than 30 years

ago and is widely accepted as most reliable indication that a keratinocyte has undergone a commitment to terminal differentiation (Fuchs and Green, 1980).

As keratinocytes differentiate further, they start to express involucrin (IVL). This protein is one of the key players in early-cornified envelope assembly and its expression initiates in the upper spinous layer. Intrachain head-to-head and head-to-tail cross-linking of IVL and additional structure proteins is enabled by the activity of transglutaminase 1 (TG1). Active TG1 generates  $\gamma$ -glutamyl  $\epsilon$ -lysine crosslinks, to create an indestructible proteinaceous scaffold along the entire inner cell membrane, to hold keratin microfibriles. As spinous cells further progress towards the granular layer, they start producing keratohyalin granules, packed with the histidine-rich protein profilaggrin or cystine-rich loricrin (LOR), which are then further processed to bundle keratin IFs, in order to generate keratin macrofibrillar cables. The process is accompanied by the synthesis of keratinisation-specific lipids, which are synthesised and accumulated in the trans-Golgi apparatus and bud off as cytoplasmic lamellar bodies. Continuing the differentiation processes, keratinocytes start to express proteins such as small proline-rich proteins (SPRs), late cornified envelope proteins, hornerin, repetin, and cornulin, resulting in a reinforcement of the cornified envelope structure. During the late steps of differentiation, ceramides from the lamellar bodies are attached to the cross-linked protein scaffold by ester-bond formation, and cellular organelles, including the nucleus, are destroyed. Once terminal differentiation is completed, keratinocytes exist as dead corneocytes that are sandwiched by lipid lamellae on the outside and filled with an indestructible fibrous mass of keratins that is encased by the cornified envelope (Kalinin et al., 2002).

The morphological changes associated with differentiation and stratification have been studied extensively, but the molecular mechanisms that regulate these processes are only partially understood. Mouse genetic studies have identified multiple signalling pathways involved (Blanpain and Fuchs, 2009). These pathways include Notch, mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK), and nuclear factor- $\kappa$ B (NF- $\kappa$ B). Transcription factors such as p63, the AP-1 and AP-2 family of proteins, the CCAAT/enhancer-binding protein (C/EBP), interferon regulatory factor 6 (IRF6), grainyhead-like 3 (GRHL3), Kruppel-like factor 4 (KLF4), and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) proteins have been shown to be involved as well (Dai and Segre, 2004). The interplay between these pathways is complex and new members are constantly joining the network.

One of the key regulatory transcription factors in epidermis is p63, playing an important role during embryonic development, but is also, together with the Notch pathway, controlling the switch from the basal to the spinous cell type in adults. Gain- and loss-of-function studies have shown that p63 is required for initiation of the stratification process and to maintain the renewal potential of different epithelial stem cells (Candi et al., 2006; Koster et al., 2004; Koster and Roop, 2004b). The canonical Notch pathway is crucial during the early switch from basal to spinous cells (Rangarajan et al., 2001). The Notch signalling interferes with the expression of transcription factors like C/EBP, which in turn associate with the AP-2 family of transcription factors influencing the commitment to terminal differentiation (Wang et al., 2008). An additional important signalling mechanism involved in the commitment to terminal differentiation is Ca<sup>2+</sup> signalling. In the mature epidermis an increasing gradient of extracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> concentration is present from the basal to the cornified layer (Menon et al., 1985; Menon et al., 1992). Studies have demonstrated that the increase in  $Ca^{2+}$  is required for keratinocyte terminal differentiation and active barrier formation (Elias et al., 2002; Yuspa et al., 1989). When terminal differentiation of keratinocytes is induced in vitro, other than by increasing extracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> concentration, an increase of intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> is still observed. Signalling mechanisms activating the release of  $Ca^{2+}$  from intracellular stores are suggested to be involved in this process (Li et al., 1996; Sharpe et al., 1989; Sharpe et al., 1993) and one of the signalling pathways being induced by an increase of  $Ca^{2+}$  concentration in keratinocytes is

Notch (Okuyama et al., 2004).

Another influential factor on epidermal stratification and differentiation is inhibitor of NF- $\kappa$ B kinase-alpha (IKK $\alpha$ ). Acting independently of NF- $\kappa$ B, IKK $\alpha$  influences the commitment to terminal differentiation, as mice lacking this gene have a hyperplastic epidermis with proliferating cells not only in the basal but also in the spinous layer, while the granular and cornified layers are absent (Hu et al., 2001; Takeda et al., 1999).

Additionally, it has been shown that retinoblastoma protein (Rb) deficient keratinocytes reenter the cell cycle after commitment to differentiation *in vitro* and mice deficient of epidermal Rb expression show an aberrant co-expression of KRT 5 and KRT 10. This indicates the importance of Rb in epidermal proliferation and differentiation (Balsitis et al., 2003; Ruiz et al., 2004).

Yet another important transcription factor, c-Myc, has been shown to be expressed in basal proliferating keratinocytes, indicating a function in the regulation of proliferation of basal cells (Bull et al., 2001). But, an increased expression in cultured keratinocytes *in vitro* promotes terminal differentiation and causes a reduction in growth (Gandarillas and Watt, 1997). Myc induces differentiation and loss of cell polarization in a Miz1-dependent manner. Miz1 (Myc-interacting zinc finger protein 1; Zbtb17) is a zinc-finger transcription factor and has been shown to be bound and regulated by Myc (Peukert et al., 1997; Schneider et al., 1997). Miz1 is involved in the upregulation of cell cycle inhibitor p21cip1 in response to UV irradiation (Herold et al., 2002) and is critical for its repression during skin tumorgenesis (Honnemann et al., 2012). In addition, regulation of cell adhesion is a major function of the Myc-Miz1 complex in skin and suggests that this may contribute to Myc-induced exit from the epidermal stem cell compartment towards a transient-amplifying and afterwards differentiating keratinocyte stage (Gebhardt et al., 2006). Miz1 binds and stimulates the expression of genes in the absence of Myc, therefore activation of Myc and its interaction



with Miz1 indirectly leads to the repression of these genes.

Figure 5 – Transcription factors regulating keratinocyte differentiation

A range of transcription factors (TFs) regulating stem cell maintenance in basal layer keratinocytes and differentiation of interfollicular epidermis are represented in this figure. Basal keratinocytes need to maintain a stem cell pool as well as proliferate in order to give rise to transient amplifying cells and initiate progression towards terminal differentiation. The balance between the two splice variants of p63, TAp63 and  $\Delta$ Np63, determines the proliferative state of the keratinocyte. c-Myc drives stem cells towards transient amplifying cells and the Id family of proteins influences proliferation, by interfering with the DNA binding of transcription factors that lead cells towards differentiation. mOvol1 is required for the exit from proliferation and direct commitment to differentiation. POU domain TFs are involved in the repression of basal-specific keratins and activation of early and late stage differentiation genes. Klf4 has been shown to be involved in the expression of structural protein components of the cornified envelope, Dlx3 influences the transcription of terminal differentiation markers, and FOXN1 stimulates the expression of early differentiation markers but suppresses late stage markers. Adapted from (Dai and Segre, 2004).

Furthermore, POU2F1 (Oct-1), POU3F1 (Tst-1/Oct-6/SCIP), and POU2F3 (Oct-11/Skn-1/Epoc-1), members of the octamer-binding POU transcription factor family of proteins, have been shown to be involved in epidermal differentiation. Overexpression of POU2F3 in keratinocytes facilitates differentiation and ablation of both POU2F3 and POU3F1 in mice leads to ectopic expression of KRT 14 in spinous cells (Andersen et al., 1997b). Complexity is further added to the signalling network by the action of microRNAs (miRNAs) that fine-tune the signalling (Hildebrand et al., 2011; Yi et al., 2006) as well as by epigenetic

mechanisms (Mulder et al., 2012).

#### I.1.3. The Neuro – Endocrine – Cutaneous Interaction

Neurocutaneous interactions are capable of influencing a variety of physiological and pathophysiological functions including wound healing, cell growth, inflammation, immunity, and pruritus. All epidermal cells (keratinocytes, melanocytes, Langerhans cells, and Merkel cells) express sensor proteins and neuropeptides regulating the neuro-immuno-cutaneous system (Boulais and Misery, 2008). Skin cells secrete numerous neuropeptides such as opioids, substance P (SP), CGRP, vasoactive intestinal polypeptide (VIP), acetylcholine (ACh), catecholamines, endocannabinoids, endothelin (ET) or nerve growth factor (NGF) and are therefore capable of modulating, activating or inhibiting sensory neurons located within epidermal cells. Corresponding receptors can be found either directly on skin cells, on embedded immune cells or sensory and autonomic nerves, what makes it difficult to distinguish whether the receptors facilitate inter-keratinocyte signalling, immune cell-keratinocyte interaction or keratinocyte-neuron signalling or all at once (Lumpkin and Caterina, 2007).

Sensory nerves send many primary afferent fibres to all layers of the skin and build up a threedimensional network (Roosterman et al., 2006). They pass through the dermis and penetrate the basement membrane to innervate epidermal cells or remain as free endings. Unmyelinated C fibres, with free-branching endings in close contact to keratinocytes, can be found up to the granular layer. In µ-opioid receptor (MOR) knock-out (KO) mice and chronic pruritic skin, changes in the structure of these fibres could be observed (Bigliardi-Qi et al., 2005; Bigliardi-Qi et al., 2007). These nerve fibres are clearly involved in somatosensation however, the terminals are relatively sparse. The skin can detect patterns at a very fine and smaller scale, which suggests that nerve terminals receive help from epidermal sensors (Denda et al., 2007; Gopinath et al., 2005; Johansson et al., 1999; Krimm et al., 2006; Provitera et al., 2007). Therefore, the epidermis can be considered as a sensory organ. In addition, after different stimuli including heat, lipopolysaccharides (LPS), thermal mud baths, and UVB radiation (Slominski et al., 2000) human skin can produce proopiomelanocortin (POMC), the precursor of endorphins, which is able to modify the pain threshold and modulate different activities of the immune system (Brazzini et al., 2003). Conversely, the brain can affect cutaneous functions in an efferent manner to stimulate the target tissues; for example during neurogenic inflammation (Saraceno et al., 2006). Hence, the brain-epidermis connection is multi-directional and leads, according to Boulais and Misery, to the integrated neuro-immuno-cutaneous system (NICS), a common language shared by sensory neurones, keratinocytes, melanocytes, Langerhans cells, and Merkel cells, with the neuromediators as their words (Boulais and Misery, 2008).

It is currently understood that SP plays a key role in pain sensitisation (Misery et al., 1999) and leads to mast cell degranulation (Toyoda et al., 2002). POMC and derivatives are immunomodulators and neurotrophins like NGF are mitogenic proteins, which also stimulate nerve fibre sprouting, regulate neuropeptide synthesis, and probably contribute to psoriasis (Pincelli et al., 1994). The catecholamines act as inflammatory factors. ACh, CGRP, VIP, and neuropeptide Y (NPY) seem to have different functions, depending on the skin microenvironment. Therefore, the NICS acts locally, at the level of the neurogenic inflammation, but it is also considered to affect the whole organism via endocrine and neurocrine pathways.

Furthermore, the transient receptor potential cation channel subfamily V (TRPV) family and purinergic receptors are also thought to participate in many cutaneous phenomena. They have been shown to be involved in cell growth, differentiation, neuronal regeneration, wound healing, inflammation, and yet more (Boulais and Misery, 2008; Burnstock, 2006). Keratinocytes express receptors like TRPV1, TRPV3, and TRPV4 (Dhaka et al., 2006). TRPV channels enable them to sense thermal and noxious stimuli and perhaps osmotic

variation. The stimulation of these receptors is followed by the release of neuropeptides like SP, which then act as neurotransmitters on target cells or modulators of epidermal functions as mentioned before.

The ability of keratinocytes to interact with neurones has been demonstrated *in vitro*. In coculture models, keratinocytes exhibit a strong trophic effect towards sensory neurones and close contact could be detected between the two cell types (Chateau et al., 2007; Chateau and Misery, 2004; Ulmann et al., 2009). The mechanism involved in signal transduction from keratinocytes to sensory neurones remains unclear. One hypothesis is that the signal goes through a paracrine adenosine tri-phosphate (ATP) signal, activating the purinergic receptors P2X2, P2X3, and P2Y2. It has been shown that ATP-activated cells can increase their intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> concentration, producing a Ca<sup>2+</sup> wave that is able to propagate to neighbouring cells. The ATP-dependent Ca<sup>2+</sup> waves, so produced by keratinocytes, can induce an increase in intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> concentration, not only in adjacent keratinocytes but also in sensory neurones (Koizumi et al., 2004).



## Figure 6 - The skin neuro-endocrine system

The skin neuro-endocrine system follows the algorithms of classical neuro-endocrine or endocrine systems of the human body. It serves as a mediator for signal exchange between body internal processes and the environment. Skin cells are subjected to neurohormonal regulation and produce and secrete neuro-peptides, biogenic amines, melatonin, opioids, cannabinoids, acetylcholine, steroids, secosteroids as well as growth factors and cytokines themselve. Immune cells are as well part of the skin neuroendocrine system. Histological image from (Gray's Anatomy - 39th Edition 2005) and signalling scheme adapted from (Slominski et al., 2012).

Another putative pathway of communication from keratinocytes to neurones is implicated by the presence of substances like NGF or the inflammatory cytokine interleukins, IL-1 $\alpha$  and IL-

8, subsequent to receptor activation. These mediators are released upon activation of the keratinocytes by neuropeptides like SP, CGRP, VIP, galanin, and probably other proteins expressed by keratinocytes themselves (Dallos et al., 2006). Hence, the activation of one keratinocyte can lead to the activation of neighbouring cells in a paracrine manner, and finally to the depolarisation of nerve terminals.

Moreover the opioid system is present and functional in mouse and human skin. The expression of  $\delta$ -opioid (DOR),  $\mu$ -opioid (MOR), and  $\kappa$ -opioid receptors (KOR) on mRNA level has been shown in human epidermal keratinocytes, fibroblasts and melanocytes (Bigliardi et al., 1998; Bigliardi et al., 2009; Bigliardi-Qi et al., 2006; Kauser et al., 2003; Kauser et al., 2004; Tominaga et al., 2007; Wintzen et al., 2001). Compared to human brain tissue the amount of both MOR and DOR is low in skin cells. Keratinocytes express 1000 times less MOR and 2000 times less DOR, fibroblasts approximately 20 000 times less MOR and 1500 times less DOR mRNA than brain (Bigliardi et al., 2009).





qRT-PCR of mRNA isolated from fibroblasts, melanocytes and keratinocytes, compared to human brain mRNA extracts. Value of brain DOR is normalized to 100 000. Adapted from (Bigliardi et al., 2009)

Nevertheless, the functional activity of the  $\beta$ -endorphin/MOR system in skin melanocytes was demonstrated by Kauser *et al.*(*Kauser et al.*, 2003; *Kauser et al.*, 2004; *Kauser et al.*, 2005; *Tobin and Kauser*, 2005) and alterations of  $\beta$ -endorphin expression were observed in pathological human skin by Slominski *et al.* (Slominski et al., 1993; Slominski et al., 2004). The treatment of epidermal melanocytes with  $\beta$ -endorphin results in increased melanogenesis and proliferation. Yet, skin organ culture experiments showed functional activity of the
endogenous  $\beta$ -endorphin/MOR system in epidermal keratinocytes as well through downregulation of MOR protein expression, upregulation of TGF-B receptor type II and KRT16 expression upon prolonged incubation with  $\beta$ -endorphin (Bigliardi-Qi et al., 2000). KRT16 is not expressed in normal human skin but appears in regenerating epithelial cells of the epidermis during wound healing, which led to first hypothesis of opioid receptor involvement in wound healing. In vitro a stimulatory effect on migration of keratinocytes by addition of morphine could be demonstrated (Bigliardi et al., 2002), indicating as well the functionality of the opioid receptor system in skin cells. Possibly activated by opioids to regulate migration could be the mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPKs) extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1 and 2 (ERK 1/2) pathway, the protein kinase C (PKC) or the phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K) pathway (Chernyavsky et al., 2005; Eisinger and Ammer, 2008a; Fitsialos et al., 2007; Heiss et al., 2009; Matsubayashi et al., 2004; Ranzato et al., 2009; Sharma et al., 2003a). These pathways were shown to be involved in either primary keratinocyte migration in vitro or migration and proliferation during wound healing (Sharma et al., 2003b; Watson et al., 2009). Any alteration in the rate of migration of these cells would change the time available for cell maturation and might be regulated by both synthesis and processing of the keratin filaments, which in turn influence the re-epithelialisation and remodelling process in wound healing.

One phenotype of DOR and MOR KO mice is a significant atrophy of the epidermis (Bigliardi-Qi et al., 2007). Additionally, DOR KO mice show a higher expression of KRT 10 than wild type mice and a significant wound healing delay of about two days as well. The wound margin of these mice exhibits epidermal hypertrophy at day three (Bigliardi-Qi et al., 2006). These observed phenotypes in DOR KO mice indicate a role for DOR in keratinocyte migration and differentiation and therefore an involvement in skin homeostasis and wound healing.

# **I.2. THE OPIOID RECEPTOR SYSTEM**

# I.2.1. The Opioid Ligands – Endogenous and Exogenous

The term "opioid" describes all compounds with morphine-like action. It does not distinguish between different chemical structures, that include alkaloids as well as peptides, nor if the molecule originates from endogenous or exogenous sources. Morphine itself has a long history of application for therapeutic purposes and the pleasurable subjective effects. Researchers were always eager to understand its mechanisms of action in human.

In the 1960s and '70s the brain was recognized as the main target for morphine induced analgesia (Mayer and Liebeskind, 1974; Pert and Yaksh, 1974; Pert and Yaksh, 1975; Tsou and Jang, 1964) and further analysis lead then to the identification of several endogenously produced opioid compounds. Until now, ten endogenous opioids have been identified, which can be grouped into six different families of compounds, the endorphins (Doneen et al., 1977; Li et al., 1976), enkephalins (Hughes et al., 1975), dynorphins (Goldstein et al., 1979). nociceptin (Meunier et al., 1995; Mollereau et al., 1994; Reinscheid et al., 1995), endomorphins (Hackler et al., 1997; Zadina et al., 1997), and morphiceptin (Chang et al., 1981), according to their receptor selectivity and structure. They are transcribed from only three different genes and generated by subsequent processing of the common precursor proteins pro-opiomelanocortin (POMC), pro-enkephalin (PENK), and pro-dynorphin (PDYN) (Feng et al., 2012). Cloning of these genes revealed that PENK contains both [Met<sup>5</sup>]enkephalin and [Leu<sup>5</sup>]-enkephalin transcripts (Comb et al., 1982; Gubler et al., 1982; Noda et al., 1982), the second precursor PDYN the dynorphin peptides (Goldstein et al., 1979; Kakidani et al., 1982), and POMC contains β-endorphin as well as adrenocorticotropin (ACTH) and melanocyte-stimulating hormones (MSH) (Chretien et al., 1979; Nakanishi et al., 1979). The sequence of [Met<sup>5</sup>]-enkephalin is also embedded in POMC but the protein is not transcribed from this gene (Feng et al., 2012; Li and Chung, 1976). For endomorphin a

precursor has not yet been identified (Terskiy et al., 2007). Other peptides with morphine-like activity have been generated by proteolytic fragmentation of the milk protein casein and were termed  $\beta$ -casomorphins (Brantl et al., 1979; Chang et al., 1981) or from the blood protein haemoglobin, called hemorphins (Brantl et al., 1986; Nyberg et al., 1997). Additionally, MOR (dermorphin) and DOR (deltorphin) selective peptides have been isolated from frog skin (Broccardo et al., 1981; Erspamer et al., 1989).

The knowledge of the structure and the unique properties of each endogenous opioid gave rise to the development of numerous exogenous opioids, in order to enhance the analgesic potencies and to reduce the side effects in clinical applications (Ballet et al., 2008). One of the most potent DOR agonists developed is SNC80, a highly selective non-peptide  $\delta$ -opioid agonist, 2000 fold more selective over  $\mu$ -opioid receptors than  $\delta$ -opioid receptors. Because SNC80 is producing convulsions at high doses, it is not used medically but it is a useful drug in scientific research. Furthermore naltrindole, a highly selective non-peptide  $\delta$ -opioid antagonist, has been developed. Naltrindole has a 223 and 346 fold greater activity at DOR than at MOR and KOR. With the discovery of additional functions of the opioid receptors, other clinical applications than analgesia came into focus, so that now the development of highly receptor specific agonists is more important, in order to tap the full potential of opioids in clinic.

## **I.2.2.** General Introduction into the Family of Opioid Receptors

In 1973, the laboratories of Simon, Snyder, and Terenius independently reported the biochemical discovery of opioid receptors, by utilizing radioligand binding assays. They were found to be integral membrane proteins primarily located in neurons (Pert and Snyder, 1973; Simon et al., 1973; Terenius, 1973). A few years later, due to their heterogeneous properties, the three "classical" types of opioid receptors were named  $\mu$  (MOR),  $\kappa$  (KOR) and  $\delta$  (DOR)

(Martin et al., 1976). Molecular cloning confirmed the three receptors in 1992 and 1993 (Chen et al., 1993; Evans et al., 1992; Kieffer et al., 1992; Yasuda et al., 1993). The forth receptor, the nociceptin receptors, was discovered in 1994 using a degenerate PCR based on sequences of the known opioid receptors, to clone a novel receptor from a human brainstem cDNA library (Mollereau et al., 1994). All four opioid receptors differ in their affinity for various endogenous opioid ligands and in their cellular distribution. Their signalling regulates a variety of physiological functions, including pain control, locomotion, emotional tone, diuresis, thermoregulation, and reward (Kieffer and Gavériaux-Ruff, 2002). MOR also mediates the pain-relieving effects of some of the clinically most effective drugs. However, drugs acting on DOR also exhibit strong analgesic activity without abuse liability (Rapaka and Porreca, 1991), a property considered as a hallmark of MOR agonists (Contet et al., 2004).

Opioid receptors are mainly found in the central and peripheral nervous systems and the functional and biochemical characterization focused extensively on the neuronal system in the last three decades. However, in peripheral tissue, such as skin (Salemi et al., 2005), cornea, and the cochlea (Wenk and Honda, 1999), the presence of opioid receptors was identified and additionally in T, B, and monocyte cell lines (Gavériaux et al., 1995). Functional activity of DOR could be demonstrated in peripheral tissue such as heart, gastrointestinal tract, and the immune system. Involvement of opioids in cell differentiation and proliferation (Caballero-Hernandez et al., 2005; Hahn et al., 2010) as well as cytokine production (Bessler et al., 1990) makes them an interesting target in skin research and a good study model for the neuro-cutaneous system.

As the field of opioid receptor research develops and the functional network of opioid mediated signalling is deciphered, a major goal of the opioid research remains the rational design of more efficient therapeutic drugs targeting specific functions with minimal

deleterious side-effects.

# I.2.3. The Opioid Receptor Functions in Human

#### I.2.3.1. Ionic Homeostasis

Opioids were shown to be involved in the regulation of ionic homeostasis under normoxic and hypoxic/ischemic conditions. The maintenance of ionic gradients is essential to the function of neurons and other cell types, such as keratinocytes. Opioids can for example interfere with ionic homeostasis, by influencing the Ca<sup>2+</sup> ion flux in cells in two different ways. They can either induce an elevation of intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  (Spencer et al., 1997; Thorlin et al., 1998; Wang et al., 1993) or lead to an inhibition of  $Ca^{2+}$  entry (Chao et al., 2007a; Komai and McDowell, 2007; Piros et al., 1996; Rola et al., 2008). The classical coupling of the receptors to  $G_{i/o}$  subtype of G proteins leads to an inhibition of voltage-operated Ca<sup>2+</sup> channels in the plasma membrane and adenylyl cyclase activity, and therefore prevents an elevation of Ca<sup>2+</sup> in the cell. Nevertheless, elevation of intracellular  $Ca^{2+}$  due to mobilisation of  $Ca^{2+}$  from intracellular stores has been shown in different neuronal and other cell systems like SH-SY5Y human neuroblastoma (Connor and Henderson, 1996), NG108-15 mouse neuroglial (Jin et al., 1994; Okajima et al., 1993), neuro2a (Spencer et al., 1997), and CHO-DOR (Yeo et al., 2001) cells. This is often a result of the synergy of opioid receptor signalling with other Ca<sup>2+</sup> release signalling pathways, mainly the  $G_{a}$ -coupled receptor-activated inositol phosphate (IP<sub>3</sub>) pathway (Samways and Henderson, 2006). The direct cellular environment is therefore a deciding force for the opioid mediated effect on  $Ca^{2+}$  homeostasis.

Potassium ( $K^+$ ) and Sodium ( $Na^+$ ) ion homeostasis across the plasma membrane is also regulated by opioid signalling. The activation of inwardly rectifying  $K^+$  channels by the classical  $G_{i/o}$  signalling enhances the electrochemical gradient by increasing the intracellular concentration of  $K^+$ , inhibiting membrane depolarization and therefore neuronal excitation. Additionally, the work from D. Chao *et al.* demonstrated how important this mechanism could be under hypoxia/ischemia conditions for example during a stroke, cardiac ischemia or hypoxic encephalopathy. The activation of DOR greatly attenuates hypoxia/ischemia induced increase in extracellular  $K^+$  and the decrease in extracellular Na<sup>+</sup>. DOR maintains the ionic homeostasis by regulating Na<sup>+</sup> and K<sup>+</sup> ionic flux during such severe environmental stress and therefore protects the neuronal cells from its deleterious effect (Chao et al., 2007b; Chao et al., 2012; Kang et al., 2009).

# I.2.3.2. Opioid mediated impact on cell proliferation and differentiation

That opioids influence cell proliferation is accepted but depending on the cell system examined, the results can be different. For example, the activation of DOR but not MOR in CHO cells resulted in a potentiation of foetal calf serum- (FCS) or growth-factor-stimulated growth. Inability of MOR to potentiate CHO proliferation suggested a divergence in effector molecules regulated by MOR and DOR and a difference in their ability to activate the MAPK or similar protein kinase signalling pathways, which promote proliferation (Law et al., 1997). A.I. Persson *et al.* showed that  $\beta$ -endorphin and selective MOR and DOR agonists stimulate proliferation of isolated rat adult hippocampal progenitors (AHPs). Incubation with βendorphin for 48 hours increased the number of AHPs found in mitosis, the total DNA content, and the expression of proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA), and could be antagonized by naloxone. Proliferation was mediated through phosphorylation of ERK 1/2 and depended on phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase and both intra- and extracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> (Persson et al., 2003). A stimulation of proliferation by  $\beta$ -endorphin has as well been shown for human melanocytes (Kauser et al., 2003; Kauser et al., 2004). An inhibition of astrocyte proliferation by MOR signalling has been shown by M. Miyatake et al., who reported that morphine and [D-Ala<sup>2</sup>, NMe-Phe<sup>4</sup>, Gly-ol<sup>5</sup>]-enkephalin (DAMGO) inhibit EGF-stimulated ERK activation

and cell proliferation (Miyatake et al., 2009). In contrast, KOR activation resulted in activated ERK and proliferation via an EGF receptor transactivation-mediated mechanism (McLennan et al., 2008). At clinically relevant concentrations, morphine stimulated human umbilical arterial endothelial cells (HUAEC) proliferation in a MAPK dependent manner (Leo et al., 2009). Furthermore, it was shown that rat lymphocytes induce proliferation after exposure to non-peptidic synthetic opioids (Caballero-Hernandez et al., 2005). In contrast, multipotent neural stem cells from embryonic mouse brain were promoted to differentiate upon activation of DOR by the synthetic agonist SNC 80 (Narita et al., 2006).

The opioid mediated influence on cell proliferation and differentiation needs to be validated in additional cell systems and the molecular mechanisms need to be further analysed in order to understand the capability of opioids in these processes.

#### I.2.3.3. Analgesia

The reaction to acute traumas results in the release of endogenous opioids and an increase of opioid blood levels. This counteracts the deleterious stimulus and pain. In animal models it has been shown that muscle injury, fixed-pressure haemorrhagic shock, and LPS administration elevates the circulating levels of  $\beta$ -endorphin and that the MOR is the opioid receptor mediating this stress-induced analgesia (Molina, 2002). In human, clinical studies demonstrated an increase of  $\beta$ -endorphin levels after oral (Troullos et al., 1997), gynaecological, and abdominal surgeries (Kho et al., 1993; Ozarda et al., 2002). Opioids regulate the nociceptive information by blocking neurotransmitter release and signal transmission in nerve fibres and are therefore widely used in treatment of severe pain conditions. Using KO mouse models, the MOR was identified as central mediator of analgesia. In MOR KO mice morphine analgesia was abolished or strongly reduced in models for thermal (Kieffer and Gavériaux-Ruff, 2002; Sora et al., 1997), mechanical (Fuchs et al.,

1999), chemical (Sora et al., 1999), and inflammatory (Qiu et al., 2000) pain (Gavériaux-Ruff and Kieffer, 2002). Heat pain behaviour is produced by the activity of the TRPV1 positive nociceptors and can be blocked by MOR selective agonists. In contrast, mechanical pain is generated by the activity of different populations of neurons (myelinated and unmyelinated nonpeptidergic nociceptors) and can selectively be blocked by DOR agonists (Scherrer et al., 2009). In DOR KO mice, DOR agonist mediated analgesia was either abolished, reduced or unchanged, depending on the nociceptive assay and route of administration applied (Zhu et al., 1999). KOR receptors are involved in the regulation of chemical visceral pain (Simonin et al., 1998). The distinct opioid receptors are expressed in different subsets of peripheral nerves and facilitate the discriminative regulation of different pain stimuli. Additionally, it was reported that DOR agonists enhance the analgesic potency and efficacy of MOR agonists (Ananthan, 2006) and so the interaction of the receptors adds another facet of pain modulation by opioid receptors.

An important molecule to mediate the downstream effects of opioid induced analgesia is  $\beta$ -arrestin. Several studies using  $\beta$ -arrestin KO mice confirmed the involvement in opioid-receptor mediated analgesia and tolerance/dependence (Bohn et al., 1999; Bohn et al., 2000; Bohn et al., 2002; Bohn et al., 2003).

## I.2.3.4. Addiction

The improper use of opioids can lead to a drug addiction. The drugs directly or indirectly affect various transmitter systems, notably dopaminergic and glutamatergic neurons (Cunha-Oliveira et al., 2008; Lalumiere and Kalivas, 2008), which results in neuronal dysfunction and neurotoxicity. The behavioural pattern of addiction includes compulsive drug-seeking, persistent abuse of substances despite the often irreparable consequences for physical health and social exclusion, and the high probability of relapse even after a prolonged drug-free

period (Ivanov et al., 2006). The activation of endogenous opioid peptides, in particular the MOR and KOR agonists, has been attributed to be relevant in the neurochemical mechanisms of opioid reward, dependence, and vulnerability to addiction. Opioid abuse leads to opioid tolerance in the nervous system. Receptor tolerance and adaptation involve complex mechanisms of receptor regulation, including desensitisation and internalisation. The upregualtion of cAMP/protein kinase A (PKA) and cAMP response element-binding (CREB) as well as MAPK signalling in opioid-sensitive neurons are involved in the processes of tolerance and withdrawal. Further, these signalling processes modify the gene expression profile of the affected neurons, possibly changing the synaptical plasticity during the cycles of intoxication and withdrawal and might be responsible for long-lasting alterations (Christie, 2008; Przewlocki, 2004). Also, opioid addiction may negatively influence immune function, so that it predisposes an individual to opportunistic infections, such as hepatitis, bacterial pneumonia, tuberculosis, abscesses, central nervous system infections, endocarditis, and AIDS (Feng et al., 2012; Korolenko et al., 2007; Ordaz-Sanchez et al., 2003; Quaglio et al., 2003).

#### I.2.3.5. Immune function

Acute and chronic opioid administration is known to have inhibitory effects on the humoral and cellular immune response. Opioids act thereby like cytokines directly on the immune cells, but their actions are complicated and often indirect. The presence of DOR, MOR, KOR, and non-classical opioid-like receptors on cells of the immune system has been shown pharmacologically. *In vitro*, the phagocytic activity of non-elicited macrophages is inhibited by agonists of DOR, MOR, and KOR and this can be reversed with the appropriate selective antagonist (Szabo et al., 1993). Opioid signalling suppresses multiple components of the immune defence response, including the activity of natural killer cells (Carr et al., 1993),

neutrophil complement and immunoglobulin receptor expression (Menzebach et al., 2003; Welters et al., 2000), chemokine-induced chemotaxis (Grimm et al., 1998), and phagocytosis (Welters et al., 2000). Studies in mice models reported the decrease of natural killer cell cytotoxicity and interferon-gamma mRNA levels after acute morphine administration accompanied by an increase of the mortality rate of mice with herpes simplex virus infections (Jamali et al., 2007; Jamali et al., 2012). DOR agonist DPDPE triggers monocyte adhesion and the agonist SNC 80 stimulated rat thymic and human leucocyte chemotaxis. Furthermore, it was suggested that KOR activation induces an anti-inflammatory response through the downregulation of chemokine, cytokine and chemokine receptor expression, while MOR promotes a proinflammatory response (Finley et al., 2008). The overall response *in vivo* is likely to be result of the central nervous system and hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis, which illustrates the complexity of the opioid mediated modification of the immune function (McCarthy et al., 2001).

# I.2.3.6. Additional opioid receptor functions

In hibernating animals the circulating levels of opioids increase dramatically, which is considered as a "hibernation induction trigger" (Bruce et al., 1987; Bruce et al., 1996; Cui et al., 1996; Feng et al., 2012; Nurnberger et al., 1991; Ye and Cai, 1995). During hibernation the energy stores of the animals are depleted and intracellular acidosis and hypoxia can be observed similar to ischemic conditions. The activity of DOR could thereby have a protective role for the peripheral and central nervous system to prevent stress induced cell damage as well as to mediate analgesia and respiratory depression during the hibernation state (Borlongan et al., 2004; Borlongan et al., 2009).

Respiratory depression is one of the negative side effects of opioid receptor activation. MOR stimulation thereby strongly affects the rate and depth of breathing and the respiratory responsiveness towards  $CO_2$  and hypoxia. It increases the upper airway resistance, and reduces pulmonary compliance, which can result in a complete apnoea. DOR has less pronounced effects and KOR activation has no effect on respiration. The regulation of respiratory functions is mediated by direct action on respiratory control centres in the brain (Feng et al., 2012; Mutolo et al., 2007; Pattinson, 2008).

Opioid signalling is as well involved in emotional response. DOR receptors act as natural inhibitors of stress and anxiety. Rodent models showed that DOR can produce antidepressant and anxiolytic effects (Saitoh et al., 2005). An increased expression of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) mRNA was reported after DOR agonist administration. Also, central acting KOR was shown to upregulate BDNF mRNA, an effect seen with most clinically used anti-depressants. This indicates an antidepressant-like effect for both DOR and KOR signalling (Zhang et al., 2006a; Zhang et al., 2007).

In accord, opioid agonists showed stimulatory effects on feeding in rodents, while antagonists inhibit food intake and weight gain in ob/ob mice (Marczak et al., 2009). The stimulation of MOR preferentially increases the intake of high fat diet. KOR KO mice fed with high-energy diet gain less body weight and fat mass compared to the wild type mice and show an attenuation of triglyceride synthesis in the liver (Czyzyk et al., 2010).

The opioid receptor system is present in the heart and in sympathetic nerve fibres and ganglion cells (Steele et al., 1996; Weihe et al., 1983). Endogenous opioid ligands like  $\beta$ -endorphin (Forman et al., 1989), enkephalins (Barron et al., 1992; Lang et al., 1983; Weihe et

al., 1983; Weihe et al., 1985), and dynorphins (Spampinato and Goldstein, 1983; Weihe et al., 1985) are produced, stored, and released from myocardial cells. Upon stress, such as ischemia, the myocardial opioid levels are increased (Eliasson et al., 1998; Peart et al., 2005). Both DOR and KOR have been shown to mediate cardioprotection. KOR mediates the ameliorating effects of myocardial ischemia preconditioning on infarct and arrhythmia, whereas DOR mediates the effects only on infarct (Wang et al., 2001). Thereby, the opioid mediated regulation of PKC, NO synthesis, and ATP-sensitive K<sup>+</sup> channels participates in the cardioprotective mechanisms (Lishmanov et al., 2007; Maslov et al., 2009).

# I.2.4. The Delta Opioid Receptor

The existence of multiple DOR subtypes was proposed since the early 1970s. The molecular basis of its pharmacological diversity has therefore long remained a matter of debate (Zaki et al., 1996). In 1992, gene cloning led to the isolation of a single mouse *oprd1* gene, encoding for only one DOR protein (Evans et al., 1992; Kieffer et al., 1992). The human homolog was identified two years later (Knapp et al., 1994). The coding region of *oprd1* consists of three exons separated by two introns and generates only one mRNA variant (NM\_000911.3). Nevertheless, transcript variants have been described in conjunction with malignancy, where due to atypical mRNA processing in human melanoma and neuroblastoma cells, a receptor lacking the third cytoplasmic loop is generated. A possible consequence might be an effect on signal-response coupling and that could be involved in tumour genesis (Mayer et al., 2000).

The primary amino acid structure allocates the receptor into the family of rhodopsin-like G protein-coupled receptors (GPCR). The three-dimensional (3D) structure, as seen in Figure 8, is characterised by seven hydrophobic transmembrane domains (TM) connected by alternating intracellular (IL) and extracellular (EL) loops.



The amino (N) terminal part is located at the extracellular side, whereas the carboxyl (C) tail is located in the cytoplasm. Asparagine residues in the N-terminal part are glycosylated and mutations of these residues decrease the steady-state level of the receptor at the cell surface (Markkanen and Petäjä-Repo, 2008). The regions spanning TM domains 5-7 are responsible for DOR-selective binding of ligands (Chaturvedi et al., 2001). The first and the third IL and TM domain 5, together with the C-terminal end of the receptor, are responsible for the specific G protein-coupled intracellular signalling (Figure 8). In contrast to MOR, DOR can

efficiently stimulate phospholipase C (PLC) by interaction with G $\alpha$ 16 protein (Chan et al., 2003). DOR is a highly dynamic ligand recognition protein. It has multiple active conformations, reflecting different binding modes in the ligand binding pocket (Befort et al., 1996). The ligand-receptor-complex determines a multitude of physiological cellular responses. Receptor activation and subsequent regulations are strongly drug dependent and show that the receptor by itself does not determine the final response (Kieffer and Evans, 2009).

Previously, the expression of the DOR in skin has been demonstrated in cultured skin cells and animal models only on mRNA level by Bigliardi-Qi *et al.* and others (Salemi et al., 2005; Weihe et al., 1983; Zagon et al., 1996). Our laboratory now confirmed the presence of DOR mRNA in human skin by *in situ* hybridization using paraffin-embedded normal human corporal skin sections. The positive chromogenic *in situ* hybridization (CISH) signal was found in the epidermis and displays a gradually expression of DOR mRNA. Most prominently, the signal was detected in the upper part of stratum granulosum and to a lesser extends in stratum spinosum of human epidermis (Mei Bigliardi-Qi, unpublished data). However, it was evident that not all keratinocytes express the same amount of DOR, so that some areas in the granular layer showed a more intense staining pattern than other areas.

# I.2.5. The Delta Opioid Receptor Mediated Signalling

As mentioned previously, DOR-deficient mice show alterations in skin differentiation, a delay in wound healing (Bigliardi-Qi et al., 2006), and exhibit enhanced inflammatory pain (Gavériaux-Ruff et al., 2008). Studies suggested similar signalling pathways induced by opioids in neuronal cells and in non-neuronal systems (Lasukova et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2003). Therefore, second messengers like cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP), intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup>, and second messenger-induced kinases are likely to be involved in opioid mediated skin cell regulation.

Upon activation of DOR the physiological response is predominantly mediated through the  $G_{i/o}$  subtype of G proteins. Agonist binding modifies the helical packing of the receptor, and a rearrangement in the positioning of TM domains 3, 6, and 7 has been proposed to drive the transition between inactive and active conformations of the receptor (Decaillot et al., 2003). Modification of the intracellular structure leads to its interaction with the heterotrimeric G protein (composed of  $\alpha$ -,  $\beta$ - and  $\gamma$ -subunit). The GPCR acts as a guanine nucleotide exchange factor, catalysing the exchange of guanosine-diphosphate (GDP) for guanosinetriphosphate (GTP) on Ga and induces the dissociation of Ga and G $\beta/\gamma$  subunits from each other. Subsequently, intracellular effectors and pathways are modulated (Ritter and Hall, 2009), including inhibition of some types of adenvlvl cyclases and  $Ca^{2+}$  channels, and stimulation of PLC and K<sup>+</sup> channels (Law et al., 2000). In addition, activation of DOR has been linked to the regulation of MAPKs ERK 1/2 and p38, as well as to signalling cascades stimulated by Akt, Cdc 42, Rac, receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs), signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3), and Src (Archer-Lahlou et al., 2009; Eisinger and Ammer, 2008a; Eisinger and Ammer, 2008b; Kam et al., 2003; Lo and Wong, 2004; Shahabi et al., 2006). The inhibition of adenylyl cyclases directly downregulates the cAMP level and therefore influences PKA activity and downstream factors, like Rap1. This can result in an interaction of Rap1 and B-Raf, stimulating the activation of ERK (Dugan et al., 1999). At the same time, the coupling of the  $G\beta/\gamma$  subunit with PLC initiates phosphoinositide hydrolysis and IP<sub>3</sub> receptor activation, which in turn leads to a release of  $Ca^{2+}$  from intracellular stores and a subsequent stimulation of  $Ca^{2+}/calmodulin-dependent$  kinase. Following, Rap1 is activated and stimulates integrin function (Belcheva and Coscia, 2002; Kinashi, 2005; Sahyoun et al., 1991). This in turn transactivates, via a PKC dependent mechanism, RTKs like the EGFR, initiating the ERK signalling pathway (Belcheva et al., 2001; Eisinger and Ammer, 2008a; Eisinger and Ammer, 2008b; Wang et al., 2009). These mechanisms are simplified illustrated in Figure 9A.

The initial step terminating G protein-mediated signalling is phosphorylation of Serine 363, Threonine 361 and Threonine 358 through association of GPCR kinases (GRKs) with agonistbound receptor (Claing et al., 2002; Guo et al., 2000). The recruitment of  $\beta$ -arrestin 1 and 2 to the C-terminal tail and third intracellular loop of phosphorylated receptors is then facilitated (Cen et al., 2001), which results in uncoupling from the G protein and desensitization.  $\beta$ arrestins interact with clathrin and the clathrin adaptor complex AP2 to drive receptor internalization into endosomes. Once internalized, receptors are targeted to specialized intracellular compartments, where they are dephosphorylated and recycled back to the plasma membrane or processed towards the lysosomal degradation pathway (Claing et al., 2002)



Figure 9 - Crosstalk between opioid receptor and ERK cascade

Crosstalk between opioid receptor and ERK cascade through G protein and  $\beta$ -arrestin pathway. Irrespective of the specificity of different cell lines (for example, different cells may have different kinase isoforms), opioid receptor, can crosstalk with ERK 1/2 through two pathways, the (A) G protein dependent and the (B) receptor internalization induced by  $\beta$ -arrestin dependent. In the former pathway, ERK 1/2 activation may be variable because of the cell type specific different responses to PKA activation. Adapted from (Bian et al., 2012).

Additionally, recruitment of arrestins to activated receptors can also lead to the initiation of arrestin-mediated signalling pathways, for example the MAPK ERK 1/2 signalling cascade. β-arrestin 2 acts as a scaffold that binds all the component kinases of the module, which activates ERK 1 and ERK 2 (Raf, MEK, ERK) (Figure 9B) (Lefkowitz and Shenoy, 2005). Signalling studies showed that receptor activation and subsequent regulation like phosphorylation and internalisation are strongly agonist-dependent (Marie et al., 2008; Okura et al., 2003), leading to a high heterogeneity of the signalling as a consequence of the divers cellular environment of the receptor. Many G proteins exist and their expression differs between cell types. The variable combination of G protein subunits and the high number of possible G protein-associated signalling pathways has expanded dramatically (Marinissen and Gutkind, 2001). Each cell has highly interconnected cytoplasmatic signalling routes that might lead to temporally distinct patterns. Altogether, this shows that DOR mediated signalling is very complex and that the receptors are highly dynamic proteins. The final cellular response to DOR activation will most probably be a result after the integration of a complex network of biochemical responses.

# I.2.6. The Receptor Oligomerisation

DOR is able to form both homo- and heterodimers. Hetero-oligomers with MOR show altered pharmacological behaviour to highly selective agonists for each receptor as well as higher affinity and efficiency of interaction with  $G_z$  over  $G_i$  (Fan et al., 2005; George et al., 2000). Heterodimerisation of MOR and DOR only occurs at the cell surface and requires receptor-G protein interaction (Law et al., 2005). Furthermore, it leads to a constitutive recruitment of  $\beta$ -arrestin 2 to the receptor complex, influencing the dynamics of ERK 1/2 signalling (Rozenfeld and Devi, 2007).

In addition, DOR can also form heterodimers with other GPCRs. Coexpression with  $\alpha_{2A}$ -

adrenergic receptors promotes DOR-mediated neurite outgrowth, suggesting that the presence of inactive  $\alpha_{2A}$ -adrenergic receptors can enhance DOR-mediated signalling (Rios et al., 2004). On the other side, interaction with the sensory neuron-specific receptor-4 (SNSR-4) inhibits the signalling of DOR (Breit et al., 2006). Finally, oligomerisation with different chemokine receptors like CCR5 (Suzuki et al., 2002) could be demonstrated. The CXCR2 antagonist SB225002 enhances the function of DOR agonists only in the presence of CXCR2 (Parenty et al., 2008) and interaction of CXCR4 appears to lock both receptors in an inactive conformation (Pello et al., 2008).

Formation of homo- or heterodimers may result in a new receptor conformation especially in the intracellular domains of the receptor. The consequence is that regulatory patterns of DOR trafficking and signalling become more subtle, including receptor localization, internalization, ligand-binding properties, and downstream signalling (Bian et al., 2012). Oligomerisation adds a level of complexity to DOR function and is a mechanism by which the products of a limited number of receptor genes may give rise to a greater diversity of signalling units with unique properties. Numerous questions surrounding opioid receptor homo-oligomerisation and hetero-oligomerisation remain, and their answers hold the potential to diversify the understanding of opioid system biology.

# **I.3. THE ERK MAP KINASE SIGNALLING PATHWAY**

The family of mitogen-activated protein kinases (MAPK) signalling pathways consist of four distinct cascades named after their MAPK component: the extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1 and 2 (ERK 1/2); c-Jun N-terminal kinase 1 to 3 (JNK 1-3); p38 MAPK  $\alpha$ ,  $\beta$ ,  $\gamma$ , and  $\delta$  (p38  $\alpha$ - $\delta$ ); and ERK 5. The MAPK signalling cascades are evolutionary conserved, intracellular signal transduction pathways activated by various extracellular stimuli and intracellular processes regulating cellular functions such as growth, proliferation, differentiation, mobility, survival, and apoptosis. Each of the cascades is composed of three to five levels of MAP4K, MAP3K, MAPKK, MAPK, and MAPKAPK. The MAP3K, MAPKK, and MAPK constitute the core cascade.

The ERK signalling pathway was the first one of the MAPK cascades to be defined (Ray and Sturgill, 1988; Sturgill et al., 1988). This pathway is commonly initiated at membrane receptors (RTKs; GPCRs; ion channels, and others). Upon activation through recruitment of adaptor proteins and exchange factors the activation of a small GTP-binding protein (e.g. Ras, Rap) is induced. The signal is then transmitted to the MAP3K tier of the cascade (mainly Raf1 and B-Raf) and further to the MAPKKs MAPK/ERK kinase 1 (MEK 1) and MEK 2. These two kinases are composed of a large regulatory N-terminal domain containing a nuclear export signal (NES), followed by a catalytic kinase domain and a shorter C-terminal region. MEK 1/2 are activated through serine phosphorylation and then further phosphorylate and activate their only known substrate, native ERK 1 and 2 at Threonine 202 and Tyrosine 204. With that step the cascade has reached the MAPK level and will then spread to numerous target molecules including the MAPKAPK components (90 kDa ribosomal S6 kinases, RSKs; MAPK-interacting kinases, MNKs; mitogen- and stress-activated kinases, MSKs) and many more substrates. Most of these substrates are phosphorylated in the nucleus by ERK molecules that translocate upon stimulation. In addition, ERK interacts with substrates of

cytoskeletal elements (Klemke et al., 1997) and cellular organelles such as mitochondria (Alonso et al., 2004; Poderoso et al., 2008; Tamura et al., 2004), and the Golgi apparatus (Shaul and Seger, 2006) (Figure 10).



Figure 10 - ERK distribution within the various compartments of the cell

The activation of the ERK 1/2 cascade results in a significant translocation of ERK molecules into the nucleus, which is mediated by importin 7. In addition, due to interaction with specific scaffold proteins ERK is located to cellular organelles such as Golgi apparatus, endosomes, mitochondria, cell membrane, and cytoskeletal elements. In each of these organelles, ERK 1/2 can either regulate intrinsic activities or direct ERK signals to nearby cytoplasmic substrates. NPC, nuclear pore complex; RTK, receptor tyrosine kinase; Adapted from (Wortzel and Seger, 2011).

With over 200 possible targets the signal specificity has to be fine tuned in order to induce distinct physiological processes. The currently known mechanisms determining the signal specificity can be categorized into five types:

# 1) Duration and strength of the signal

This model is mainly based on the observed EGF and NGF mediated signalling in PC12 cells. Both factors induce strong ERK 1/2 activation but result in distinct cellular responses. EGF causes a transient activation peaking at 15 minutes and decreasing back to basal level after 40 min, which enhances proliferation of the cells. On the other side NGF induces a sustained activation resulting in neuronal differentiation of these cells. Dependent on the signal length the activity of regulatory proteins could be altered and different cellular processes might be induced by immediate early genes (Mansour et al., 1994; Nguyen et al., 1993; Traverse et al., 1994).

## 2) Interaction with scaffold proteins

Scaffolding proteins facilitate the interaction of components of different levels of the signalling cascade by forming a multi-protein complex and bringing them into close proximity. They can protect components from inactivating phosphatases (Perlson et al., 2005), recruit substrates or direct the signal to specific upstream or downstream targets. Like that, scaffolds influence the kinetics of induction of the signalling cascade, modify the strength and duration of the ERK activation, allow better interaction between signalling components, regulate the localization of the cascade, and modify crosstalk with other signalling pathways (Shaul and Seger, 2007; Wortzel and Seger, 2011). The most important scaffold protein during ERK signalling upon GPCR stimulation is  $\beta$ -arrestin. It interacts with ERK, as well as MEK 1 and Raf1 in the membrane by irreversible binding and prevents ERK from translocation to the nucleus, resulting in preferential phosphorylation of cytoplasmic substrates (Luttrell et al., 2001; Pierce et al., 2001; Tohgo et al., 2002). During GPCR mediated ERK activation most ERK molecules will still translocate to the nucleus, suggesting that  $\beta$ -arrestin interacts only with a small portion of ERK molecules and other cascades for ERK activation are acting in parallel (Chuderland and Seger, 2005).

# 3) Compartmentalization of the signalling components in cell organelles or cellular regions

The localization of components of the ERK signalling cascade depends largely on their interaction with regulatory proteins. In resting cells molecules are localized to the cytoplasm mainly because of interaction with anchor and the above mentioned scaffold proteins. Upon stimulation, Rafs interact with the activated Ras and are therefore recruited to the plasma

membrane, and to membranes of other compartments. Most of the proteins of the following MAPK signalling levels, MEK 1/2, ERK 1/2, and RSKs are released from their cytoplasmic anchor allowing translocation into the nucleus or other organelles. This translocation of activated ERK enables regulation of transcription in the nucleus or mitochondria as well as regulation of mitotic Golgi fragmentation (Shaul and Seger, 2006; Wortzel and Seger, 2011). Localization to the outer surface of organelles or cytoskeleton molecules directs the phosphorylation of specialized substrates without significant nuclear translocation of ERK resulting in distinct cellular responses under varying conditions. Therefore, the signalling in one cellular compartment may have a different outcome from a similar signalling event in another localisation.

# 4) Cross-talk and interplay with other signalling pathways

The ERK signalling cascade is a central signal transduction pathway but other signalling pathways active at the same time might modulate the outcome. Phosphorylation and dephosphorylation processes by enzymes that are not part of the ERK cascade can affect the kinetics, strength, and the localization of the signal. In addition many of the signals from other pathways are likely to converge at downstream targets of the ERK cascade, such as transcription factors and inhibitors (Raman and Cobb, 2003).

#### 5) Multiple components and isoforms in each level of the cascade

On the level of the MAP3Ks different proteins, including Rafs, MEKK1, Cot, and Mos, may be involved in the activation of the cascade under different conditions. The MAPKK level is less diverse but it has been demonstrated that MEK 1 and MEK 2 have distinct functions during cell cycle progression (Liu et al., 2004) and an alternative splice form MEK1b is specifically active during regulation of mitotic Golgi fragmentation (Shaul et al., 2009). Further downstream, the MAPKs ERK 1 and ERK 2 are expressed in essentially all cells and tissues, whereby ERK 2 is the predominant isoform. Knock-out mice models showed that ERK 2 can substitute most functions of ERK 1 but ERK 2 knock-out mice die early in development indicating that ERK 1 is not able to compensate ERK 2 (Shaul and Seger, 2007). Additionally, ERK 1 has an alternative splice form termed ERK 1c that possesses unique functions that are not observed with any other ERK (Aebersold et al., 2004; Yung et al., 2000).

About half of the identified ERK 1/2 substrates are nuclear proteins, of which the main group consisting of transcription factors, mostly regulating immediate early genes. For example, the nuclear ETS domain-containing Elk1 transcription factor induces the expression c-Fos, which is an important immediate early gene involved in proper progression of proliferation and differentiation (Eferl and Wagner, 2003; Treisman, 1996). Other immediate early genes such as c-Myc and Fra1 (Murphy et al., 2004) are activated as well. Further, immediate or late genes like members of the nuclear receptor family, including the oestrogen receptor (Kato et al., 1995), PPAR $\gamma$  (Hu et al., 1996), retinoic X receptor alpha (RXR $\alpha$ ) (Solomon et al., 2001), and the glucocorticoid receptor (GR) (Krstic et al., 1997) have to be mentioned as ERK signalling target genes as well, although mostly suppression of transcription has been reported for these genes. One of the main transcription repressors regulated by ERK 1/2 is Ets2 repressor factor (Erf1), which suppresses transcription in many resting cells and is exported from the nucleus after phosphorylation by ERK which thereby alleviates its suppression of transcription (Plotnikov et al., 2011). For keratinocytes Gazel et al. identified Elk1, Elk4, and forkhead box D3 (FOXD3) as the principle targets of the ERK pathway while sharing the signalling targets forkhead box D1 (FOXD1), aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator (ARNT), and upstream stimulatory factor 1 (USF1) with the p38 pathway (Gazel et al., 2008). Beside its well-known regulation of transcription factors, it was shown that ERK 2 can directly regulate gene expression by activity-independent binding to promoter regions of certain genes (Hu et al., 2009).

Another important effect, even if ERK has only an accessory role (Plotnikov et al., 2011), is the influence of the ERK cascade on chromatin remodelling by regulating for example histone deacetylase 4 (HDAC4) (Zhou et al., 2000), the chromatin-arranging proteins histone H3 and HMG-14 (Brami-Cherrier et al., 2009; Soloaga et al., 2003), or the PolyADP-ribose polymerase 1 (PARP1) (Cohen-Armon et al., 2007).

Despite many other signalling pathways the ERK 1/2 MAPK pathway has been demonstrated to be active in epidermis and cultured keratinocytes *in vitro*. It plays a key role in regulating keratinocyte proliferation, differentiation, and survival (Eckert et al., 2002; Johansen et al., 2003). ERKs are activated in Psoriasis and are involved in epidermal hyperproliferation and skin inflammation (Hobbs et al., 2004; Takahashi et al., 2002) and can regulate the migration of epithelial sheets during wound healing (Matsubayashi et al., 2004) as well as the response to mechanical stretching in the epidermis (Yano et al., 2004). The study by Gazel *et al.* identified the ERK pathway as positive regulator of the RNA splicing machinery and nuclear envelope components, while it suppresses the steroid synthesis and mitochondrial energy production in keratinocytes. Along with the p38 pathway it is involved in promotion of epidermal differentiation and the repression of genes that antagonize wound repair, inflammation, and immune response (Gazel et al., 2008).

General introduction

# I.4. THE TRANSCRIPTION FACTOR POU2F3

POU domain transcription factors belong to a family of transcription factors with a homeodomain. Most of the POU proteins bind to a specific octamer DNA motif, 5'-ATGCAAAT-3' regulating promoter-dependent and cell type-specific pathways during development and cellular differentiation (Ryan and Rosenfeld, 1997). POU domain proteins contain a bipartite DNA-binding domain consisting of a POU-specific segment, which is characterized by four  $\alpha$ -helices surrounding a hydrophobic core and a POU homeodomain consisting of a helix-turn-helix structure with three  $\alpha$ -helices. A flexible linker that enables the protein to adopt various monomer configurations on DNA divides the two domains. The regions outside the POU domain are divergent and contain the transactivation domains. A region with significant similarity to the canonical sterile  $\alpha$  motif/pointed domain was suggested to function essentially as a protein-protein interaction interface (Cabral et al., 2003) (Figure 11).

POU interacting proteins can be classified into four classes: DNA-binding transcriptional activators, coregulators, basal factors, and replication factors (Andersen and Rosenfeld, 2001; Herr and Cleary, 1995). Despite their DNA-binding ability POU domain proteins have also been shown to regulate transcription through protein-protein contacts, in a DNA binding-independent manner (Sugihara et al., 2001). POU factors can be modified by phosphorylation leading to modification of binding to the DNA (Segil et al., 1991). The expression of several POU domain genes has been described in epidermis, namely *oct-1*, *oct-6*, and *pou2f3*.

POU2F3, also known as Oct-11, Epoc-1 or Skn-1, is highly homologous to the POU domain of Oct-1 (POU2F1) and Oct-2 (POU2F2) and therefore belongs to the class-II POU domain proteins as classified by He *et al.* (He et al., 1989) and Spaniol *et al.* (Spaniol et al., 1996). It was first isolated in 1990 in a screen for novel POU domain genes expressed during spermatogenesis (Goldsborough et al., 1990) and three years later characterized in the mouse by Goldsborough et al. (Goldsborough et al., 1993). In the same year Andersen et al. (Andersen et al., 1993) and Yukawa et al. (Yukawa et al., 1993) independently cloned the cDNA of POU2F3 and characterized its expression pattern in rat and mouse. Analysis of the expression during mouse development by Andersen et al. revealed a biphasic pattern of expression with a signal at embryonic day 7.5 that disappeared between day 9.5 and 12.5 and reappeared on day 14.5. In situ hybridisation of rat embryos gave an intense signal only at embryonic day 17 in epidermal structures throughout the embryo, with no specific detection in any other region. In adult rat skin POU2F3 is expressed in suprabasal cells of the epidermis and in cortex cells of the hair follicle. In contrast to these results Yukawa et al. showed the expression in basal epidermal cells and in some cellular components of the hair follicle but not in suprabasal layers of the epidermis. Additionally, they found not only POU2F3 expression in mouse skin but also in thymus, stomach, and testis. Furthermore, Faus et al. (Faus et al., 1994) detected as well POU2F3 RNA hybridisation in the basal rather than suprabasal epidermal layer of human neonatal skin, while in 2003, a fourth group investigating human POU2F3 function, detected mRNA presence only in the suprabasal epidermal layers (Cabral et al., 2003). The expression pattern remained controversial although immunohistochemical analysis of mouse tissue showed the expression of the protein throughout all epidermal layers with the highest expression in the suprabasal layers (Andersen et al., 1997b) so that Andersen et al. suggested in their final conclusion, that the expression is not restricted to a specific epidermal layer but clearly overlaps with the expression of specific markers of differentiating keratinocytes.

Alternatively spliced transcript variants encoding multiple isoforms have been observed for the *pou2f3* gene. Variant 2, Skn-1i differs in the 5' UTR, lacking a portion of the 5' coding region, and uses an alternate start codon, compared to variant 1, Skn-1a. The encoded isoform 2 is longer and has a distinct N-terminus.



Figure 11 - Genomic organization of the human POU2F3 gene

Skn-1a is predicted to encode a 54 kD protein that binds the promoter region and regulates the expression of KRT 10 (Andersen et al., 1993), SPRR2A (Fischer et al., 1996), IVL (Welter et al., 1996), human papillomavirus (HPV) 1A (Andersen et al., 1997a), HPV 16, and HPV 18 (Yukawa et al., 1996). The divergent N-terminus of Skn-1i modifies the transactivation ability of POU2F3. Its N-terminus might alternate the conformation, possibly through the formation of intramolecular complexes and blockage of the function of the helices involved in protein-DNA interaction. Skn-1i transcript and protein are expressed at much lower level than Skn-1a (Andersen et al., 1997a). It has been speculated that the isoforms have different activating and inhibiting functions in keratinocyte differentiation and proliferation. Another splice variant induced specifically in normal human epidermal keratinocytes by high Ca<sup>2+</sup>, a trigger for keratinocyte differentiation, supports this hypothesis (Nakajima et al., 2008).

A correlation of POU2F3 activity, increased KRT 10 expression, and PKC activation was seen and a reporter gene assay indicated direct binding of POU2F3 on the KRT 10 promoter (Andersen et al., 1993; Andersen et al., 1997b). A second differentiation related gene, SPRR2A a member of the small proline-rich family of cornified envelope precursor proteins, was shown to be upregulated by direct binding of POU2F3 to the regulatory promoter sequence (Fischer et al., 1996). On the other side, the keratinocyte differentiation related

The transcription start site for POU2F3 isoform 1 is indicated by an arrow. Exons are represented as boxes, introns are numbered, and the stop codon is labelled as TGA. The POU-specific domain (POU-S), the POU-homeodomain (POU-HD), and the pointed-like domain (PLD) and the corresponding amino acid residues are represented.

genes encoding IVL and profilaggrin are downregulated by POU2F3. Competition experiments with  $\Delta Np63$ , an essential factor for epidermal morphogenesis, showed antagonizing effects of POU2F3 and ANp63 on KRT 14 and KRT 10 expression (Lena et al., 2010). The interaction with protein complexes like AP-1 (Jang et al., 2000; Welter et al., 1996), Ets (Kahle et al., 2005), Ese-1 (Cabral et al., 2003), and CBP/p300 (Sugihara et al., 2001) enables to target several epidermal genes at once and multiple mechanism of regulation. POU2F3 knock-out mice did not reveal a distinct phenotype. Mice did not exhibit any failure in epidermal terminal differentiation after analysing the morphology and the expression of KRT 14, KRT 1, KRT 10, and filaggrin (FLG). LOR expression was slightly changed with POU2F3 KO mice having more superficial expression of LOR and the layer of LOR positive cells appearing thinner, while the mRNA levels are unchanged. These results indicate that POU2F3 is not essential for terminal differentiation of epidermal keratinocytes and that there are compensatory mechanisms and molecules that orchestrate epidermal stratification (Andersen et al., 1997b). Another study by Hildesheim et al. (Hildesheim et al., 2001) concluded that POU2F3 primarily promotes keratinocyte proliferation and subsequently influences stratification by increasing the number of cells inducing differentiation genes and committing to terminal differentiation.

Nevertheless, the POU2F3 KO mouse model revealed faster wound closure of KO mice compared to wild type mice using meshed skin graft or simple incisional wounding techniques. POU2F3 is expressed at low level at the suprabasal cells of the migratory wound front. Therefore, Andersen *et al.* hypothesized that this downregulation facilitates the phenotype change of wound front keratinocytes to a KRT14 and SPR-1 positive post-mitotic activated cell phenotype (Andersen et al., 1997b). In POU2F3 KO mice this upregulation is enhanced and might explain the faster wound closure.

Additionally, POU2F3 is a candidate tumour suppressor protein. Aberrant promoter

57

methylation of this gene may play a role in cervical cancer (Abercrombie et al., 1960; Zhang et al., 2006b).

# CHAPTER II

# AIM OF THE THESIS

# Determining the molecular mechanism of $\delta$ -opioid receptor (DOR) mediated influence on skin homeostasis and wound healing

The skin is our largest body organ and must bear a burden of constant environmental assaults while maintaining epidermal integrity and homeostasis. Tissue injury is one of the most severe disruptive incidents skin encounters and requires an orchestrated interaction between immune cells, keratinocytes, fibroblasts, and endothelial cells in order to restore the homeostasis. The local neuroendocrine system will thereby act to activate cellular messengers, to coordinate responses to the changing environment. The opioidergic system is part of this cutaneous communication network and could thereby influence cellular functions. Currently, there is a lack of knowledge how the opioid receptor signalling accomplishes these tasks.

Furthermore, local applications of opioids are used for treatment of inflammatory pain conditions such as burns, skin grafts, and chronic wounds. In order to tap the full potential as well as for safe and effective clinical applications of such treatments, we need to understand the molecular mechanisms through which they alter keratinocyte functions.

The present work is based on previous *in vivo* observations in DOR-deficient mice (Bigliardi-Qi *et al.*, 2006). These mice exhibit markedly increased expression of KRT 10, alongside an atrophic epidermis, suggesting to a role of the DOR during stratification and skin homeostasis. Accompanying a delay in re-epithelisation during the wound healing process, the wound margins showed an epidermal hypertrophy of activated, KRT 6 positive keratinocytes.

The present work was aiming to investigate the underlying mechanisms that could explain the aberrant epidermal phenotypes and delayed wound healing in mice lacking the DOR. The study describes the molecular consequences of DOR activation in keratinocytes and uncovers downstream effectors influencing the expression of keratinocyte differentiation related genes. Using standard *in vitro* 

overexpression systems and keratinocyte differentiation models, as well as organotypic skin models,

we addressed the role of DOR in gene regulation and its influence on epidermal morphogenesis.

# CHAPTER III

RESULTS

# III.1. The cell membrane localisation of the DOR in cultured primary, HaCaT, and N/TERT-1 keratinocytes is Calcium dependent

Although functionality of opioid receptors under standard keratinocyte culture conditions has been shown before (Bigliardi et al., 2002; Nissen et al., 1997), the expression pattern *in vivo* suggests a refinement of these conditions in order to perform suitable *in vitro* studies.

Under standard keratinocyte culture conditions in keratinocyte growth medium (K-SFM), supplemented with bovine pituitary extract (BPE) and epidermal growth factor (EGF), at a basal Calcium (Ca<sup>2+</sup>) concentration of 0.09 mM, cells (primary keratinocytes, HaCaT, N/TERT-1) are round and more separated from each other than in medium with a higher  $Ca^{2+}$ concentration of 1.2 mM. Colonies spread out more and cells adhere less tight to each other in low Ca<sup>2+</sup>. The formation of Ca<sup>2+</sup> dependent desmosomal cell-cell junctions reduces dramatically, in order to achieve culture conditions for fast expansion of keratinocytes, without induction of differentiation due to contact inhibition in tightly adherent colonies. The overexpression of a green fluorescent protein (GFP) tagged DOR in HaCaT and primary keratinocytes revealed distinct localisation of the receptor under these two different culture conditions (Figure 12). In high  $Ca^{2+}$ , DOR favours membrane localisation, whereas under low  $Ca^{2+}$ , the receptor is internalised and often accumulates at the perinuclear region (Figure 12). This effect is solely due to the  $Ca^{2+}$  concentration and not differentiation dependent. Although primary keratinocytes start to induce differentiation markers like KRT 10 under 1.2 mM Ca<sup>2+</sup> culture conditions, however, HaCaT cells are not differentiating under these conditions, but show the same distribution pattern.



#### Figure 12 - DOR-GFP expression in primary keratinocytes and the HaCaT cell line

HaCaT cells and primary keratinocytes (NHEK) were grown for 5 days in 0.09 mM or in 1.2 mM  $Ca^{2+}$  medium (K-SFM, BPE, EGF) and then fixed in 4% formaldehyde. Cells were subjected to immunocytochemistry using anti-GFP in order to visualize Nuclei DOR. were counterstained with Hoechst dye. Fluorescence images were taken with a Zeiss AxioImager Z1 microscope equipped with a Plan-Neofluar 40x/1.30 NA oil-immersion lens.

The localisation changes are reversible in both directions. The keratinocyte cell line N/TERT-1 is routinely cultured under medium  $Ca^{2+}$  concentrations of 0.4 mM, which leads to a membrane localisation of DOR-GFP. If the cells are then shifted to 0.09 mM low Ca<sup>2+</sup> medium overnight a loss of  $Ca^{2+}$  dependent desmosomal structures and the internalisation of DOR-GFP can be observed (Column 1 of Figure 13). Re-addition of  $Ca^{2+}$  to a concentration of 1.2 mM, results in gradually re-establishment of desmosomal structures and prior to that, in DOR membrane re-localisation. Already after 15 min in high  $Ca^{2+}$ , the DOR distribution pattern indicates that DOR is undergoing intracellular redistribution. One hour after addition of Ca<sup>2+</sup> (Column 3 of Figure 13), DOR has mainly located back into the membrane, whereas desmoplakin, used as the marker for desmosomal structure formation, only partially relocalised. Only after eight hours of incubation, a re-formation of mature desmosomes can be observed (Column 4 of Figure 13). Cells constantly cultured in high  $Ca^{2+}$  without  $Ca^{2+}$  switch display fully mature desmosomes and stable DOR membrane expression (Column 5 of Figure 13) and might reflect more closely the situation in vivo. These findings suggest that Ca<sup>2+</sup> dependent cell-cell adhesion influences the DOR concentration in the membrane and through that, possibly the functionality of DOR in cultured keratinocytes.


Figure 13 - Calcium influences DOR subcellular localisation

N/TERT-1 cells overexpressing DOR-GFP were cultured until 90% confluence in 0.4 mM  $Ca^{2+}$  medium. Overnight they were incubated in 0.09 mM  $Ca^{2+}$  medium. Morphology change and nearly complete loss of desmosomal junctions can be observed while DOR is internalised. Medium was then changed to 1.2 mM  $Ca^{2+}$  medium and cells were fixed after indicated time points in 4% paraformaldehyde. In order to visualize cell-cell-junction assembly and DOR localisation immunocytochemistry was performed using anti-GFP and anti-desmoplakin antibodies. Nuclei were visualized using Hoechst dye. Fluorescence image stacks were obtained at 0.1  $\mu$ m intervals in Z-section with an Olympus FV1000 microscope and an UPLFLN 40x/1.3 NA oil-immersion lens (Olympus, Tokyo, Japan).

### **III.2.** Internalised DOR-GFP protein is localised in different subcellular compartments

Further, it was of interest in which subcellular compartment the receptor is localised upon low Ca<sup>2+</sup> mediated internalisation. Several studies from the group of Ulla E. Petäjä-Repo and M. Bouvier suggested, that the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) plays an important role in receptor maturation and cell-surface localisation (Markkanen et al., 2008; Petäjä-Repo et al., 2000b; Petäjä-Repo et al., 2001b; Tuusa et al., 2007; Tuusa et al., 2010b). Petäjä-Repo *et al.* estimated that only 40% of the DOR precursor proteins are converted to the mature form and eventually reach the cell surface. The other fraction is retained in the ER and subjected to proteasomal degradation (Petäjä-Repo et al., 2000a; Petäjä-Repo et al., 2001a). Therefore, immunocytochemical staining of DOR-GFP overexpressing keratinocytes with a calnexin

antibody was performed and the localisation of DOR-GFP and calnexin signals analysed using confocal microscopy. Calnexin together with calreticulin promotes the folding of glycosylated proteins in the ER and interacts with DOR as shown by Tuusa et al. (Tuusa et al., 2010a). Indeed, a partial co-localisation of DOR and calnexin can be observed, yet the majority of DOR is not localised in the ER under low  $Ca^{2+}$  culture conditions of keratinocytes. Under high  $Ca^{2+}$ , a similar amount of DOR co-localises with calnexin, indicating a similar maturation rate of DOR under both conditions (Figure 14). Therefore, the internalisation under low  $Ca^{2+}$  culture conditions might not reflect a lower maturation rate, accompanied with less cell surface exposure of DOR, so that other mechanisms might be involved.



Figure 14 - DOR co-localisation study with ER marker Calnexin

HaCaT cells overexpressing DOR-GFP were cultured for 5 days in either 0.09 mM or 1.2 mM  $Ca^{2+}$  medium (K-SFM, BPE, EGF) to 80% confluence. Cells were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde and subjected to immunocytochemistry for DOR and ER localisation, using anti-GFP and anti-calnexin antibodies. Nuclei were visualized using Hoechst dye. Fluorescence image stacks were obtained at 0.45  $\mu$ m intervals in Z-section with an Olympus FV1000 microscope and an UPLSAPO 100X/1.4 NA oil-immersion lens (Olympus, Tokyo, Japan).

It was further reported that the half-life of DOR in the membrane is about 20 h (Petäjä-Repo et al., 2000c). To exclude that inefficient membrane localisation, due to high membrane turnover with rapid receptor endocytosis, is the reason for internalized receptor in low  $Ca^{2+}$ , the co-localization of DOR with endosome marker early endosome antigen 1 (EEA1) was analysed (Figure 15). A partial co-localisation of DOR with the endosome marker was

detected in low Ca<sup>2+</sup> cultures. The amount of DOR-GFP positive particles exceeds that of the early endosomes strongly. Therefore, co-localisation might represent random events.



Figure 15 - DOR co-localisation study with early endosome marker EEA1

HaCaT cells overexpressing DOR-GFP were cultured for 5 days in 0.09 mM (K-SFM, BPE, EGF) to 80% confluence. Cells were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde and subjected to immunocytochemistry for DOR and early endosomes, using anti-GFP and anti-EEA1 antibodies. Nuclei were visualized using Hoechst dye. Fluorescence image stacks were obtained at 0.4  $\mu$ m intervals in Z-section with an Olympus FV1000 microscope and an UPLSAPO 100X/1.4 NA oil-immersion lens (Olympus, Tokyo, Japan).

To fully exclude the lysosomal degradation pathway as target of internalised receptor under low  $Ca^{2+}$  conditions, further analysis of the associated of DOR-GFP with the lysosomeassociated membrane protein 1 (LAMP1) were carried out. Immunocytochemical staining confirmed again only a partial co-localisation. Under both low and high  $Ca^{2+}$  culture conditions, similar amounts of DOR and LAMP1 (Figure 16) co-localise as seen before for the ER protein calnexin (Figure 14).

In conclusion, the staining for subcellular DOR distribution confirmed partial localisation of DOR with ER and lysosomes, as well as early endosomes. No significant difference of colocalisation signal could be observed between low and high Ca<sup>2+</sup> cultured cells after analysis with the Olympus FluoView software. Additional studies are necessary to explore the subcellular localisation of overexpressed DOR-GFP in keratinocytes under low Ca<sup>2+</sup> culture conditions, in order to understand the functionality of the DOR especially in primary keratinocytes in culture.



Figure 16 - DOR co-localisation study with lysosome marker LAMP1

HaCaT cells overexpressing DOR-GFP were cultured for 5 days in either 0.09 mM or 1.2 mM  $Ca^{2+}$  medium (K-SFM, BPE, EGF) to 80% confluence. Cells were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde and subjected to immunocytochemistry for DOR and lysosomes, using anti-GFP and anti-LAMP1 antibodies. Nuclei were visualized using Hoechst dye. Fluorescence image stacks were obtained at 0.45 µm intervals in Z-section with an Olympus FV1000 microscope and an UPLSAPO 100X/1.4 NA oil-immersion lens (Olympus, Tokyo, Japan).

### III.3. Immediate morphological changes in response to DOR activation measured by impedance recording

The classical G protein dependent signalling pathway, activated by DOR, can result in morphological changes following second messenger activation. These changes can be detected by cellular impedance recording using the xCELLigence System (Roche). HaCaT cells were cultured on the surface of integrated microelectrode sensors in the bottom of the wells in electronic plates (E-Plates). The presence or absence of cells sensitively and precisely affects the electronic and ionic exchange between cell culture media and the microelectrodes. Thus, the electrode impedance provides information about the biological status of the cells and can monitor morphological changes. On order to test the potential of several DOR ligands cells were treated with SNC80, a highly DOR specific agonists, [Met<sup>5</sup>]-enkephalin, the DOR specific endogenous peptide agonist, and naltrindole, the higly DOR selective antagonistThe assay system expresses impedance in arbitrary Cell Index (CI) units. The CI at each time point is defined as (R<sub>n</sub>-R<sub>b</sub>)/15; where R<sub>n</sub> is the cell-electrode impedance of the well when it contains

cells and R<sub>b</sub> is the background impedance of the well with the media alone (Abassi et al., 2004; Fitzsimons et al., 2004; Solly et al., 2004). After HaCaT cells did adhere to the plate and the recording stabilized, cells were treated at final concentrations of 100 nM SNC80, 100 nM [Met5]-enkephalin, 10 µM naltrindole or the equivalent concentration of the buffer vehicle DMSO. Cell responses were monitored in real-time at one-minute intervals. Initial cellular responses were detected within minutes of ligand addition. Maximal responses towards SNC80 (Figure 17A) and [Met<sup>5</sup>]-enkephalin (Figure 17B) were observed during the first 35-45 minutes after agonist addition. The addition of agonist resulted in a robust response in DOR-overexpressing cells and a slight increase of the CI in control cells in comparison to vehicle treated cells. The addition of medium itself and the manipulation of the plate outside the incubator affected the CI, but the ligand-mediated effect in DOR-overexpressing cells was still significantly above the control. In DOR-overexpressing cells the SNC80 induced increase of CI can be reduced by co-administration of naltrindole, but naltrindole itself results in a significant increase of the CI, which is most likely as well an effect on the morphology of the HaCaT cells. The peak for naltrindole appears after 27 minutes, clearly before the SNC80 caused maximal response at 40 minutes (Figure 17C). Naltrindole efficiently blocks the [Met<sup>5</sup>]-enkephalin mediated CI changes as well (Figure 17D). The shape of the curve for both the GFP control and DOR-overexpressing cells indicates that naltrindole alone influences two different signalling mechanisms. After the first peak, a second increase of the CI is observed, which starts around 30 minutes after ligand addition and reaches the maximum around 40-45 minutes. In control cells both the agonists and antagonist change the CI stronger than the vehicle control, while naltrindole results in a higher response than SNC80 and [Met<sup>5</sup>]enkephalin (Figure 17E and F). This indicates that both agonist and antagonist influence intracellular signalling with an effect on morphology in control cells, possibly through endogenously expressed receptors that are present at low levels.



Figure 17 - Impedance changes indicate morphological responses to DOR ligand administration

HaCaT cells overexpressing DOR or control cells were seeded at 4000 cells per well on E-Plates, and the cells were continuously monitored for two days to ensure a stable CI measurement. After two days a final concentration 100 nM of SNC80, 100 nM [Met<sup>5</sup>]-enkephalin, 10  $\mu$ M naltrindole or 0.04 % DMSO vehicle control were added to the cells without further medium change. Cell response was monitored every 1 min for 3 h. All curves are normalized to the time point after the two days of culture exactly before removing the plate for addition of ligands. (A) To control or DOR-overexpressing cells SNC80 or vehicle control medium were added. In (B) [Met<sup>5</sup>]-enkephalin was added to control cells or overexpressing cells. (C) The effect of DOR inhibition by naltrindole on the SNC80 mediated change of CI in DOR-overexpressing cells was measured and in (D) the same inhibitory effect by naltrindole on [Met<sup>5</sup>]-enkephalin was monitored in DOR-overexpressing cells only. (E) and (F) represent the control cells treated with both agonists and the antagonist naltrindole. The graphs represent the means of quadruplicates (n = 4) from one experiment (n = 1). Error bars indicate standard deviation.

### III.4. DOR activation triggers MAPK pathway signalling in keratinocytes

That extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1 and 2 (ERK 1/2) are downstream signalling targets of several GPCRs, including DOR, is widely accepted in this field of research. The majority of studies used CHO (Xu et al., 2010) or HEK293 (Eisinger and Ammer, 2008a; Eisinger and Ammer, 2009) cells overexpressing a tagged DOR or neuronal cell lines such as NG108-15 (Eisinger and Ammer, 2008b), endogenously expressing high levels of DOR, to investigate the intracellular signalling mechanisms. These models were applied to keratinocytes by overexpressing the GFP-tagged receptor in two different keratinocyte cell lines. HaCaT cells (Boukamp et al., 1988; Schoop et al., 1999) are spontaneously immortalised cells, whereas N/TERT-1 cells are immortalized by introducing the expression of telomerase reverse transcriptase (TERT) (Dickson et al., 2000b; Natarajan et al., 2006; Utikal et al., 2009). Both cell lines have the potential to induce keratinocyte differentiation, but N/TERT-1 cells resemble more closely the behaviour of primary keratinocytes in culture. Experiments, addressing the question whether the endogenous DOR agonist [Met<sup>5</sup>]enkephalin and the highly DOR specific synthetic alkaloid agonist SNC 80 were able to trigger ERK 1/2 signalling, were performed. HaCaT cells overexpressing DOR and controltransduced cells were treated at different concentrations from 100 nM to 10 µM of SNC 80 for 15 minutes, cells lysed, and subjected to Western blot analysis for phosphorylated ERK 1/2 as indicator for activation. A response towards the ligand can only be detected in DOR overexpressing cells. Figure 18A shows a solid response of the ERK signal 15 minutes after addition of SNC 80, regardless of the concentration applied. This indicates that a concentration of 100 nM is sufficient to induce a maximal response in these cells. No phosphorylation of ERK 2 can be detected in control cells as seen in Figure 18B. [Met<sup>5</sup>]enkephalin applied only at one concentration of 100 nM induces as well a strong



phosphorylation of ERK 2, specifically

in DOR overexpressing cells but not in

control cells (Figure 18A).

#### Figure 18 - Endogenous and synthetic DOR agonists mediate ERK signalling pathway activation in keratinocytes

HaCaT cells stably overexpressing DOR-GFP or control transduced cells were cultured until 80% confluence and then starved in serum free medium for 6 h. For (A) and (B) the diluted ligand was added at concentrations of 100 nM, 1 µM, and 10 µM for 15 min. Cells were lysed in modified RIPA buffer and lysates underwent protein quantification. 20 µg of protein lysate were subjected to Western blotting for detection of phospho ERK, total ERK and tubulin by fluorography using Odyssey the infrared imager. Panel (A) shows ERK 2 phosphorylation in DOR expressing cells after SNC 80 mediated activation of the receptor

whereas control cells in panel (B) display no ERK 2 activation. Samples in panel (C) were treated with 100 nM [Met<sup>5</sup>]-enkephalin for 10 min, then lysed, and subjected to Western blot analysis as for panel A) and B). Only DOR cells treated with agonist display specific ERK 2 phosphorylation.

Comparing the magnitude of ERK 2 activation, a difference between both ligands could be observed, while the duration was similar (Figure 20C). In HaCaT cells, [Met<sup>5</sup>]-enkephalin is more potent in inducing an ERK 2 phosphorylation than SNC 80. A time course study of ERK activation over two hours for SNC 80 and [Met<sup>5</sup>]-enkephalin shows the maximal response for [Met<sup>5</sup>]-enkephalin five minutes after addition of ligand and for SNC 80 ten minutes after addition (Figure 19). The semi-quantitative analysis of the Western blot signal from six samples per time point in each group, shows an increase of ERK 2 phosphorylation after [Met<sup>5</sup>]-enkephalin addition of about 16 fold, while SNC 80 leads to only six fold increase compared to vehicle controls at time zero. A two-way ANOVA analysis revealed a significant difference between the SNC 80 and [Met<sup>5</sup>]-enkephalin groups at five and ten minutes. In both groups, the phosphorylation of ERK 2 decreases fast within 30 minutes, but stays slightly above the basal level for at least 60 minutes (Figure 19C). The process of DOR mediated ERK activation can be described as transient in HaCaT keratinocyte cells.



Figure 19 - DOR activation mediates transient ERK 1/2 signalling in HaCaT keratinocytes with a different maximal response for [Met<sup>5</sup>]-enkephalin and SNC 80

HaCaT cells stably overexpressing DOR-GFP cells were cultured until 80% confluence and then starved in serum free medium for 6 h. Ligands were added at concentrations of 100 nM for indicated times, cells lysed in modified RIPA buffer, and lysates underwent protein quantification. 20  $\mu$ g of protein lysate were subjected to Western blotting for detection of phospho ERK, total ERK and tubulin by fluorography using the Odyssey infrared imager. Panel (A) shows ERK 2 phosphorylation in DOR expressing cells after [Met<sup>5</sup>]-enkephalin mediated activation of the receptor and panel (B) displays ERK 2 phosphorylation in DOR expressing cells after SNC 80 treatment. (C) shows the graph of the semi-quantification of ERK phosphorylation over time. Each value represents mean of six replicates from two independent experiments. Error bars indicate standard deviation. Two-way ANOVA: \*\*\* p < 0.001 for time point five and ten minutes.

The second keratinocyte cell line N/TERT-1 shows similar responsiveness towards DOR agonists [Met<sup>5</sup>]-enkephalin and SNC 80. The difference observed, is the magnitude of the response, which is lower in N/TERT-1 than in HaCaT cells. A three to four fold increase in ERK phosphorylation five minutes after addition of ligand, compared to the six to 15 fold increase in HaCaT cells, was observed. In addition, [Met<sup>5</sup>]-enkephalin has the same potency as SNC 80 and the phosphorylation level of ERK decreases fast, within 15 minutes to a basal level. Therefore, DOR-overexpressing N/TERT-1 cells show a less pronounced and more transient activation of ERK than HaCaT cells (Figure 20).



Figure 20 - DOR activation mediates transient ERK 1/2 signalling in N/TERT-1 keratinocytes with a similar response for [Met<sup>5</sup>]-enkephalin and SNC 80

N/TERT-1 cells stably overexpressing DOR-GFP or control transduced cells were cultured until 80% confluence and then starved in serum free medium over night. Ligands were added at concentrations of 100 nM for indicated times, cells lysed in modified RIPA buffer, and lysates underwent protein quantification. 20 µg of protein lysate were subjected to Western blotting for detection of phospho ERK, total ERK and tubulin by fluorography using the Odyssey infrared imager. Panel (A) shows ERK 2 phosphorylation in DOR expressing cells after [Met<sup>5</sup>]enkephalin mediated activation of the receptor and panel (B) displays ERK 2 phosphorylation in DOR expressing cells after SNC 80 treatment. (C) shows the graph of the semi-quantification of ERK phosphorylation over time comparing the [Met<sup>5</sup>]-enkephalin and SNC 80 mediated response in DOR-overexpressing N/TERT-1. Each value represents the mean of three independent experiments. Error bars represent standard deviation.

For further confirmation of a DOR specific ERK activation in keratincoytes, the DOR inhibitor naltrindole was used to block DOR activation in the presence of agonists. In both, HaCaT and N/TERT-1 cells, a naltrindole concentration of 10  $\mu$ M is sufficient to fully block the SNC80 mediated activation of ERK 2. Antagonist was added five minutes prior to agonist, in order to effectively block the receptors. Figure 21A, the immunoblot for phosphorylated ERK, shows the increase in phosphorylation ten minutes after addition of SNC 80 and reduced phosphorylation signal when naltrindole was co-applied. The statistical analysis after quantification of the relative ERK phosphorylation reveals a significant induction by application of SNC80 alone and its inhibition by naltrindole co-application (Figure 21B).



Figure 21 - DOR mediated ERK signalling in HaCaT cells can be blocked by DOR specific antagonist naltrindole

HaCaT cells stably overexpressing DOR-GFP were cultured until 80% confluence. Cells were starved in serum free medium for 6 h. Foetal calf serum (FCS), as positive control, was added for 30 min, naltrindole 5 min prior to SNC80 for co-administration, naltrindole alone for 15 min, and SNC 80 for 10 min. Cells were lysed in modified RIPA buffer and lysates underwent protein quantification. 20  $\mu$ g of protein lysate were subjected to Western blotting for detection of phospho ERK, total ERK and tubulin by fluorography using the Odyssey infrared imager. Panel (A) shows the immunoblot of the ERK 2 phosphorylation in DOR expressing cells and panel (B) the graph of the semi-quantification of ERK phosphorylation. Each value represents the mean of nine replicates from three independent experiments. Error bars indicate standard deviation. One-way ANOVA: \*\*\* p < 0.001.

A similar experiment with N/TERT-1 cells gave the same results (Figure 22). Application of SNC80 for ten minutes induced ERK phosphorylation in DOR-overexpressing cells, which could successfully be blocked by pre-incubation with naltrindole. Additionally, PD98059 was included in this experiment. This inhibitor blocks MEK 1 function and therefore inhibits ERK activation further downstream in the DOR signalling cascade. With this inhibitor, the DOR mediated signalling cascade is blocked to the same degree as with naltrindole, if DOR agonist SNC80 was co-applied in DOR-overexpressing cells. In control cells and if only inhibitor was added all residual ERK phosphorylation disappeared. This indicates in the likewise a DOR specific ERK activation by the DOR agonist SNC80.



Figure 22 - DOR mediated ERK signalling in N/TERT-1 cells can be blocked by DOR specific antagonist naltrindole and ERK inhibitor PD98059

N/TERT-1 cells stably overexpressing DOR-GFP or control-transduced cells were cultured until 80% confluence. Cells were starved in serum free medium overnight. Vehicle control DMSO was added for 10 min, SNC 80 was added for 10 min, naltrindole 5 min prior to SNC80 for co-administration, naltrindole alone for 15 min, PD98059 30 min prior to SNC80, and PD98059 alone for 40 min. Cells were lysed in modified RIPA buffer and lysates underwent protein quantification. 20  $\mu$ g of protein lysate were subjected to Western blotting for detection of phospho ERK, total ERK and tubulin by fluorography using the Odyssey infrared imager. Panel (A) shows the immunoblot of the ERK 1/2 phosphorylation in DOR expressing and control cells and panel (B) the graph of the semi-quantification of ERK phosphorylation. Each value represents mean from three independent experiments. Error bars indicate standard deviation. One-way ANOVA: \*\* p < 0.01, \* p < 0.05.

### III.5. DOR signalling in keratinocytes inhibits proliferation in vitro

DOR overexpression dramatically changes the phenotype of N/TERT-1 keratinocytes. Colonies of DOR-overexpressing N/TERTs are more spread out than control cell colonies (Figure 23), and exhibit drastically reduced cell proliferation rates.



Figure 23 - DOR overexpression changes keratinocyte morphology

A Phase contrast images of control and DOR N/TERT-1 cultures were captured at 20x magnification using a Nikon Eclipse TS100 Microscope. 5 days after plating the same amount of N/TERT-1 cells into standard culture vessels, DOR-overexpressing cells formed markedly fewer and smaller colonies, consistent with less proliferation and an increase in cell size.

Cells display more ruffling at the edges, which might, together with the colony spreading, reflects an increased migratory activity. Compared to the control cells the size of the keratinocytes increases, which is often seen in keratinocytes with reduced proliferation capacity.

Using the INCUCYTE<sup>™</sup> Kinetic Imaging System proliferation was monitored over eight days, in order to quantify our observations. The same numbers of N/TERT-1 control and DOR-overexpressing cells were plated into a 96-well plate. Phase-contrast images were automatically captured every hour and processed by the INCUCYTE software, which calculated the percentage confluence per sample.



Figure 24 - The DOR inhibits keratinocyte proliferation

Figure 24A shows the growth curves of both, control cells and DOR-overexpressing cells, cultured in the presence of 100 nM SNC80 or vehicle control. While control cells entered an exponential growth phase before plateauing after about six days in culture, DOR cells had a markedly reduced proliferative capacity. The addition of the DOR ligand SNC80 into the culture medium further decreased cell proliferation to almost undetectable levels.

<sup>(</sup>A) The proliferation curves of DOR-overexpressing and control cells, in either vehicle control medium or 100 nM SNC80-containing medium were obtained from the images captured hourly with a 10x objective lens by the Incucyte machine. The graph depicts the mean  $\pm$  SEM percentage confluence per field of view of one representative experiment run in triplicates, per culture condition. (B) Doubling time was calculated in GraphPad Prism from the growth curve in A) using a non-linear regression model and is displayed as mean with upper and lower limit. The doubling time for DOR-overexpressing cells increases drastically as compared to control cells.

Accordingly, the doubling time of DOR-overexpressing cells (24.4 - 25.9 hours) under basal conditions was about 1.4 times higher than that of control cells (17.5 - 18.8 hours), and further increased to 42.8 - 51.5 hours under SNC80, while control cells were unaffected by this treatment (doubling time 17.4 - 17.9 hours) (Figure 24B).

### III.6. DOR delays in vitro keratinocyte differentiation

In order to investigate if DOR is involved in epidermal homeostasis the capability of control and DOR-overexpressing keratinocytes to differentiate was investigated. The transition from basal to spinous epidermal layer keratinocytes is accompanied by suppression of KRT 5 and KRT 14 transcripts and the upregulation of KRT 1 and KRT 10 intermediate filaments (Fuchs et al., 1980). The changes in expression of KRT 1 and KRT 10 in an in vitro model for keratinocyte differentiation using HaCaT and N/TERT-1 cells were analysed. Both cell types were grown to confluence before differentiation was induced by growth factor withdrawal in the presence of DOR agonists. HaCaT cells were differentiated for up to 48 hours in the presence of SNC80. Within six hours, control cells start to induce KRT 1 and KRT 10 expression and continuously increase the expression level during further differentiation (Figure 25A and B) as observed by quantitative real-time PCR. 12 hours after induction of differentiation in the presence of SNC80 for both genes, a significant difference between control and DOR cells is observed. DOR cells induce KRT 1 with a factor of 1.8, while control cells express 3.5 times more KRT 1. A similar trend is observed for KRT 10. This difference is lost after additional 12 hours of differentiation when both cells express the same amount of KRT 1 and 10. This expression pattern indicates a markedly delayed induction of KRT 1 and KRT 10 intermediate filaments upon keratinocyte differentiation in DORoverexpressing cells.

A different pattern is observed for the differentiation marker IVL (Figure 25C). This earlycornified envelope gene is normally induced after prolonged differentiation. Indeed an induction of about three fold within 48 hours is observed in both control and DORoverexpressing cells. Along the way, DOR cells display a first rapid increase of IVL expression four hours after induction of differentiation in the presence of SNC80 that is not observed in control cells. These changes indicate the involvement of the DOR in the differentiation process but the limited differentiation capacity of HaCaT cells does not allow further conclusions.



Figure 25 - The DOR alters expression of keratinocyte differentiation related genes in HaCaT keratinocytes

HaCaT cells were grown to confluence and subjected to growth factor withdrawal induced differentiation. RNA was extracted at indicated time points and subjected to real-time PCR quantification. (A) In the presence of 100 nM SNC80 GFP control cells rapidly induce KRT 10 expression while DOR-overexpressing cells do not induce the expression within 12 h of incubation. 24 h after addition of ligand and induction of differentiation, no difference in KRT 10 expression level between DOR and control cells can be detected. (B) Similar to KRT 10 expression, in the presence of 100 nM SNC80 GFP control cells rapidly induce KRT 1 expression while DOR-overexpressing cells start the expression after about 12 h of incubation. 24 h after addition of ligand and induced differentiation no difference in KRT 1 expression level between DOR and control cells can be detected. (C) The analysis of mRNA expression of IVL in the presence of SNC80 reveals a rapid induction in DOR-overexpressing cells after 4 h of incubation before the expression level is equalised with that of the control cells, which show a delayed expression of IVL in this experiment. The graphs represent the mean of three independent experiments. Error bars indicate standard deviation. t-test results: \*\* p < 0.01, \* p < 0.05.

N/TERT-1 cells, in contrast to HaCaT cells, have a higher competence to undergo the complete differentiation process (Dickson et al., 2000a). The changes of KRT 10 and KRT 1 expression take different courses in N/TERT-1 cells than in HaCaT cells. Therefore, the protocol was adjusted accordingly. Additionally, due to the previously observed reduced proliferation rate of N/TERT-1 DOR-overexpressing cells, 1.25 times more DOR cells than

control cells were plated initially, to start at the same confluence as control cells when inducing differentiation.



Figure 26 - The DOR impairs keratinocyte differentiation in N/TERT-1 cells

N-TERT-1 cells overexpressing DOR, or control cells, were grown to confluence before differentiation was induced by removal of growth factors. Cultures were kept under the influence of [Met<sup>5</sup>]-enkephalin or SNC80 during further cultivation for up to 10 days. The time course of differentiation marker genes was analysed by quantitative real-time PCR and Western blotting. The expression level of (A) KRT 10, (B) KRT 1, and (C) IVL, strongly increase from day 4 onwards and for (D) LOR, and (E) FLG from day 7 onwards in control cells but not in DOR-overexpressing cells. Data are represented after normalization to RPL13a expression as mean values  $\pm$ SEM of three independent experiments. Vehicle-treated control cells were used as reference. Two-way ANOVA analysis in A) and C), \*\* p < 0.01 and \* p < 0.05 (F) Western blot analysis confirms the delayed induction of KRT 10 protein expression in DOR-overexpressing cells compared to control cells. Whole cell lysates from confluent cultures (day 0) and day 1, day 4, and day 7 of growth withdrawal-induced differentiation with and without addition of 100 nM DOR agonist [Met<sup>5</sup>]-enkephalin were prepared and analysed by immunoblot for KRT 10 expression, with equal loading verified by GAPDH labelling. In DOR-overexpressing cells only minimal KRT 10 induction is observed for the duration of the whole time course. (G) N/TERT-1 cells with and without DOR overexpression were subjected to differentiation for 7 days under the influence of 100 nM DOR agonist SNC80 or vehicle control. Whole cell lysates from confluent cultures analysed for KRT 10 expression by immunoblot show delayed KRT 10 expression in DOR-overexpressing cultures under the influence of SNC80 at day 4. Equal loading was confirmed by GAPDH labelling

Analysis of the mRNA levels of KRT 10 and KRT 1 by quantitative real-time PCR indicated an induction of both transcripts from day one of differentiation. In control cells, continued differentiation was associated with further strong upregulation of these transcripts, while DOR-overexpressing cells severely lagged behind in the induction process (Figure 26A and B). With advancing differentiation, the mRNA levels of IVL and LOR, as well as FLG increased markedly at day seven after induction of differentiation in control cells, but in DOR cells only at day 10 was a comparable increase in expression of these genes detected (Figure 26C - E).

A delay in KRT 10 induction during early differentiation under the influence of DOR activation was also seen at the protein level. The increase in KRT 10 observed in control cells at day four and seven of differentiation was not detected in DOR-overexpressing cells, indicating that early differentiation is markedly delayed in the presence of the DOR and the endogenous agonist [Met<sup>5</sup>]-enkephalin (Figure 26F). If DOR-overexpressing cells were differentiated without addition of agonist, only a minor reduction in KRT 10 protein expression compared to control cells was detected (Figure 26F, lane 11-14). Similar results were obtained with the exogenous agonist SNC80. Until day four of differentiation, protein expression of KRT 10 could substantially be prevented under the influence of SNC80, but at day seven only a minor difference in protein level could be detected (Figure 26G, lane 5-8). These altered expression patterns, in comparison to control cells, suggest a strong involvement of DOR-mediated signalling in the regulation of keratinocyte differentiation.

### III.7. DOR signalling changes the gene expression profile in keratinocytes

Two different gene expression studies were performed. In order to find early response genes after activated DOR signalling through SNC80, control and DOR-overexpressing cells were treated with 100 nM agonist for four hours. The collected RNA was subjected to microarray analysis. A total number of 234 genes were significantly altered, after the interaction of SNC80 with the DOR in overexpressing cells, in correlation to control cells. Of these genes, only 59 displayed a fold change bigger than 1.5 and only cytidine triphosphate (CTP) synthase had a fold change above two.

Application of the GeneGo software tool indicated, that cell adhesion, motility, and polarity pathways, as well as RNA processing networks are strongly linked to our observed expression changes. Including all 234 significantly changed genes, POU2F3, with a 1.31 fold decrease of expression observed in the microarray, was finally identified as keratin IF regulating factor, linked to the modulation of keratinocyte differentiation, and chosen to be further validated. In a second gene expression study HaCaT control and DOR-overexpressing cells were subjected to 12 hours of [Met<sup>5</sup>]-enkephalin treatment.

	Antini, Tripine Tri	Ctrl DMS02	Cttl DNS04	Ctrl DMS01	Ctrl SNC80 1	Ctrl SNC80 2	Ctrl SNC80 4	DOR DASOL	DOR DW502		DOR DMS03	DOR SNCSO 2	DOR SMC80 1	DOR SNC80 3	NAV3 XPR1 Clorf161 PTCER2
	торона торона 271 271 271 271 271 271 271 270 270 270 270 270 270 270 270	Ctrl DMS02	CERL DHS04	Ctrl DWS01	Ctal SUC80 2	Cril SNC80 4	TOSWO NOC	DOR DMS02	DOR DWS03	DOR SNC80 2	DOR SWC80 1	DOR SUCEO 3	NUPR1 GBP2 C50rf4 FPX032 THEM37 BFAF FXTA137 ACPP DIX37 FN003 TFX003 FN0	0	IVL SPRYD3
	THE PARAMETERS AND A CONTRACT AND A	Ctrl Diiso2	Ctrl DNS04	Ctrl Disol	Ctri SNC80 i	Ctrl SNC80 2	Ctrl SWC50 4	DOR DISOL	DOR DHSOZ	DOR DINSO3	DOP SMC60 2		ABCAI ABCAI CLK1 KCNJ1S STGGALI FNLIPRF FILIPLI CYP3A7 TRPC1 CYP3A7 TRPC1 CYP3A7 TRPC1 VINKNOWN RNU105C UNKNOWN	99 50 1	0U2F3 <del>&lt;</del>

#### Figure 27 - Overview of transcriptome changes after 4h treatment with DOR agonist SNC80

Hierarchical clustering of 234 genes altered by the DOR-SNC80 interaction using a linkage algorithm was performed and visualized in a heat map. Horizontal stripes represent genes, and columns show experimental samples. Clustering was performed only on genes, whereas samples were ordered by treatment and cell line. Logarithmic values are shown in the heat map using red and green colour codes for up- and downregulation, respectively. Black indicates no change. Two groups of genes were extracted. (A) shows the genes that are upregulated by the SNC80 effect, which means that they are downregulated in control cells treated with SNC80 in comparison to vehicle treatment but that DOR-overexpressing cells prevents this downregulation in the presence of SNC80. (B) represents genes that are specifically downregulated by SNC80 in DOR-overexpressing cells. POU2F3 belongs to this group of genes.

The same analysis looking at the DOR-SNC80 interaction effect as performed for the first microarray, was applied to the second one. This time a total number of 117 genes were statistically significant altered in their expression pattern. Similar to the first array the majority of genes displayed a fold change below two. Seventeen altered genes were common in both datasets. This suggests that these genes are true targets of DOR mediated signalling in

keratinocytes.

gene	Fold change 4 h SNC80	Fold change 12 h [Met <sup>5</sup> ]-enkephalin
ACTN1	1.381	1.284
CDH2	1.409	1.352
CTPS	2.154	1.597
DUSP6	1.577	1.821
ETV4	1.874	2.765
ETV5	1.469	2.462
FBXO32	-1.386	-1.429
GBP2	-1.605	-1.609
HIVEP3	1.341	1.35
KCNJ13	-1.577	-1.963
LIPG	1.545	1.478
LRP8	1.802	1.655
MCM6	1.635	1.583
MMP12	-1.292	-2.205
NOLC1	1.539	1.413
SLC7A11	1.822	1.723
ZNF367	1.322	1.382

#### Table 1 - Common genes significantly modulated by DOR agonists in two independent gene expression studies

The 17 genes reflect different functional categories including structural proteins, a MAPK signalling cascade regulator, metabolic enzymes, transcription factors, ion channel, cell surface receptors, DNA regulatory factors, a matrixdegrading enzyme, and a membrane transporter and are not well characterized in keratinocyte function.

The enrichment analysis of the 12 hour dataset indicated negative regulation of proliferation as the most significant cellular signalling network affected. ECM remodelling and cell adhesion networks were, similar to the first array, highly enriched in our dataset. Canonical pathways influenced by DOR-SNC80 interaction include mainly nucleoside triphosphate metabolic pathways, that cannot be directly connected to specific keratinocyte functions. The strongest, by DOR mediated signalling regulated transcription factors, are Ets variant gene 4 (ETV4) and Ets variant gene 5 (ETV5). The regulation of these factors could be validated by quantitative real-time PCR but the correlation to functional changes in keratinocytes was not yet established. Both gene expression datasets hold the potential for further investigations.



Figure 28 - Overview of transcriptome changes after 12h treatment with DOR agonist [Met<sup>5</sup>]-enkephalin

Hierarchical clustering of 117 genes altered by the DOR-SNC80 interaction using a linkage algorithm was performed and visualized in a heat map. Horizontal stripes represent genes, and columns show experimental samples. Clustering was performed only on genes, whereas samples were ordered by treatment and cell line. Logarithmic values are shown in the heat map using red and green colour codes for up- and downregulation, respectively. Black indicates no change.

### **III.8.** The transcription factor POU2F3 is involved in DOR-mediated regulation of keratinocyte differentiation

In order to resolve the involvement of DOR mediated signalling in epidermal homeostasis and especially KRT 10 regulation, the analysis of the transcription factor POU2F3 was advanced. This protein POU2F3 is involved in the transition from the basal to the spinous keratinocyte phenotype, as well as in the regulation of KRT 10 and IVL expression in accord with the observed results for the early phase of differentiation in HaCaT cells (Figure 25) (Andersen et al., 1993b; Andersen et al., 1997; Welter et al., 1996b). Indeed, in comparison to control cells DOR-overexpressing HaCaT (Figure 29A) and N/TERT-1 (Figure 30A) cells showed aberrant POU2F3 expression during the process of differentiation. Cells were grown to confluence in normal growth medium and differentiation induced by growth factor withdrawal with concurrent addition of SNC80 in HaCaT and [Met<sup>5</sup>]-enkephalin in N/TERT-1 cultures to the culture medium. mRNA expression of POU2F3 was analysed by quantitative real-time PCR. In HaCaT cells, a significant repression of POU2F3 expression after four hours until eight hours after ligand addition can be detected. With advancing differentiation, the repression is abrogated and POU2F3 is slightly induced in both control and DOR-overexpressing cells (Figure 29A). In HaCaT cells, the observed POU2F3 expression pattern was in accordance with the previous observed regulation of KRT 10 and IVL (Figure 25). The literature reported a positive effect of POU2F3 on KRT 10 and a negative effect on IVL expression (Andersen et al., 1993a; Welter et al., 1996a). The repression of POU2F3 in the HaCaT model system therefore showed a decreased KRT 10 and increased IVL expression at the analysed four hour time point.

If the DOR antagonist naltrindole was applied at the same time, the significant 50% reduction of POU2F3 mRNA level at four hours after addition of SNC80 could be reversed. This shows a clear correlation of DOR activation and POU2F3 mRNA repression (Figure 29B). Further, it was of interest if DOR mediated ERK signalling is involved in POU2F3 regulation. For this

87

purpose, the MEK 1 inhibitor PD98059 was added to the culture. In the absence of ERK activation SNC80 mediated DOR signalling was no longer able to repress POU2F3 expression. Furthermore, inhibition of ERK resulted in an induction of POU2F3 expression indicating a direct correlation of ERK activity and POU2F3 expression (Figure 29C).



Figure 29 - POU2F3 is an early target gene of DOR mediated ERK activation in HaCaT cells

(A) HaCaT cells were grown to confluence and subjected to growth factor withdrawal induced differentiation. RNA was extracted at indicated time points and subjected to real-time PCR quantification. Within 4 h after addition of DOR specific ligand SNC80 to the cultures a strong downregulation of POU2F3 can be observed in DOR-overexpressing HaCaT cells while expression in control cells remains unchanged. Within 12 h of incubation the expression of POU2F3 goes back to the initial state and further increases while differentiation progresses. (B) HaCaT cells were subjected to differentiation in the presence of 100 nM DOR agonist SNC80, 5 min preincubation with 10  $\mu$ M of the antagonist naltrindole prior to SNC80 addition, the vehicle control or antagonist alone. Cells were incubated for 4 h before RNA was extracted and subjected to quantitative real-time PCR. Naltrindole could effectively block the SNC80 mediated downregulation of POU2F3. This confirms that the regulation of POU2F3 by SNC80 is DOR specific. (C) HaCaT cells were subjected to differentiation in the presence of 100 nM DOR agonist SNC80, 30 min preincubation with 20 µM of the MEK1 inhibitor PD98059 prior to SNC80 addition, the vehicle control, or PD98059 alone. Cells were incubated for 4 h before RNA was extracted and subjected to quantitative real-time PCR. The inhibition of ERK could effectively reverse DOR mediated POU2F3 downregulation, indicating an ERK-dependent, DOR mediated mechanism. At the same time control cells subjected to double treatment and DOR cells with inhibitor treatment alone show a 2.5 fold induction of POU2F3 mRNA expression. The graphs represent the mean of three independent experiments. Error bars indicate standard deviation. t-test results: \*\*\* p < 0.001, \*\* p < 0.01, \* p < 0.05.

In N/TERT-1 cells, no effect on POU2F3 expression after four hours of SNC80 treatment in DOR-overexpressing cells was observed. This indicates that POU2F3 is not an early target gene in N/TERT-1 cells as compared to HaCaT cells. Hence, the protocol for N/TERT-1 cells was modified in conjunction with the previously observed time course of KRT 10 expression upon induction of differentiation. At day one after induction of differentiation, DOR activation was associated with a downregulation of POU2F3 mRNA, while control cells

induced POU2F3 1.7 fold compared to day zero expression. The relative mRNA expression level of POU2F3 at day seven was only seven fold greater in DOR-overexpressing cells, but 21 fold increased in control cells (Figure 30A).



Figure 30 - POU2F3 is a late response target gene of DOR-mediated signalling in N/TERT-1 cells

(A) Keratinocytes were grown to confluence and differentiation was induced by removal of growth factors. Cultures were kept under the influence of [Met<sup>3</sup>]-enkephalin during further cultivation for 10 days. During the time course of differentiation, POU2F3 expression was analysed by quantitative real-time PCR. Strong differentiation associated induction in control cells can be observed, in contrast to DOR-overexpressing cells. Expression is represented after normalization to RPL13a as mean values ± SEM of three independent experiments. Vehicle-treated control cells were used as reference. Two-way ANOVA analysis, \*\*\* p < 0.001. (B) Keratinocytes were differentiated for one day in the presence of 100 nM SNC80, 10 µM of the DOR-specific inhibitor naltrindole, or vehicle control. Expression of POU2F3 was analysed by quantitative real-time PCR and relative quantity is represented after normalization to RPL13a expression using the respective vehicle control as reference. A successful reversion of DOR mediated repression of POU2F3 by inhibition of DOR signalling through naltrindole can be observed. The graph represents the mean  $\pm$  SEM of five independent experiments, ttest reveals \*\* p < 0.01 and \* p < 0.05. (C) Keratinocytes were differentiated for one day in the presence of 100 nM SNC80, 20 uM of the ERK inhibitor PD98059, or vehicle control. Expression of POU2F3 was analysed by quantitative real-time PCR and relative quantity is represented after normalization to RPL13a expression using the respective vehicle control as reference. ERK inhibition can partially reverse DOR mediated POU2F3 repression. ERK inhibition alone leads to an increase of POU2F3 expression. The graph represents the mean  $\pm$ SEM of four independent experiments. t-test reveals \*\* p < 0.01.

POU2F3 regulation in N/TERT-1 cells was as well specifically DOR-mediated and could be blocked by the DOR antagonist naltrindole. Cells were pre-incubated with 10  $\mu$ M naltrindole for five minutes prior to 100 nM SNC80 addition to efficiently block DOR activation. During 24 hours of incubation, POU2F3 inhibition could be reverted by naltrindole, resulting in similar expression levels in control and DOR-overexpressing cells after one day of differentiation (Figure 30B). To test whether the regulation of POU2F3 was mediated by ERK activation in the same way as in HaCaT cells, we blocked the activation of ERK and analysed again the expression level changes of POU2F3. The prevention of ERK 1/2 activation by preincubation with the MEK 1 inhibitor PD98059 revealed a strong correlation between POU2F3 expression and ERK 1/2 activity. In DOR-overexpressing cells, PD98059 abolished SNC80mediated POU2F3 repression (Figure 30C). The complete inhibition of the ERK 1/2 MAPK signalling resulted again in the induction of POU2F3 mRNA expression in both control and DOR-overexpressing cells. This indicated, in both keratinocyte cell lines, the positive regulation of a POU2F3 repressor by DOR-mediated activation of ERK 1/2, which is released upon ERK 1/2 deactivation.

### **III.9. DOR signalling impairs stratification and homeostasis in a** reconstructed-epidermis model

To further investigate the influence of the DOR on epidermal regeneration and homeostasis, a reconstructed tissue with regular features of epidermal differentiation and morphogenesis was generated using organotypic skin cultures (Bell et al., 1983; Stark et al., 1999). Contracted collagen lattices with incorporated dermal fibroblasts were used as dermal equivalents and either control N/TERT-1 or DOR-overexpressing cells were seeded on top for culture at the air-liquid interface, in order to induce stratification, for 14 days. DOR-overexpressing cells, in contrast to control cells, exhibited a poor capacity to form a fully-differentiated epidermis (Figure 31A). The previously observed slow proliferation rate of DOR-overexpressing cells (Figure 24) correlated with an atrophic (thinner) epidermis in organotypic cultures with DOR-overexpressing N/TERT-1 keratinocytes.



Figure 31 - DOR activity results in decreased epidermal thickness and atypical stratification

Organotypic cultures of N/TERT-1 cells transduced with control or DOR-GFP viruses were generated. (A) Haematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining of organotypic raft cultures showed decreased epidermal thickness when DOR was overexpressed. (B) shows the quantification of the epidermal area generated by the different cell lines. The graph is generated from three independent experiments with at least two duplicates per experiment. Each experiment was normalised to the respective WT control. Error bars represent standard deviation. One-way ANOVA revelas \* p < 0.05. (C) Immunofluorescence analysis of the differentiation marker KRT 10 shows no expression of KRT 10 in the epidermis with two to three layers of DOR-overexpressing keratinocytes but strong induction in the suprabasel layers of the control. Scale bars represent 50  $\mu$ m. (D) IVL labelling revealed expression in DOR cultures and a strong expression in control cells. (E) Corresponding to the proper stratification, PCNA as a marker for proliferating cells was expressed in control cultures mainly in the basal layer. On the other side, no expression could be detected in DOR organotypic cultures in correlation with the atrophic phenotype. Scale bars represent 50  $\mu$ m.

Accordingly, proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) could not be detected in DOR cultures, but was present in control cultures (Figure 31D). Immunofluorescence analysis of KRT 10 revealed the absence of this early differentiation marker in DOR-overexpressing cells (Figure 31B), indicating an impairment of epidermal differentiation, as observed in the keratinocyte monolayer differentiation experiments (Figure 26). Although only two to three cell layers were present, and despite the absence of KRT 10, a slight expression of IVL was detected in DOR-overexpressing organotypic cultures (Figure 31C). This indicates a deregulation of epidermal differentiation by DOR signalling if the DOR is active in basal keratinocytes. During normal skin homeostasis, the DOR might possibly interfere at the transition from spinous to granular layer keratinocytes where KRT 10 expression is switched off and IVL expression switched on, which would correlate well with the expression pattern detected by in situ hybridisation (unpublished data Mei Bigliardi-Qi).

## CHAPTER IV

# DISCUSSION AND PERSPECTIVES

### **IV.1.** Discussion

The human skin is constantly exposed to numerous pathological processes, agents, and events. The response to these environmental assaults requires local as well as systemic mechanisms, in order to maintain skin and body homeostasis. This is accomplished by the neuro-endocrine system in the skin. Numerous studies highlighted the different protagonists of this system, for example the catecholaminergic, histaminergic, cannabinoid, cholinergic or steroidergic system, and others (Slominski et al., 2012). In the present study, the involvement of the opioidergic system in skin homeostasis was confirmed.

#### DOR functionality in keratinocytes dependents on the state of the cell

The presence of opioid receptors in human skin has been known for several years, but we are only just beginning to understand their function. The tools for detection of endogenous opioid receptor proteins have historically been insufficient, leading to a reliance on detection of mRNA expression for tissue analysis. *In situ* hybridisation shows that DOR is predominantly expressed in the more differentiated layers of the human epidermis, which correlates well with the expression of the endogenous ligand enkephalin. Slominski *et al.* (Slominski et al., 2011) demonstrated an *in vivo* compartmentalization of [Met<sup>5</sup>]- and [Leu<sup>5</sup>]-enkephalin antigens. They observed strong expression in differentiating epidermal and follicular keratinocytes in the outer root sheath. Additionally, they saw a selective expression in specialized fibroblasts of the perifollicular dermal sheath and follicular papilla, as well as myoepithelial cells of the eccrine glands. Further analysis of the regulation of enkephalin expression in cultured skin cells upon physical and biological stimuli, revealed an upregulation in response to UVB and lipopolysaccharide (LPS) exposure.

The localisation studies of the present manuscript illustrate, that the presence of ligand is not sufficient to induce the activation of the DOR in keratinocytes. Under standard keratinocyte culture conditions in low  $Ca^{2+}$  medium the majority of receptor is internalised and therefore not available for ligand induced cellular signalling. If the receptor was overexpressed in primary keratinocytes, no

response towards exogenous ligand SNC80 could be detected, despite the confirmation of solid receptor overexpression on mRNA level. Only after reliable localisation of the receptor by fusion to a GFP tag and the switch to the keratinocyte cell line HaCaT, which is routinely cultured in high  $Ca^{2+}$  medium, the influence of  $Ca^{2+}$  on receptor localisation was detected. The  $Ca^{2+}$  switch experiment in Figure 13 revealed that the receptor distribution, either to the cell surface or intracellular compartments, is a dynamic process in keratinocytes. The compartmentalisation is reversible by changing the  $Ca^{2+}$  concentration and shows a membrane localisation in high  $Ca^{2+}$  medium and an intracellular distribution in low  $Ca^{2+}$  medium. The accumulation in areas of the cell membranes with cell-cell contact, rather than at free edges of a colony, strongly suggests a function of the DOR in paracrine cell-cell communication in keratinocytes. Close proximity to desmosomal or other cellular adhesion structures might facilitate the recruitment of DOR interacting proteins and subsequent target molecules to modify cytoskeletal dynamics in order to promote cellular migration (Charbaji et al., 2012; Eisinger and Ammer, 2008a; Huang et al., 2004; Pullikuth et al., 2007; Scott et al., 2006; Thomason et al., 2012).

The exact localisation upon internalisation of the DOR in low Ca<sup>2+</sup> medium has not yet been clarified. Several studies about the receptor maturation demonstrated the involvement of the endoplasmatic reticulum (ER) in quality control, post-translational modification, and subsequent membrane localisation (Leskelä et al., 2009; Leskela et al., 2012; Markkanen et al., 2008; Petäjä-Repo et al., 2000; Petäjä-Repo et al., 2001; Petäjä-Repo et al., 2006). A nonsynonymous single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) (c.80T>G) has been described for the DOR (Gelernter et al., 2000), causing a Phenylalanine substitution at position 27 of the amino acid sequence to a Cystein (p.Phe27Cys) in the receptor N-terminus. Both lentiviral constructs used for our overexpression studies encode for the Cys-27 variant, which was reported to show inherent compromised maturation. The Cys-27 variant accumulates in pre-Golgi compartments of the secretory pathway and has impaired targeting to the ER-associated degradation following long-term expression. In addition, the cell surface receptors of the Cys-27 variant internalized constitutively. However, the pharmacological characteristics and the maturation kinetics of this variant, in comparison to the Phe-27 variant, were identical and the current database reference sequence encodes for the Cys-27 variant (NM 000911.3: c.80G>T; NP 000902.3:

p.Cys27Phe; rs1042114) (Gelernter et al., 2000; Leskelä et al., 2009; Leskela et al., 2012). Based on the studies from U.E. Petäjä-Repo's group, the analysis of the distribution of the DOR-GFP fusion protein in keratinocytes in the present manuscript focused on the localisation to ER, endosomes, and lysosomes. Immnuofluorescence staining could neither confirm the accumulation of the DOR under low  $Ca^{2+}$  conditions in the ER nor in the lysosomal degradation pathway. Co-localisation signal with the ER marker calnexin did show an interaction of these two proteins, but the co-localisation signal was similar to the high  $Ca^{2+}$  condition, which does not indicate a difference in maturation (Figure 14). Furthermore, co-localisation with the early endosome marker EEA1 indicated a rather random colocalisation of DOR with endosomes, than an accumulation due to constitutive internalisation. A lysosomal distribution of DOR-GFP could be demonstrated as well, but only explained the localisation in low  $Ca^{2+}$  cultured keratinocytes, further studies with cellular organelle marker proteins are necessary. Additionally, the exact redistribution behaviour over time and in correlation to the cell morphology changes need to be characterised, to explain the differences for DOR-GFP localisation under low  $Ca^{2+}$  observed.

Another point, concerning cellular localisation of the DOR, has to be taken into account as well. The localisation of the DOR into large dense-core vesicles (LDCV), which allows stimulus-triggered exocytosis of the receptor, has been reported. This could contribute to control the receptor functionality (Guan et al., 2005; Wang et al., 2010). In low  $Ca^{2+}$  medium cell-cell contact through adherence junctions is reduced, therefore direct communication between cells might be less advanced than in high  $Ca^{2+}$  medium, with strong intracellular connections. Cell surface localisation of DOR might not be beneficial for the cell under low  $Ca^{2+}$  conditions and is therefore abolished, but could be established within an hour, as demonstrated by the  $Ca^{2+}$  shift experiment (Figure 13). Additionally, it has been shown, that the GFP tag might interfere with recognition of sorting signals for the LDCV localisation of DOR (Wang et al., 2010). This does not explain the differences observed under low and high  $Ca^{2+}$  culture conditions. Though, the interaction of DOR and the sarcoplasmatic reticulum  $Ca^{2+}$ -ATPase 2 (SERCA2b) has been shown to influence receptor membrane localisation. Thereby, a low local luminal ER  $Ca^{2+}$  concentration might trigger the interaction with SERCA2b and would

delay the folding, until the whole polypeptide has been translated. The DOR precursors associate simultaneously with SERCA2b and calnexin in a dynamic manner, that is regulated by  $Ca^{2+}$  (Burdakov et al., 2005; Pitonzo et al., 2009; Tuusa et al., 2007; Tuusa et al., 2010). The  $Ca^{2+}$  dependent redistribution of the DOR might not be observed for the endogenous receptor because the impact of the GFP tag might trigger different maturation mechanisms. This question will be addressed further, once the appropriate tools for detection of endogenous opioid receptor proteins are available.

#### The DOR triggers immediate cellular responses and activation of ERK 1/2 signalling

The wound healing process is characterized by an acute inflammatory phase, a proliferation phase, and a remodelling phase. Several studies have described stimulatory effects of opioid receptors on the re-epithelisation process, whereby enhancement of keratinocyte migration was supposed to be a crucial function of opioid activity. In vitro both, the endogenous ligand  $\beta$ -endorphin and the exogenous ligand morphine, induce keratinocyte migration (Bigliardi et al., 2002; Kuchler et al., 2010; Wolf et al., 2009). The major second messenger pathways, coupled to the DOR-associated signalling, are known to activate some combinations of  $Ca^{2+}/PLC$ ,  $\beta$ -arrestin/MAPK, and Rho family GTPases (Bian et al., 2012; Kam et al., 2003), which subsequently results in cell morphology changes. Using the xCELLigence system, variations of the cellular impedance, reflecting morphological changes, can be detected in real-time. This system allows the measurement of the cumulative effect of multiple signalling pathways (Atienza et al., 2005; Yu et al., 2006). In order to confirm the impact of the DOR agonists on keratinocyte morphology and intracellular signalling, this technique was applied. The sensitivity of the assay shows clearly, that keratinocytes are very responsive to mechanical manipulations, which partially masks the DOR mediated response. However both, the endogenous opioid [Met<sup>5</sup>]-enkephalin and the exogenous opioid SNC80, are able to produce a solid change of the cell index (CI). The DOR specific antagonist naltrindole significantly reduces these changes. On the other side, naltrindole itself has a positive impact on the measurements of the CI and might therefore act as partial agonist in certain aspects of the intracellular signalling mechanisms of DOR, to influence cell morphology. The xCELLigence system clearly demonstrates that DOR activation has a short-term effect on keratinocytes, if they express sufficient amount of receptor on the cell surface. The observed response was maximal after about 40 minutes. The system enables to define the time points for selective analysis and could be used to test the properties of new substances. However, it does not allow conclusions about the exact mechanisms behind the response.

Therefore, a major part of the present work was to elucidate the molecular signalling mechanisms of activated DOR in human keratinocytes. From previous studies in other overexpression systems, for example with HEK293 cells, it was known, that DOR activation is capable of causing downstream MAPK signalling, and especially ERK 1/2 phosphorylation and activation (Audet et al., 2005; Eisinger and Ammer, 2008a; Eisinger and Ammer, 2008b; Eisinger and Ammer, 2009; Fryer et al., 2001). But different cell types may vary in the composition of downstream molecules and might then experience a different response following DOR activation (Chen et al., 2006; Gross et al., 2006; Shahabi et al., 2006). The current study reveals, that DOR-mediated signalling in keratinocytes does involve the ERK 1/2 MAPK pathway. A transient signal of ERK 1/2 activation was seen both with the endogenous DOR peptide agonist [Met<sup>5</sup>]-enkephalin, and the synthetic DOR-specific alkaloid ligand SNC80 in two different keratinocyte cell lines. In HaCaT cells [Met<sup>5</sup>]-enkephalin was a stronger activator of the ERK 1/2. Because [Met<sup>5</sup>]-enkephalin is a less-selective endogenous peptide agonist compared to the highly DOR-selective agonist SNC80, additional activation of µ-opioid receptor subtypes present at low level in HaCaT cells might enhance ERK signalling (Lecoq et al., 2004). N/TERT-1 cells show a higher basal ERK activity that might mask the DOR-mediated activation in the Western blot analysis, which results in a differently observed ERK response towards the DOR agonists. The activation of ERK in DOR-overexpressing cells is clearly receptor mediated, as shown by the antagonisation with naltrindole. The activation of other signalling pathways, namely p38 and AKT, was excluded by Western blot. The ERK 1/2 pathway is therefore the major pathway activated by DOR-mediated second messenger signalling in keratinocytes. The exact profile of second messengers involved, has not yet been identified and might include  $\beta$ -arrestin-mediated signalling, as well as transactivation of EGF receptor, via a PKC and integrin dependent mechanism (Eisinger and Ammer, 2008a). PKC as target molecule of DOR signalling in keratinocytes has been confirmed in preliminary experiments but further studies are necessary to define the exact signalling cascade.

#### The DOR-mediated signalling affects keratinocyte proliferation and differentiation

A major interest of this project was to investigate the functional consequences of the DOR activation in keratinocytes. The data from an earlier report by Nissen et al. suggested an involvement in differentiation, through inhibition of transglutaminase type 1 and KRT10 expression. Additionally, they observed an inhibition of proliferation in the order of 10-15% by application of [Met<sup>5</sup>]enkephalin to primary keratinocytes (Nissen et al., 1997). The current study now confirms and expands these data and enlightens the molecular mechanisms behind this DOR-mediated phenotype. The observed effect that DOR-mediated signalling has on N/TERT-1 keratinocyte cultures is profound. It not only inhibits proliferation, but also impairs differentiation, leading to a deregulation of the epidermal stratification process. The morphological changes of DOR-overexpressing cultures reflect the phenotype of differentiating keratinocytes. They appear enlarged and flattened, forming fewer colonies in culture. Nevertheless, DOR activated keratinocytes are not inducing differentiation, which was confirmed on mRNA and protein level for the early differentiation marker KRT 10 (Figure 26). Keratinocytes were also not capable of inducing the expression of late differentiation markers IVL, LOR, and FLG in vitro. Studies of KRT 10 knock-out mice reported hyperproliferation of basal keratinocytes and an increase in KRT 6/16 and KRT 17 expression (Porter et al., 1996; Reichelt et al., 1997; Reichelt et al., 2002; Reichelt et al., 2004; Wallace et al., 2012). In our in vitro two dimensional models KRT 16 was not increasing, which corresponds to their reduced proliferation and correlates with the DOR KO mice phenotype of hyperproliferative KRT 6 positive wound edge keratinocytes (Bigliardi-Qi et al., 2006). The organotypic culture model indicated the induction of IVL during the stratification process and the HaCaT differentiation model clearly showed a short term induction of IVL upon DOR activation, while at the same time KRT 10 expression was repressed. In monolayer N/TERT-1 and HaCaT cultures a tendency to higher IVL expression in DOR-overexpressing cells under basal growth conditions could be observed. This indicates that DOR signalling is involved in KRT 10 repression and IVL induction during keratinocyte differentiation, and this might have an

impact on the transition from the spinous to the granular keratinocyte phenotype. The observed repression of the transcription factor POU2F3 plays a role in this regulation. It has been shown to activate KRT 10 and to inhibit IVL expression (Andersen et al., 1993; Welter et al., 1996). During the transition from spinous to granular layer the reduced expression of POU2F3 might be the trigger to switch off the KRT 10 expression and to induce IVL. Like that DOR regulation can be beneficial to the epidermal homeostasis.



Figure 32 - Model for DOR mediated effect on skin homeostasis

The opioidergic system might be activated in normal skin by environmental factors and might help maintain the epidermal homeostasis. By inhibition of POU2F3 proliferation could be reduced and KRT 10 expression repressed, while at the same time IVL expression is induced in the upper epidermal layer. This might serve as a protection mechanism, to enhance the epidermal barrier and stop proliferation of basal cells until the perturbation is removed.

It is possible, that in our two and three dimensional *in vitro* models, the altered early differentiation phase in DOR-overexpressing N/TERT-1 cells lead to a deregulation of the subsequent differentiation processes, abolishing LOR and FLG expression. According to the DOR expression pattern *in vivo*, the early phase might be executed normally, so that DOR only influences subsequent processes during epidermal differentiation. DOR-deficient mice showed increased expression of KRT10, possibly because of the expression in keratinocytes is not being switched off in their transition to the granular layer, leading to an atrophic epidermis (Bigliardi-Qi et al., 2006).

N/TERT-1 cells have the ability to differentiate *in vitro*, but differentiation of the monolayer does not reflect the exact *in vivo* situation. The loss of contact with the basement membrane was shown to be a strong trigger for a keratinocytes to commit to differentiation (Adams et al., 1989; Gebhardt et al., 2006; Watt et al., 2008; Wu et al., 2012). The applied model of confluence induced *in vitro* differentiation, including growth factor withdrawal, does not include this aspect. Of note, this cannot be mimicked in two dimensional cell cultures. Suspension induced differentiation would be an additional tool, that could help to explain the DOR phenotype (Gandarillas et al., 1999). Our monolayer keratinocyte culture represented more closely basal epidermal conditions and might not reflect the actual state of a keratinocyte expressing functional DOR. The timeframe of DOR expression during differentiation is not necessarily the same as found in the *in vitro* culture model. It has been shown that the loss of p63 is connected to decreased proliferation and significantly reduced induction of KRT 10/1 in a HaCaT monolayer keratinocyte culture (Wu et al., 2012). The

knock-down of p63 triggered an arrest in phase G0/G1 of the cell cycle, without affecting cell death. Furthermore, an upregulation of the cell cycle inhibitors p21 and p15 and a downregulation of c-Myc expression were observed. The p63 isoform  $\Delta Np63$  was thereby identified to indirectly effect c-Myc expression, via the Wnt/β-Catenin and Notch pathways. The comparison of genes, altered by either c-Myc knock-down or p63 knock-down, revealed 71 genes antagonistically regulated. These genes were associated with cell migration and cell adhesion and might lead to keratinocyte differentiation, via changes of keratinocyte adhesion to the BM. Of these 71 genes we saw four genes regulated in the same direction as observed in the Myc knock-down cells. This might indicate that upon DOR activation c-Myc activity is down regulated. The bioinformatic tools used for our gene expression study indicated indeed that c-Myc was a key factor in the regulation of DOR signalling target genes in HaCaT, and might be an important factor in the N/TERT-1 cultures as well. The involvement of DOR in keratinocyte migration has been shown in culture systems and direct molecular targets have partially been found (Charbaji et al., 2012). The influence on differentiation has partially been established with this work, but further analyses are necessary. It would further be of interest to investigate, if p63 expression is altered in DOR activated keratinocytes and how other identified factors influence keratinocyte differentiation.
Another important factor detected in the microarray studies was DUSP6. This protein belongs to a class of dual-specificity phosphatases, designated MKPs that dephosphorylate the MAPK protein ERK. DUSP6 blocks both, the phosphorylation and enzymatic activation of the MAP kinase ERK2 by mitogens. We saw an upregulation of this factor, indicating that the ERK pathway might not induce proliferation as a functional consequence of DOR activation. This corresponds as well to the observed phenotype in N/TERT-1 cells.

#### Relevance of the DOR function during the wound healing process

The work focused further on the transcription factor POU2F3, after it was identified as direct target of DOR activation. This protein is a critical factor in the complex regulatory network of differentiation. The POU2F3 protein is expressed in two isoforms. The full length isoform, Skn-1a, functions as a transcriptional activator, while the other, Skn-1i, is capable of repressing transcription (Andersen et al., 1993; Cabral et al., 2003; Hildesheim et al., 1999; Takemoto et al., 2010). POU2F3 has been shown to regulate KRT 10 as well as IVL *in vitro*, two molecules the expression of which is altered in DOR-overexpressing cells. It was further suggested that the full length isoform enhances epidermal stratification by promoting keratinocyte proliferation (Hildesheim et al., 2001). In correlation with Hildesheim et al. we observed low proliferation and reduced POU2F3 expression, accompanied by poor stratification in DOR activated keratinocytes.

Andersen et al. reported that POU2F3-deficient mice showed no obvious deviation from normal skin phenotype, probably due to compensatory mechanisms, and so its function was proposed to be more important for wound healing (Andersen et al., 1997). Wound edge keratinocytes are more migratory and flexible than homeostatic keratinocytes in order to efficiently close the wound. POU2F3 was suggested to be repressed in these cells, to enable this phenotype change, and the DOR might be involved in this process. DOR-deficient mice experienced delayed wound healing and showed hypertrophic wound edges. The wound edge keratinocytes in these mice might not have undergone the necessary molecular changes, such as DOR-mediated downregulation of POU2F3, in order to migrate properly and close the wound efficiently (Bigliardi-Qi et al., 2006). Further experiments are necessary to clarify this connection with DOR activity as well as POU2F3 regulation during wound

healing. Further, the relevance of the two different POU2F3 isoforms in the function of DOR mediated KRT10 regulation remains to be elucidated.

During the wound healing process the exchange of soluble mediators between the epidermis and dermis compartments is crucial for appropriate wound healing. The cytokine IL-1 has been shown to be involved in this interaction. IL-1 produced by keratinocytes increases the PPAR  $\beta/\gamma$  expression in dermal fibroblasts. This activates sIL-1Ra production, a natural antagonist of IL-1 signalling. The secreted antagonist will repress the IL-1 effect on keratinocytes and therefore attenuate their proliferation, to avoid hyperproliferation at the wound side (Chong et al., 2009). The signalling of IL-1 was also shown to be involved in MMP regulation, important during the ECM remodelling phase of the wound healing process. The induction of the antagonist sIL-1Ra modulates MMP 8 and 13 expression in fibroblasts and our gene expression studies indicated as well a downregulation of MMP12 and MMP13 in HaCaT keratinocytes upon DOR activation. This suggests, that DOR downregulates these MMPs and might therefore explain the delayed wound healing in DOR-deficient mice, that displayed an increased expression of MMP2 at the wound side. Increased MMP activity might alter ECM remodelling and lead to an aberrant migration of the wound edge keratinocytes. MMP12 has mainly been described as macrophage elastase and is involved in bacterial clearance (Houghton et al., 2009; Lanone et al., 2002). Though, the catalytic domain can recognize and cleave skin collagen type I and III (Taddese et al., 2010) and its expression has been described in psoriatic lesions (Suomela et al., 2001). MMP13 has been shown to regulate wound granulation tissue and is involved in keratinocyte migration, angiogenesis and contraction in mouse skin wounds (Hattori et al., 2009; Toriseva et al., 2012). If DOR alters the ECM remodelling process and influences the crosstalk between keratinocytes and fibroblasts during wound healing, it might help to reduce scar formation by fine tuning the wound healing process. The spatio-temporal pattern of DOR activation during wound healing might herby play an important role. Rook et al. reported that topical morphine inhibited wound closure. They found delayed recruitment of macrophages and myofibroblasts, a prolonged inflammatory phase, delayed progression into the proliferative state and increased residual scar areas. The initial delay was transient and was made up by an accelerated re-epithelisation (Rook et al., 2007; Rook et al., 2008; Rook et al., 2009). Accordingly, in the current study, some organotypic cultures

with DOR-overexpressing cells showed reduced contraction of the dermal collagen lattice, which indicates an altered dermal-epidermal interaction and less myofibroblast formation. Together with the previously described DOR-mediated alterations of keratinocytes, this might indicate that DOR should not be activated in the early phases of wound healing, but its activity might be beneficial in the remodelling phase of the wound healing. The present study suggests that the DOR is expressed and activated in a spatially and temporally controlled manner in human skin cells. Deregulation will lead to alterations in epidermal differentiation and wound healing. The application of exogenous opioidergic drugs might therefore be helpful if applied to the right target cells and during the correct stages of wound healing, but importantly, this study highlights the fact that they may also be ineffective or harmful. Wounds are heterogeneous and the knowledge of the exact expression pattern of DOR during the normal wound healing process in different models would help to define the right moment for opioid treatments in the clinic. These experiments using human keratinocyte cell lines prove that opioids are not only involved in pain regulation during wounding but also in processes of wound healing and skin homeostasis.

#### Relevance of the DOR function in skin photoaging

The functions of DOR suggest that its activity could protect from photoaging. UV radiation modulates the release of MMPs and could change the structural integrity of the dermis (Kossodo et al., 2004). Destruction of the dermal collagen results in the formation of wrinkles. Slominski *et al.* described the release of the endogenous DOR agonist enkephalin upon UV radiation in cultured keratinocytes (Slominski et al., 2011). If at the same time the receptor is functionally active on the keratinocytes, this might start a signalling cascade, resulting in reduced MMP activity. This suggests a protective mechanism of DOR activity against UV induced aging. At the same time, DOR mediated inhibition of differentiation and the growth arrest of keratinocytes might protect from cancer formation. The activation of the ERK MAPK pathway can modulate different anti-proliferative events, such as apoptosis, autophagy, and senescence, depending on the stimulus and cell type. ERK mediated apoptosis and autophagy have been shown in keratinocytes by Lee *et al.* (Lee et al., 2005; Lee et al., 2006) in apoptosis models using DNA-damaging agents. Most likely, the intrinsic apoptotic pathway,

characterized by the release of cytochrom c from mitochondria and subsequent activation of the initiator caspase 9, is involved in this mechanism. Thereby a sustained ERK activity was important, which might not be initiated by DOR itself, but by the UV induced DNA damage. DOR signalling might modulate the signalling pathway to enhance apoptosis after UV radiation and therefore protect from carcinogenic transformations.

Additionally, ERK kinase activity has been related to induction of senescence. In response to oncogenic hyperproliferative signals, primary cells can undergo cell cycle arrest, leading to premature oncogene-induced senescence (Collado et al., 2007). This process is often triggered by constitutivly active forms of Ras, PAK4, Raf or MEK (Cagnol et al., 2010). Our four hour genexpression study indicated a downregulation of B-Raf in DOR activated HaCaT cells, and it would be of interest, if this could also be detected in N/TERT-1 cells. N/TERT-1 cells are closer to primary keratinocytes and might be more sensitive to oncogene-induced senescence. However, they are p16/INK4a-deficient, express TERT, and are not expected to induce senescence (Rheinwald et al., 2002). Keratinocytes have been shown to induce senescence independent of the telomere status but this process was p16/INK4a- and p53 dependent. However, in human fibroblasts inhibition of p16 or p53 was not sufficient to reverse senescence and might indicate that cells do not depend on these factors to induce senescence (Kuilman et al., 2008; Michaloglou et al., 2005; Zhuang et al., 2008).

#### **Conclusion and Perspectives**

The DOR is an important regulator of keratinocyte function, controlling the proliferationdifferentiation state, adhesion and migration of the cells. In the present work, the molecular mechanism driving inhibition of keratinocyte differentiation, by stimulation of the DOR, were demonstrated. Thereby, the ERK 1/2 MAPK signalling pathway, activated by the DOR, inhibits the transcription factor POU2F3. This impairs epidermal stratification by inhibiting proliferation and the expression of differentiation-related genes.

It was hypothesised, that this signalling cascade is involved in spinous-to-granular layer transition of keratinocytes during the process of stratification. Furthermore, the spatio-temporal morphological change of wound edge keratinocytes could be regulated by this pathway. This process is accompanied by further regulatory mechanisms, possibly influencing dermal-epidermal communication and ECM remodelling. A combination of several factors will determine the overall effect of the DOR during the wound healing process. Other functions, for example during photoaging, could also be assumed. Both, the exact involvement in wound healing and photoaging remain to be explored.

DOR cells are more motile and display altered expression of cellular adhesion molecules *in vitro*. These phenotype changes positively contribute to the wound healing process. Wound models could help to further explore these changes *in vivo*. Because the epidermal-dermal interaction is important during wound healing and photoaging, this has to be taken into account for future studies. The MMPs altered by the DOR on mRNA level, are supposed to target collagen type I or elastin fibres. It would be of interest to investigate alterations of these fibres, during the wound healing process or after UV radiation and to establish the correlation to DOR activation.

The limit of tools for endogenous DOR detection complicates the detailed characterisation of its expression pattern and cellular localisation. It is important to understand the *in vivo* triggers for DOR membrane localisation, in order to predict if cells will be responsive to opioid drugs. In certain pathological conditions DOR might be deregulated, leading to an enhancement of the symptoms.

The present manuscript revealed a Ca<sup>2+</sup> dependent cell surface localisation. It was evident that N/TERT-1 cultures under low Ca<sup>2+</sup> had less pronounced phenotypes. Proliferation was not different than in control cells and only a mild delay in keratinocyte differentiation could be detected. There are indications that other factors influence DOR function in keratinocytes as well. Our current culture conditions involve many unknown factors. In order to move away from the overexpression system, towards the detection of endogenous DOR functions in keratinocytes, we need to better understand the DOR. Primary keratinocytes in culture are very heterogeneous. Soluble factors and cell-cell contacts strongly influence the expression pattern of cell surface receptors, cytokines or hormones. Even *in vitro*, these factors are difficult to control and need therefore to be characterized. *In vivo*, further interaction levels are added to the system. The peripheral nervous system, immune cells and therefore their state. Fibroblast-keratinocyte co-cultures could help to identify soluble factors. Single cell PCR approaches might be used to characterise subpopulations of keratinocytes. There are still many unknown variables that need to be resolved, before we can address the effective clinical application of opioid treatments in skin therapy.



Figure 33 - Model for keratinocyte modulation upon triggered activation of DOR signalling

After an external trigger, DOR will be localised to the cell surface and the endogenous agonist enkephalin will be secreted. In a paracrine and autocrine mechanism DOR signalling will be activated in keratinocytes leading to alterations in gene expression and cell morphological changes. Keratinocytes secrete cytokines, such as IL-1, leading to a crosstalk with the dermal compartment and induction of remodelling processes. At the same time keratinocytes undergo morphological changes in order to migrate and adhere differently, necessary to efficiently respond to the changed environment.

## CHAPTER V

# MATERIAL AND METHODS

#### V. MATERIAL AND METHODS

#### V.1. Reagents

#### V.1.1. Chemicals

If not otherwise stated, all standard laboratory chemicals were of standard analytical (p.a.) grade and were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Switzerland, Singapore), Merck (Switzerland, Singapore), Applichem (Singapore), Promega (Switzerland, Singapore) or 1stBase (Singapore).

Opioid ligands SNC80 and Naltrindole were from Tocris Biosciences and Met-Enkephalin from Sigma Aldrich. The MEK 1 inhibitor PD98059 was purchased from Promega.

#### V.1.2. Reaction kits

The indicated reaction kits were used according to the manufacturer's instructions. Any changes to the protocols are mentioned in the corresponding methods section. The QIAshredder, RNeasy Mini Kit, RNase-Free DNase Set, QuantiTect SYBR Green PCR Kits, Effectene Transfection Reagent, and the Plasmid Purification Kit were from Qiagen<sup>®</sup>. The reverse transcription PrimeScript<sup>™</sup> RT-PCR Kit was purchased from TaKaRa.

#### V.1.3. Plasmids and constructs

Plasmids and expression vectors used in this study are listed in Table 2.

Plasmid Description Source/Reference hDOR-GFP in TRIP-PGKhDOR with C-terminal fusion to T. Baumann, M. Bigliardi-Qi NCBI entry NM 000911 **IRESNEO-WHV** GFP psPAX2 Lentiviral packaging Prof. C. Widmann, Lausanne, Switzerland Prof. C. Widmann, Lausanne, pMD2.G Lentiviral envelope Switzerland hDOR-GFP in pEZ-Lv122 hDOR with C-terminal fusion to EX-A1155-Lv122 GFP GeneCopoeia NCBI entry U10504

Table 2 - Plasmids and constructs used in this work

#### V.1.4. Antibodies

Primary antibodies used in this work are listed in table 3.

Antibody	Supplier/source	Species	Clone	Reference n°
α-p44/42 MAPK (ERK 1/2)	Cell Signaling	rabbit monoclonal	137F5	4695
α-Phospho- p44/42 MAPK (ERK 1/2) (Thr202/Tyr204)	Cell Signaling	rabbit monoclonal	197G2	4377
α-GFP	abcam	rabbit polyclonal		ab290
α-Keratin 10	abcam	mouse monoclonal	DE-K10	ab9026
α-Keratin 10	Thermo Fisher Scientific (Neomarkers)	mouse monoclonal	DE-K10	MS-611
α-Involucrin	Thermo Fisher Scientific (Neomarkers)	mouse monoclonal	Sy5	MS-126
α-ΡCΝΑ	Santa Cruz Biotechnology	rabbit polyclonal		sc-7907 (FL-261)
α-Desmoplakin	D. Garrod, University of Manchester, UK, E. Birgit Lane, IMB, Singapore	mouse monoclonal	11-5F	(Parrish et al., 1987);
α-α-Tubulin	Sigma-Aldrich	mouse monoclonal	DM 1A	T9026
α-Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH)	Life Technologies	mouse monoclonal	3E8AD9	A21994
α-Calnexin	abcam	mouse monoclonal	AF18	ab31290
α-ΕΕΑ1	BD Transduction Laboratories; Frederic Bard, IMCB, Singapore	mouse monoclonal	14/EEA1	610457
α-LAMP-1	Developed by J.T. August and J.E.K. Hildreth; Developmental Studies Hybridoma Bank developed under the auspices of the NICHD and maintained by the University of Iowa, Department of Biology; E. Birgit Lane, IMB, Singapore	mouse monoclonal	H4A3	(Hildreth et al., 1985)

Table 3 - Primary antibodies used in this work

#### Secondary antibodies

Secondary antibodies for immunofluorescence staining were from Life Technologies (Molecular Probes) goat anti-mouse AlexaFluor 594 conjugated, goat anti-rabbit AlexaFluor 488 conjugated, and goat anti-rabbit AlexaFluor 594 conjugated.

Secondary antibodies for immunoblot were goat anti-mouse IRDye 800 and goat anti-rabbit IRDye

700DX purchased from Rockland Immunochemicals as well as goat anti-rabbit AlexaFluor 680 conjugated from Life Technologies (Molecular Probes).

#### V.2. Methods

#### V.2.1. Cultivation of primary fibroblast

Human primary fibroblasts were isolated from infant foreskin. Briefly, the foreskin was trimmed of subcutaneous tissue and minced into small pieced using scissors. The tissue was transferred into a 0.25% dispase (Gibco) solution in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) and incubated overnight at 4 °C. The following day the epidermis was separated from the dermis. The dermis was then incubated in 0.25% Trypsin-EDTA (Gibco) at 37 °C for at least 40 min. The digested tissue was centrifuged for 10 min at 500 x g and washed once in DMEM medium. The remaining pellet was resuspended in 5 ml fibroblast growth medium containing DMEM (Gibco), 10% (v/v) foetal bovine serum (J R Scientific, PAA), 100 U/ml penicillin, and 100 µg/ml streptomycin (PAA) and platted 1:5 into separate 10 cm culture vessels. After overnight incubation at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> medium was changed and remaining dermis pieces removed from the culture. Cultures were kept until 80% confluence and medium changed every second day. To detach adherent cells they were washed with PBS (without Ca<sup>2+</sup> and Mg<sup>2+</sup>) and incubated for up to 5 min with trypsin/EDTA or TrypLE<sup>TM</sup> Express (Gibco) at 37°C. Trypsination was stopped by addition of serum containing culture medium. The primary fibroblasts were used until passage 6.

#### V.2.2. Cultivation of keratinocytes

#### Primary keratinocytes

Primary human keratinocytes were isolated from infant foreskin. The foreskin was trimmed of subcutaneous tissue and minced into small pieced using scissors. The tissue was transferred into a 0.25% dispase solution in DMEM and incubated overnight at 4 °C. The following day the epidermis was separated from the dermis. The epidermis was then incubated in 0.25% Trypsin-EDTA at 37 °C for 30 min. The digested tissue was centrifuged for 10 min at 500 x g and washed once in keratinocyte

serum-free medium (K-SFM; Gibco). The remaining pellet was resuspended in 5 ml keratinocyte growth medium containing K-SFM (Gibco; 0.09 mM Ca<sup>2+</sup>), supplemented with 5 ng/ml epidermal growth factor (EGF) and 50  $\mu$ g/ml Bovine Pituitary Extract (BPE; Gibco) and platted 1:5 into 10 cm culture vessels. After overnight incubation at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> medium was changed and remaining larger pieces removed from the culture. The cells were grown to 70% confluence at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> and subcultured using 0.25% Trypsin-EDTA. Trypsinisation was stopped by removing the enzyme solution after centrifugation and approximately 1 x 10<sup>4</sup> per T75 flask were carried as stock. Cells were used until passage 4.

#### HaCaT cells

HaCaT cells (Boukamp et al., 1988) were maintained in DMEM containing 10% (v/v) foetal bovine serum, 100 U/ml penicillin, and 100  $\mu$ g/ml streptomycin in a humidified 5% CO<sub>2</sub> atmosphere at 37°C. To detach adherent cells they were washed with PBS (without Ca<sup>2+</sup> and Mg<sup>2+</sup>) and incubated for up to 8 min with trypsin/EDTA or TrypLE<sup>TM</sup> Express at 37°C. Trypsination was stopped by addition of serum containing culture medium. Cells were subcultured every 2-3 days.

#### N/TERT-1 cells

N/TERT-1 (Dickson et al., 2000; Rheinwald et al., 2002) cells, developed at Dr. J. Rheinwald's laboratory (Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA) are derived from neonatal foreskin and immortalized by transfection to express telomerase reverse transcriptase (TERT). They were cultured in K-SFM supplemented with 0.2 ng/ml EGF and 25  $\mu$ g/ml BPE and an adjusted Ca<sup>2+</sup> concentration to 0.4 mM, grown to 50% confluence at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub> and subcultured using TrypLE<sup>TM</sup> Express. Trypsinisation was stopped by removing the enzyme solution after centrifugation and approximately 1 x 10<sup>4</sup> per T75 flask were carried as stock. Cells were subcultured every 7 days and medium was changed every 2-3 days.

### V.2.3. Plasmid Purification, cultivation of HEK 293 cells, lentiviral production, and viral transduction

#### Plasmid purification

For amplification of plasmid DNA the bacterial strain XL1-blue was transformed. Cultures were grown at 37°C in LB medium containing the appropriate antibiotic. Plasmids were purified from overnight cultures inoculated with a single colony using the Qiagen<sup>®</sup> plasmid purification kit following the manufacturer's instructions. The DNA concentration was determined by measuring the optical density of the sample at a wavelength of 260 nm (OD 260) using a spectrophotometer.

#### Cultivation of HEK 293 cells

HEK 293FT and HEK 293Ta cells were cultured in DMEM containing 10% foetal bovine serum, MEM Non-Essential Amino Acids (Gibco), and 100 U/ml penicillin and 100  $\mu$ g/ml streptomycin, at 37°C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. To detach adherent cells they were washed with PBS (without Ca<sup>2+</sup> and Mg<sup>2+</sup>) and incubated for up to 2 min with trypsin/EDTA or TrypLE<sup>TM</sup> Express at 37°C. Trypsination was stopped by addition of serum containing culture medium. Cells were subcultured every 2-3 days.

#### Lentiviral particle production

Production of recombinant lentiviral particles was modified from the method described by J.Y. Yang et al. (Yang et al., 2004). In brief, HEK293FT cells were co-transfected using the calcium phosphate DNA precipitation method (Jordan et al., 1996) with 20 µg of the lentiviral vector (TRIP-PGK-IRESNEO-WHV) containing the cDNA of interest (hDOR-GFP), 6 µg of the envelope protein-coding plasmid (pMD2.G), and 15 µg of the packaging construct (psPAX2) in a 10 cm culture dish. HEK293Ta cells were transfected with purified 1.5 µg of DOR plasmid (GeneCopoeia) and 1 µg of human lentiviral packaging and envelope vectors (psPax, pMD2.G) using Qiagen<sup>®</sup> Effectene Transfection Reagent, according to manufacturer's instructions. 48 h after transfection, the virus-containing medium was harvested and concentrated by ultracentrifugation at 22.000 rpm at 4°C for 2 hours and 16 min in a Beckman Coulter JS-24.38 rotor.

#### Titration of lentiviral particles

The titer of the viral stock was determined as described by (Barde et al., 2010). Briefly, target cells were transduced with a serial dilution of virus particles in a 12-well plate and incubated for 48 h. Cells were then harvested and fixed in 1% formaldehyde in PBS for 5 min. Fixed cells were washed and GFP expression was analysed using flow cytometry. Dilutions yielding 1% to 20% of GFP positive cells were used for titer calculations.

T /ml 
$$\frac{\text{(Number of target cells counted at day of plating } P positi e cells)}{\text{olume of iral particles in ml}}$$

#### Transduction of target cells

Transduction of all keratinocytes (HaCaT and N/TERT-1 cell lines, primary keratinocytes) was performed at 30% confluence with a multiplicity of infection of approximately 10, in the presence of 10  $\mu$ g/ml Polybrene (Millipore). After 24 hours incubation at 37°C in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> humidified atmosphere, the viral particle-containing medium was replaced with fresh medium and cells were further cultured for at least 48 hours before being used in specific experiments.

#### V.2.4. Treatment of cells

For ligand treatment keratinocytes were grown in 6-well culture vessels until 90% confluence. Cells were starved of growth supplement for 6 h (HaCaT) or overnight (N/TERT-1), due to the different media compositions and the corresponding ligand was added for the respective time. Inhibitor PD98059 was added 30 min prior to agonist addition and the DOR antagonist Naltrindole 5 min prior to agonists. Treatment of cells was at a final concentration of 100 nM for SNC80, 100 nM [Met<sup>5</sup>]- enkephalin, 10  $\mu$ M Naltrindole, 20  $\mu$ M PD98059, or DMSO vehicle control. SNC80 and PD98059 were dissolved in DMSO and [Met<sup>5</sup>]-enkephalin and Naltrindole in water. DMSO (0.001 – 0.1% final) was added to control cells.

#### V.2.5. xCELLigence impedance measurements

A 96-well E-plate was filled with 50  $\mu$ l of complete DMEM per well and the background was measured in the xCELLigence machine. 4000 HaCaT cells per well were added in a total volume of 100  $\mu$ l and cell index was continuously measured every 15 min for 1 h followed by hourly measurements for two days. 10  $\mu$ l of diluted ligand was added to the medium and the impedance was measured every minute for 3 h and then switched to hourly measurement for continues observation. The measurement was normalized to the time point before addition of ligands and the values for the cell index generated by the xCELLigence software extracted and analysed using GraphPad Prism 5.

#### V.2.6. Gene expression analysis

#### Extraction of total RNA

After the respective time of the treatment was over, the medium from 6 cm culture vessels containing 90% confluent HaCaT cells was aspirated and cells were once rinsed with PBS. 1 ml TRIZOL (Invitrogen) was added at room temperature and cell lysates collected in an RNase free microtube. Lysates were shortly vortexed, frozen in liquid nitrogen, and stored at -80 °C until further extraction. Samples were then thawed, 200 ul Chloroform added, shaked vigorously by hand for 15 s, and incubated at room temperature for 3 min. Microtubes were centrifuged at full speed for 15 min at 4 °C and the upper aqueous phase transferred into a new tube. 500 µl Chloroform were added to the aqueous phase, samples were vortexed, and centrifuged at full speed for 15 min at 4 °C. The upper phase was transferred into a fresh tube and subjected to another round of chloroform extraction. To the fresh aqueous phase an equal volume of 70% ethanol was added and the solution mixed by pipetting. The samples were loaded onto an RNeasy column (Qiagen<sup>®</sup>) and centrifuged for 15 s at 10,000 rpm at room temperature. The column was washed with 700 µl buffer RW1 from the RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen<sup>®</sup>) and centrifuged at 10,000 rpm for 15 s. this washing step was repeated a second time. The column was placed into a new collection tube and washed twice with 500 µl buffer RPE from the RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen<sup>®</sup>). After a final centrifugation for 2 min at 10,000 rpm RNA was eluted with 50 µl of water and put on ice. The RNA concentration was determined by the optical density of the sample at 260 nm (OD260) using a spectrophotometer and chemical purity determined by the ratio of the 260 / 230 nm reading from the spectrophotometer.

RNA was further purified by sodium acetate precipitation. To 100  $\mu$ l of RNA in water 10  $\mu$ l of 3 M sodium acetate, pH 5.2 were added. Further, 2  $\mu$ l Glycogene (5 mg/ml) and 275  $\mu$ l cold 100% ethanol were added. Solution was mixed well and incubated at -80 °C for 40 min. Samples were centrifuged at 4 °C at full speed for 40 min. Supernatant was removed and pellet washed with 70% ethanol. Samples were centrifuged at full speed for 5 min at 4 °C and washed a second time with 70% ethanol. After centrifugation and removal of supernatant, the pellet was completely air-dried at room temperature, finally resuspended in water, and left on ice for 10 min. Samples were vortexed and quick spun and the RNA concentration determined by measuring the optical density of the sample at 260 nm (OD260) using a spectrophotometer.

#### Target preparation and hybridisation on microarray

RNA was further processed by the Lausanne Genomic Technologies Facility to prepare the probes for the Affymetrix whole transcriptome microarray analysis. The Ambion<sup>®</sup> WT Expression Kit was used to generate sense strand cDNA from total RNA for further fragmentation and labelling using the Affymetrix GeneChip<sup>®</sup> WT Terminal Labeling Kit according to the manufacturer's recommendations. The processed samples were hybridized on a human gene 1.0 ST array and the generated expression profile analysed. Three replicates for each condition (DOR-overexpression vehicle treated, DOR-overexpression agonist treated, GFP control cells vehicle treated, and GFP control cells agonist treated) were scanned, normalized and data transformed to logarithmic scale to the base 2 for statistical calculations in a 2x2 factorial design.

#### Statistical analysis of the microarray data

A linear model was built with the four experimental groups as factors and the comparisons of interest as contrasts were extracted. The adjusted p-values (controlling for FDR, false discovery rate) were computed separately for each comparison using the Benjamini-Hochberg method. Comparisons were the DOR effect (DOR.DMSO vs CTL.DMSO), the agonist effect (CTL.agonist vs CTL.DMSO), the DOR effect in presence of agonist (DOR.agonist vs CTL.agonist), the agonist effect in presence of DOR (DOR.agonist vs DOR.DMSO) and the interaction ((DOR.aonist-DOR.DMSO) vs (CTL.agonist-CTL.DMSO)). The adjusted p-value was used to test for significant differential expression (p < 0.05). The data received from the interaction comparison were used for subsequent studies. The gene enrichment of functional pathways was performed using the MetaCore GeneGo software. Hierarchical clustering of expression patters was performed using Cluster 3.0 and JTree View programs (Eisen et al., 1998). The interaction ratios were shown by heat map using red and green colour codes for up- and down-regulation, respectively. The experiments were ordered by drug and cell type in columns of the heat map for visualisation of patterns following treatment with agonists.

#### V.2.7. Extraction of total RNA

Total RNA from cultured cells in a 6-well culture vessel was isolated using the RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen<sup>®</sup>) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The RNA concentration was determined by the optical density of the sample at 260 nm (OD260) using a spectrophotometer. If not used immediately, the RNA was quick frozen on dry ice or in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80 °C.

#### V.2.8. Reverse transcriptase PCR (RT-PCR)

Reverse transcription was performed according to the provided manual of the PrimeScript RT reagent Kit (TaKaRa). The reaction was performed in a total volume of 20  $\mu$ l, containing 1  $\mu$ g RNA, 25 pmol Oligo dT Primer, 50 pmol Random 6 mers, 1X PrimeScript buffer, and PrimeScript RT Enzyme Mix I. The reaction mixture was incubated at 37 °C for 20 min, followed by 85 °C for 5 s and cooling to 4 °C.

#### V.2.9. Quantitative real-time PCR

Quantitative PCR assays were carried out on a real-time PCR detection system (StepOne<sup>™</sup> Real-Time PCR System or 7500 Fast Real-Time PCR System; Applied Biosystems) using Power SYBR Green PCR Master Mix (Applied Biosystems) or QuantiFast SYBR Green PCR Kit (Qiagen<sup>®</sup>) in a reaction volume of 20 µl, employing approximately 30 ng of cDNA template. To evaluate the expression level of human KRT1, KRT10, IVL, and POU2F3 mRNAs, commercially available QuantiTect Primer Assays (Qiagen<sup>®</sup>, reference n° QT00014182, QT00017045, QT00082586, and QT00029057) were used. Primers for loricrin (LOR), filaggrin (FLG), Hypoxanthine phosphoribosyl transferase 1 (HPRT1), and Ribosomal protein L13a (RPL13a) are listed in table 4.

The RPL13a expression was used for normalization in all N/TERT-1 experiments and HPRT1 in all HaCaT experiments. Quantification was performed using the comparative  $2-\Delta\Delta$ CT method.

Table 4 - Real-time PCR primer used in this work

Name	Sequence	source
LOR forward	5'-TCA TGA TGC TAC CCG AGG TTT G-3'	(Kovacs et al., 2012)
LOR reverse	5'-CAG AAC TAG ATG CAG CCG GAG A-3	(Kovacs et al., 2012)
FLG forward	5'-GAA GAC AAG GAT CGC ACC AC-3'	(Kovacs et al., 2012)
FLG reverse	5'-ATG GTG TCC TGA CCC TCT TG-3'	(Kovacs et al., 2012)
RPL13a forward	5'-CTC AAG GTC GTG CGT CTG AA-3'	D. Hohl, Lausanne, Switzerland
RPL13a reverse	5'-TGG CTG TCA CTG CCT GGT ACT-3'	D. Hohl, Lausanne, Switzerland
HPRT1 forward	5'-TGA CAC TGG CAA AAC AAT GCA-3'	D. Hohl, Lausanne, Switzerland
HPRT1 reverse	5'-GGT CCT TTT CAC CAG CAA GCT-3'	D. Hohl, Lausanne, Switzerland

#### V.2.10. Extraction of proteins for Western blot analysis

After the appropriate treatment the reaction was stopped by aspiration of the medium following a two times wash step with ice cold PBS. Plates were either frozen in -80 °C and extracted at a later time point or immediately subjected to protein extraction. Cells were lysed in RIPA-like lysis buffer, comprising 137 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, 4.3 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 1.47 mM KH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, 1% IGEPAL CA-630, 0.1% SDS, 0.5% Sodium deoxycholic acid at pH 7.4, freshly supplemented with 1 mM DTT, 1 mM PMSF, 10 mM Na<sub>3</sub>VO<sub>4</sub>, and 1x protease inhibitor (Roche).

Proteins were quantified using the Bradford method (Bradford, 1976) with a colorimetric assay using

Protein Assay (Bio-Rad) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Protein extracts for keratin detection were prepared by lysis of cells with a buffer containing 10 mM TRIS-HCL, 5 mM EDTA, 5 mM EGTA at pH 7.5, supplemented with 4% SDS, 1% Triton X-100, 160 mM DTT, 0.8 mM PMSF, 0.8 mM Na<sub>3</sub>VO<sub>4</sub>, and 1x protease inhibitor. Lysates were boiled for 5 min at 95 °C and kept at 4 °C until gel electrophoresis.

#### V.2.11. SDS-Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)

20 µg of protein per cell extract were separated on vertical, discontinuous SDS-polyacylamide gels (Laemmli, 1970). Samples were prepared by addition of 6x SDS sample buffer and heating at 95°C for 5 min. Depending on the required separation range the acrylamide concentration was adjusted to 10% or 12% in casting gel buffer. The composition of the stacking gel was 5% acrylamide in stacking gel buffer. Electrophoresis was performed with SDS running buffer at 30 mA per gel using Mini-PROTEAN<sup>®</sup> electrophoresis chambers (Biorad). The prestained molecular weight marker PageRuler Plus (Fermentas) was used as a size reference.

#### V.2.12. Immunoblot analysis (Western blot)

After protein separation via SDS-PAGE samples were subsequently transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane (Bio-Rad) by electroblotting using the wet technique. Blotting was performed at 100 V for 1 h 32 min with the Mini Trans-Blot<sup>®</sup> Cell (BioRad). Membranes were next incubated for at least 30 min in TBS (20 mM TRIS, 150 mM NaCl, pH 7.5) blocking solution, containing 0.1% Tween-20 and 5% non-fat milk. The primary antibody was added and incubated either for 45 min at room temperature or overnight at 4 °C.

The ERK specific antibodies were incubated with a 1:1000 dilution in TBS containing 0.1% Tween-20 and 5% BSA overnight at 4°C. or the APDH (:8), the  $\alpha$ -Tubulin (1:2000), and KRT10 (1:200) antibodies blots were incubated in TBS containing 0.1% Tween-20 and 5% non-fat milk overnight at 4°C (KRT10) or for 45 min at room temperature (APDH,  $\alpha$ -Tubulin). Blots were then washed with TBS-Tween 0.1%, incubated with the appropriate secondary antibody (1:5000 dilution)

for 1 hour at room temperature and subsequently visualized with the Odyssey infrared imaging system (LICOR Biosciences). Quantification of the fluorescence signal was done using the Odyssey software and normalized to the background signal. Obtained values of integrated intensity were exported to an EXCEL file, and relative ERK phosphorylation was calculated by normalization to the total ERK signal and the respective vehicle control as reference for each group.

To reprobe a blotting membrane with a different primary antibody, the membranes were stripped off the bound antibodies. They were incubated for 2x 30 min at room temperature in stripping buffer containing 25 mM Glycine, 1.5% SDS at pH 2. Following extensive washing with TBS-T for 1 h, the membranes were blocked for 45 min in blocking solution before addition of the new primary antibody.

#### V.2.13. Immunocytochemistry and fluorescence microscopy

Primary keratinocytes, HaCaT, or N/TERT-1 cells were seeded into 24-well plates containing glass coverslips and subjected to the treatments indicated in the figures. Cells were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde for 15 min at room temperature, washed twice with PBS, permeabilised and blocked using 0.3% Triton X-100 and 10% goat serum in PBS for 1 h at room temperature. The co erslips were incubated o ernight at 4°C with the corresponding primary antibodies ( $\alpha$ -GFP 1:900,  $\alpha$ -desmoplakin : ,  $\alpha$ -calnexin : 8 ,  $\alpha$ -EEA : 3 , and  $\alpha$ -LAMP-1 1:100) diluted in PBS, 5% goat serum, 0.1% Triton X-100. After three washes in PBS, coverslips were incubated for 1 h with a 1:300 dilution of labelled secondary antibodies in PBS. The coverslips were then washed three times in PBS and stained with 10 µg/ml Hoechst 33258 (Sigma Aldrich), washed twice in PBS and mounted onto microscope slides (Fluorescence Mounting Medium, Dako)

HaCaT cells and primary keratinocytes from Figure were examined by conventional widefield fluorescence microscopy using a Zeiss Axiovision Imaging system equipped with a Plan-Neofluar 40x/1.30 NA oil-immersion lens.

Confocal images of stained HaCaT cells were captured as z-stacks and projected to a single image using an Olympus FV1000 microscope system with an UPLSAPO 100X/1.40 NA or UPLFLN

121

40x/1.3 NA oil-immersion lens.

### V.2.14. Immunohistochemistry and confocal microscopy of organotypic cultures

Organotypic skin cultures were fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin. Paraffin embedding, sectioning, and haematoxylin and eosin staining was provided by the Institute of Molecular and Cell Biology Core Histopathology Laboratory, Singapore. Five micron thick sections were deparaffinised and stained with haematoxylin/eosin for morphological analysis. For fluorescence imaging deparaffinised sections underwent heat-mediated antigen retrieval in citrate buffer at pH 6 following blocking with 10% goat serum in PBS, 0.5% Tween-20 and 1% BSA. Antibodies were subsequently added and incubated overnight at 4 °C. Slides were then washed in PBS/0.5% Tween-20 and incubated for 1 h with a 1:300 dilution of secondary antibody. After further washing steps, nuclei were counterstained with Hoechst dye (see above) for 5 min at room temperature and mounted with Dako Fluorescence Mounting Medium. Confocal images were captured as z-stacks and projected to a single image using an Olympus FV1000 microscope system with an UPLFLN 40x/1.3 NA oil-immersion lens and UPLSAPO 20x/0.75 NA dry lens. Haematoxylin and eosin staining was imaged using a Ariol high resolution fluorescence and brightfield slide scanner as service by the Institute of Molecular and Cell Biology Core Histopathology Laboratory, Singapore.

#### V.2.15. Incucyte proliferation assay

1000 N/TERT-1 cells per well were plated into a 96-well plate and allowed to adhere overnight. The next day, medium was changed to either vehicle control medium or 100 nM SNC80-containing medium, and the plate was placed into the Incucyte machine. The machine captured images of the cultures every hour with the 10x/1.49 NA dry objective lens. Percentage confluence was calculated from the images using the metrics from the Incucyte software. The doubling time was calculated in GraphPad Prism 5 from the obtained growth curve using a nonlinear regression model, and is displayed as mean with upper and lower limit.

#### V.2.16. Organotypic culture

A dermal equivalent was generated under sterile conditions by preparing a gel containing rat tail collagen type I (BD, reference n°354236) and dermal fibroblasts (100,000 cells per ml). 2 ml of this suspension were transferred into a cell culture insert (pore size 1 µm, BD) in a 6-well plate and incubated for three hours at 37 °C and 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, until solidified. Dermal equivalents were cultured in A D medium: DMEM, and HAM's 2 medium (3:) supplemented with U/ml penicillin, and 100 µg/ml streptomycin (PAA), 10% foetal bovine serum (J R Scientific), 1% Glutamax (Life Technologies), 0.4 µg/ml Hydrocortisone (Sigma-Aldrich), 5 µg/ml Insulin (Sigma-Aldrich),  $1.8 \times 10^{-4}$  M Adenine (Sigma-Aldrich), 10 ng/ml EGF (Sigma-Aldrich), 5 µg/ml Transferrin (Sigma-Aldrich), and  $2 \times 10^{-11}$  M 3.3',5-Triiodo-L-thyronine (T3) (Sigma-Aldrich). After 48 h, N/TERT-1 cells (200,000 per culture) were seeded on top of the dermal equivalent and cultured under submerged conditions in FAD medium until a confluent keratinocyte monolayer had developed. Cultures were then shifted to air-liquid interface conditions by placing the culture insert into a deepwell plate (BD). Medium was changed to FAD medium without EGF supplementation and cultures were grown for 14 days. Subsequently, cultures were cut in half: one part was fixed in 10% neutral buffered formalin, while the other was frozen in Tissue-Tek O.C.T. compound (Sakura, USA) for further analysis.

#### V.2.17. Quantification of the epidermal area from organotypic cultures

The whole Haematoxylin and eosin stained tissue section was imaged using an Ariol high resolution fluorescence and brightfield slide scanner as service by the Institute of Molecular and Cell Biology Core Histopathology Laboratory, Singapore. The darker Haematoxylin and eosin staining represents the epidermis generated by the respective N/TERT-1 cells. Using ImageJ a threshold was defined to exclude all non epidermal tissue from the image and the remaining area was quantified. The experiment was performed in duplicates and repeated three times. For each experiment the mean of the GFP control and DOR cultures were normalised to the untransduced wild type control and the three independent experiments were combined for statistical analysis. A one-way ANOVA analysis with a Newman-Keuls post-hoc-test was performed in order to determine the p-value.

## CHAPTER VI

# REFERENCES

- Abassi, Y. A., Jackson, J. A., Zhu, J., O'Connell, J., Wang, X. et al. (2004) Label-free, realtime monitoring of IgE-mediated mast cell activation on microelectronic cell sensor arrays. J.Immunol.Methods 292: 195 - 205.
- Adams, J. C. and Watt, F. M. (1989) Fibronectin inhibits the terminal differentiation of human keratinocytes. Nature 340: 307 309.
- Abercrombie, M., James, D. W., and Newcombe, J. F. (1960) Wound contraction in rabbit skin, studied by splinting the wound margins. J.Anat. 94: 170 182.
- Aebersold, D. M., Shaul, Y. D., Yung, Y., Yarom, N., Yao, Z. et al. (2004) Extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1c (ERK1c), a novel 42-kilodalton ERK, demonstrates unique modes of regulation, localization, and function. Mol.Cell Biol. 24: 10000 - 10015.
- Alonso, M., Melani, M., Converso, D., Jaitovich, A., Paz, C. et al. (2004) Mitochondrial extracellular signal-regulated kinases 1/2 (ERK1/2) are modulated during brain development. J.Neurochem. 89: 248 - 256.
- Ananthan, S. (2006) Opioid ligands with mixed mu/delta opioid receptor interactions: an emerging approach to novel analgesics. AAPS.J. 8: E118 E125.
- Andersen, B., Schonemann, M. D., Flynn, S. E., Pearse, R. V., Singh, H. et al. (1993) Skn-1a and Skn-1i: two functionally distinct Oct-2-related factors expressed in epidermis. Science 260: 78 - 82.
- Andersen, B., Hariri, A., Pittelkow, M. R., and Rosenfeld, M. G. (1997a) Characterization of Skn-1a/i POU domain factors and linkage to papillomavirus gene expression. J.Biol.Chem. 272: 15905 - 15913.
- Andersen, B., Weinberg, W. C., Rennekampff, O., McEvilly, R. J., Bermingham, J. R., Jr. et al. (1997b) Functions of the POU domain genes Skn-1a/i and Tst-1/Oct-6/SCIP in epidermal differentiation. Genes Dev 11: 1873 - 1884.
- Andersen, B. and Rosenfeld, M. G. (2001) POU domain factors in the neuroendocrine system: lessons from developmental biology provide insights into human disease. Endocr.Rev. 22: 2 35.
- Archer-Lahlou, E., Audet, N., Amraei, M. G., Huard, K., Paquin-Gobeil, M. et al. (2009) Src promotes delta opioid receptor (DOR) desensitization by interfering with receptor recycling. J Cell Mol Med 13: 147 - 163.
- Arwert, E. N., Hoste, E., and Watt, F. M. (2012) Epithelial stem cells, wound healing and cancer. Nat.Rev.Cancer 12: 170 180.
- Atienza, J. M., Zhu, J., Wang, X., Xu, X., and Abassi, Y. (2005) Dynamic monitoring of cell adhesion and spreading on microelectronic sensor arrays. J.Biomol.Screen. 10: 795 -805.
- Audet, N., Paquin-Gobeil, M., Landry-Paquet, O., Schiller, P. W., and Pineyro, G. (2005) Internalization and Src activity regulate the time course of ERK activation by delta opioid receptor ligands. J Biol Chem 280: 7808 - 7816.

- Ballet, S., Pietsch, M., and Abell, A. D. (2008) Multiple ligands in opioid research. Protein Pept.Lett. 15: 668 682.
- Balsitis, S.J., Sage, J., Duensing, S., Munger, K., Jacks, T. et al. (2003) Recapitulation of the effects of the human papillomavirus type 16 E7 oncogene on mouse epithelium by somatic Rb deletion and detection of pRb-independent effects of E7 in vivo. Mol.Cell Biol. 23: 9094 - 9103.
- Barde, I., Salmon, P., and Trono, D. (2010) Production and titration of lentiviral vectors. Curr.Protoc.Neurosci. Chapter 4: Unit 4.21.1 - Unit 4.21.23.
- Baroni, A., Buommino, E., De, G., V, Ruocco, E., Ruocco, V. et al. (2012) Structure and function of the epidermis related to barrier properties. Clin.Dermatol. 30: 257 262.
- Barron, B. A., Gu, H., Gaugl, J. F., and Caffrey, J. L. (1992) Screening for opioids in dog heart. J.Mol.Cell Cardiol. 24: 67 77.
- Befort, K., Tabbara, L., Kling, D., Maigret, B., and Kieffer, B. L. (1996) Role of aromatic transmembrane residues of the delta-opioid receptor in ligand recognition. J Biol Chem 271: 10161 10168.
- Belcheva, M. M., Szucs, M., Wang, D., Sadee, W., and Coscia, C. J. (2001) mu-Opioid receptor-mediated ERK activation involves calmodulin-dependent epidermal growth factor receptor transactivation. J Biol Chem 276: 33847 - 33853.
- Belcheva, M. M. and Coscia, C. J. (2002) Diversity of G protein-coupled receptor signaling pathways to ERK/MAP kinase. Neurosignals. 11: 34 44.
- Bell, E., Sher, S., Hull, B., Merrill, C., Rosen, S. et al. (1983) The reconstitution of living skin. J.Invest Dermatol. 81: 2s 10s.
- Bernard, B. A., Robinson, S. M., Vandaele, S., Mansbridge, J. N., and Darmon, M. (1985) Abnormal maturation pathway of keratinocytes in psoriatic skin. Br.J.Dermatol. 112: 647 - 653.
- Bessler, H., Sztein, M. B., and Serrate, S. A. (1990) Beta-endorphin modulation of IL-1induced IL-2 production. Immunopharmacology 19: 5 - 14.
- Bessou-Touya, S., Picardo, M., Maresca, V., Surleve-Bazeille, J. E., Pain, C. et al. (1998) Chimeric human epidermal reconstructs to study the role of melanocytes and keratinocytes in pigmentation and photoprotection. J.Invest Dermatol. 111: 1103 -1108.
- Bian, J. M., Wu, N., Su, R. B., and Li, J. (2012) Opioid receptor trafficking and signaling: what happens after opioid receptor activation? Cell Mol.Neurobiol. 32: 167 184.
- Bigliardi, P. L., Bigliardi-Qi, M., Buechner, S., and Rufli, T. (1998) Expression of mu-opiate receptor in human epidermis and keratinocytes. J Invest Dermatol 111: 297 301.
- Bigliardi, P. L., Buchner, S., Rufli, T., and Bigliardi-Qi, M. (2002) Specific stimulation of migration of human keratinocytes by mu-opiate receptor agonists. J Recept Signal Transduct Res 22: 191 - 199.

- Bigliardi, P. L., Tobin, D. J., Gavériaux-Ruff, C., and Bigliardi-Qi, M. (2009) Opioids and the skin--where do we stand? Exp Dermatol 18: 424 430.
- Bigliardi-Qi, M., Bigliardi, P. L., Buchner, S., and Rufli, T. (1999) Characterization of muopiate receptor in human epidermis and keratinocytes. Ann N Y Acad Sci 885: 368 -371.
- Bigliardi-Qi, M., Bigliardi, P. L., Eberle, A. N., Buchner, S., and Rufli, T. (2000) betaendorphin stimulates cytokeratin 16 expression and downregulates mu-opiate receptor expression in human epidermis. J Invest Dermatol 114: 527 - 532.
- Bigliardi-Qi, M., Lipp, B., Sumanovski, L. T., Buechner, S. A., and Bigliardi, P. L. (2005) Changes of epidermal mu-opiate receptor expression and nerve endings in chronic atopic dermatitis. Dermatology 210: 91 - 99.
- Bigliardi-Qi, M., Gavériaux-Ruff, C., Zhou, H., Hell, C., Bady, P. et al. (2006) Deletion of delta-opioid receptor in mice alters skin differentiation and delays wound healing. Differentiation 74: 174 - 185.
- Bigliardi-Qi, M., Gavériaux-Ruff, C., Pfaltz, K., Bady, P., Baumann, T. et al. (2007) Deletion of mu- and kappa-opioid receptors in mice changes epidermal hypertrophy, density of peripheral nerve endings, and itch behavior. J Invest Dermatol 127: 1479 1488.
- Blanpain, C. and Fuchs, E. (2009) Epidermal homeostasis: a balancing act of stem cells in the skin. Nat.Rev.Mol.Cell Biol. 10: 207 217.
- Blanton, R. A., Kupper, T. S., McDougall, J. K., and Dower, S. (1989) Regulation of interleukin 1 and its receptor in human keratinocytes. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A 86: 1273 - 1277.
- Bohn, L. M., Lefkowitz, R. J., Gainetdinov, R. R., Peppel, K., Caron, M. G. et al. (1999) Enhanced morphine analgesia in mice lacking beta-arrestin 2. Science 286: 2495 -2498.
- Bohn, L. M., Gainetdinov, R. R., Lin, F. T., Lefkowitz, R. J., and Caron, M. G. (2000) Muopioid receptor desensitization by beta-arrestin-2 determines morphine tolerance but not dependence. Nature 408: 720 - 723.
- Bohn, L. M., Lefkowitz, R. J., and Caron, M. G. (2002) Differential mechanisms of morphine antinociceptive tolerance revealed in (beta)arrestin-2 knock-out mice. J.Neurosci. 22: 10494 - 10500.
- Bohn, L. M., Gainetdinov, R. R., Sotnikova, T. D., Medvedev, I. O., Lefkowitz, R. J. et al. (2003) Enhanced rewarding properties of morphine, but not cocaine, in beta(arrestin)-2 knock-out mice. J.Neurosci. 23: 10265 - 10273.
- Borlongan, C. V., Wang, Y., and Su, T. P. (2004) Delta opioid peptide (D-Ala 2, D-Leu 5) enkephalin: linking hibernation and neuroprotection. Front Biosci. 9: 3392 3398.

- Borlongan, C. V., Hayashi, T., Oeltgen, P. R., Su, T. P., and Wang, Y. (2009) Hibernationlike state induced by an opioid peptide protects against experimental stroke. BMC.Biol. 7
- Boulais, N. and Misery, L. (2008) The epidermis: a sensory tissue. Eur.J.Dermatol. 18: 119 127.
- Boukamp, P., Petrussevska, R. T., Breitkreutz, D., Hornung, J., Markham, A. et al. (1988) Normal keratinization in a spontaneously immortalized aneuploid human keratinocyte cell line. J Cell Biol 106: 761 - 771.
- Bradford, M. M. (1976) A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. Anal.Biochem. 72: 248 254.
- Brami-Cherrier, K., Roze, E., Girault, J. A., Betuing, S., and Caboche, J. (2009) Role of the ERK/MSK1 signalling pathway in chromatin remodelling and brain responses to drugs of abuse. J.Neurochem. 108: 1323 1335.
- Brantl, V., Teschemacher, H., Henschen, A., and Lottspeich, F. (1979) Novel opioid peptides derived from casein (beta-casomorphins). I. Isolation from bovine casein peptone. Hoppe Seylers.Z.Physiol Chem. 360: 1211 - 1216.
- Brantl, V., Gramsch, C., Lottspeich, F., Mertz, R., Jaeger, K. H. et al. (1986) Novel opioid peptides derived from hemoglobin: hemorphins. Eur.J.Pharmacol. 125: 309 310.
- Brazzini, B., Ghersetich, I., Hercogova, J., and Lotti, T. (2003) The neuro-immunocutaneous-endocrine network: relationship between mind and skin. Dermatol.Ther. 16: 123 - 131.
- Breit, A., Gagnidze, K., Devi, L. A., Lagace, M., and Bouvier, M. (2006) Simultaneous activation of the delta opioid receptor (deltaOR)/sensory neuron-specific receptor-4 (SNSR-4) hetero-oligomer by the mixed bivalent agonist bovine adrenal medulla peptide 22 activates SNSR-4 but inhibits deltaOR signaling. Mol Pharmacol 70: 686 -696.
- Broccardo, M., Erspamer, V., Falconieri, E. G., Improta, G., Linari, G. et al. (1981) Pharmacological data on dermorphins, a new class of potent opioid peptides from amphibian skin. Br.J.Pharmacol. 73: 625 - 631.
- Bruce, D. S., Cope, G. W., Elam, T. R., Ruit, K. A., Oeltgen, P. R. et al. (1987) Opioids and hibernation. I. Effects of naloxone on bear, its depression of guinea pig ileum contractility and on induction of summer hibernation in the ground squirrel. Life Sci. 41: 2107 - 2113.
- Bruce, D. S., Bailey, E. C., Setran, D. P., Tramell, M. S., Jacobson, D. et al. (1996) Circannual variations in bear plasma albumin and its opioid-like effects on guinea pig ileum. Pharmacol.Biochem.Behav. 53: 885 - 889.

- Bull, J. J., Muller-Rover, S., Patel, S. V., Chronnell, C. M., McKay, I. A. et al. (2001) Contrasting localization of c-Myc with other Myc superfamily transcription factors in the human hair follicle and during the hair growth cycle. J.Invest Dermatol. 116: 617 -622.
- Burdakov, D., Petersen, O. H., and Verkhratsky, A. (2005) Intraluminal calcium as a primary regulator of endoplasmic reticulum function. Cell Calcium 38: 303 310.
- Burnstock, G. (2006) Purinergic signalling--an overview. Novartis.Found.Symp. 276: 26 48.
- Caballero-Hernandez, D., Weber, R. J., Hicks, M. E., Tamez-Guerra, R., Rodriguez-Padilla, C. et al. (2005) Potentiation of rat lymphocyte proliferation by novel non-peptidic synthetic opioids. Int Immunopharmacol 5: 1271 1278.
- Cabral, A., Fischer, D. F., Vermeij, W. P., and Backendorf, C. (2003) Distinct functional interactions of human Skn-1 isoforms with Ese-1 during keratinocyte terminal differentiation. J Biol Chem 278: 17792 17799.
- Cagnol, S. and Chambard, J. C. (2010) ERK and cell death: mechanisms of ERK-induced cell death--apoptosis, autophagy and senescence. FEBS J. 277: 2 21.
- Candi, E., Rufini, A., Terrinoni, A., Dinsdale, D., Ranalli, M. et al. (2006) Differential roles of p63 isoforms in epidermal development: selective genetic complementation in p63 null mice. Cell Death Differ 13: 1037 1047.
- Cangkrama, M., Ting, S. B., and Darido, C. (2013) Stem Cells behind the Barrier. Int.J.Mol.Sci. 14: 13670 - 13686.
- Carr,D.J., Gebhardt, B. M., and Paul, D. (1993) Alpha adrenergic and mu-2 opioid receptors are involved in morphine-induced suppression of splenocyte natural killer activity. J.Pharmacol.Exp.Ther. 264: 1179 - 1186.
- Cen,B., Yu, Q., Guo, J., Wu, Y., Ling, K. et al. (2001) Direct binding of beta-arrestins to two distinct intracellular domains of the delta opioid receptor. J Neurochem 76: 1887 1894.
- Chan, A. S., Law, P. Y., Loh, H. H., Ho, P. N., Wu, W. M. et al. (2003) The first and third intracellular loops together with the carboxy terminal tail of the delta-opioid receptor contribute toward functional interaction with Galpha16. J Neurochem 87: 697 708.
- Chang, K. J., Lillian, A., Hazum, E., Cuatrecasas, P., and Chang, J. K. (1981) Morphiceptin (NH4-tyr-pro-phe-pro-COHN2): a potent and specific agonist for morphine (mu) receptors. Science 212: 75 - 77.
- Chao, D., Bazzy-Asaad, A., Balboni, G., and Xia, Y. (2007) delta-, but not mu-, opioid receptor stabilizes K(+) homeostasis by reducing Ca(2+) influx in the cortex during acute hypoxia. J.Cell Physiol 212: 60 67.
- Chao, D., He, X., Yang, Y., Bazzy-Asaad, A., Lazarus, L. H. et al. (2012) DOR activation inhibits anoxic/ischemic Na+ influx through Na+ channels via PKC mechanisms in the cortex. Exp.Neurol. 236: 228 239.

- Charbaji, N., Schafer-Korting, M., and Kuchler, S. (2012) Morphine stimulates cell migration of oral epithelial cells by delta-opioid receptor activation. PLoS.One. 7: e42616
- Chateau, Y. and Misery, L. (2004) Connections between nerve endings and epidermal cells: are they synapses? Exp.Dermatol. 13: 2 4.
- Chateau, Y., Dorange, G., Clement, J. F., Pennec, J. P., Gobin, E. et al. (2007) In vitro reconstruction of neuro-epidermal connections. J.Invest Dermatol. 127: 979 981.
- Chaturvedi, K., Bandari, P., Chinen, N., and Howells, R. D. (2001) Proteasome involvement in agonist-induced down-regulation of mu and delta opioid receptors. J Biol Chem 276: 12345 12355.
- Chen, Y., Mestek, A., Liu, J., Hurley, J. A., and Yu, L. (1993) Molecular cloning and functional expression of a mu-opioid receptor from rat brain. Mol.Pharmacol. 44: 8 12.
- Chen, Y. L., Law, P. Y., and Loh, H. H. (2006) Sustained activation of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt/nuclear factor kappaB signaling mediates G protein-coupled deltaopioid receptor gene expression. J Biol Chem 281: 3067 - 3074.
- Chernyavsky, A. I., Arredondo, J., Karlsson, E., Wessler, I., and Grando, S. A. (2005) The Ras/Raf-1/MEK1/ERK signaling pathway coupled to integrin expression mediates cholinergic regulation of keratinocyte directional migration. J.Biol.Chem. 280: 39220 39228.
- Cheng, B., Liu, H. W., Fu, X. B., Sheng, Z. Y., and Li, J. F. (2008) Coexistence and upregulation of three types of opioid receptors, mu, delta and kappa, in human hypertrophic scars. Br.J.Dermatol. 158: 713 720.
- Choi, Y. and Fuchs, E. (1990) TGF-beta and retinoic acid: regulators of growth and modifiers of differentiation in human epidermal cells. Cell Regul. 1: 791 809.
- Chong, H. C., Tan, M. J., Philippe, V., Tan, S. H., Tan, C. K. et al. (2009) Regulation of epithelial-mesenchymal IL-1 signaling by PPARbeta/delta is essential for skin homeostasis and wound healing. J.Cell Biol. 184: 817 - 831.
- Chretien, M., Benjannet, S., Gossard, F., Gianoulakis, C., Crine, P. et al. (1979) From betalipotropin to beta-endorphin and 'pro-opio-melanocortin'. Can.J.Biochem. 57: 1111 - 1121.
- Christiano, A. M. and Uitto, J. (1996) Molecular complexity of the cutaneous basement membrane zone. Revelations from the paradigms of epidermolysis bullosa. Exp.Dermatol. 5: 1 11.
- Christie, M. J. (2008) Cellular neuroadaptations to chronic opioids: tolerance, withdrawal and addiction. Br.J.Pharmacol. 154: 384 396.
- Chuderland, D. and Seger, R. (2005) Protein-protein interactions in the regulation of the extracellular signal-regulated kinase118. Mol.Biotechnol. 29: 57 74.

- Claing, A., Laporte, S. A., Caron, M. G., and Lefkowitz, R. J. (2002) Endocytosis of G protein-coupled receptors: roles of G protein-coupled receptor kinases and beta-arrestin proteins. Prog Neurobiol 66: 61 79.
- Clayton, E., Doupe, D. P., Klein, A. M., Winton, D. J., Simons, B. D. et al. (2007) A single type of progenitor cell maintains normal epidermis. Nature 446: 185 189.
- Coffey, R. J., Jr., Derynck, R., Wilcox, J. N., Bringman, T. S., Goustin, A. S. et al. (1987) Production and auto-induction of transforming growth factor-alpha in human keratinocytes. Nature 328: 817 - 820.
- Cohen-Armon, M., Visochek, L., Rozensal, D., Kalal, A., Geistrikh, I. et al. (2007) DNAindependent PARP-1 activation by phosphorylated ERK2 increases Elk1 activity: a link to histone acetylation. Mol.Cell 25: 297 - 308.
- Collado, M., Blasco, M. A., and Serrano, M. (2007) Cellular senescence in cancer and aging. Cell 130: 223 - 233.
- Comb, M., Seeburg, P. H., Adelman, J., Eiden, L., and Herbert, E. (1982) Primary structure of the human Met- and Leu-enkephalin precursor and its mRNA. Nature 295: 663 666.
- Connor, M. and Henderson, G. (1996) delta- and mu-opioid receptor mobilization of intracellular calcium in SH-SY5Y human neuroblastoma cells. Br.J.Pharmacol. 117: 333 340.
- Contet, C., Kieffer, B. L., and Befort, K. (2004) Mu opioid receptor: a gateway to drug addiction. Curr Opin Neurobiol 14: 370 378.
- Cui, Y., Lee, T. F., and Wang, L. C. (1996) State-dependent changes of brain endogenous opioids in mammalian hibernation. Brain Res.Bull. 40: 129 133.
- Cunha-Oliveira, T., Rego, A. C., and Oliveira, C. R. (2008) Cellular and molecular mechanisms involved in the neurotoxicity of opioid and psychostimulant drugs. Brain Res.Rev. 58: 192 208.
- Czyzyk, T. A., Nogueiras, R., Lockwood, J. F., McKinzie, J. H., Coskun, T. et al. (2010) kappa-Opioid receptors control the metabolic response to a high-energy diet in mice. FASEB J. 24:
- Dai, X. and Segre, J. A. (2004) Transcriptional control of epidermal specification and differentiation. Curr.Opin.Genet.Dev. 14: 485 491.
- Dallos, A., Kiss, M., Polyanka, H., Dobozy, A., Kemeny, L. et al. (2006) Effects of the neuropeptides substance P, calcitonin gene-related peptide, vasoactive intestinal polypeptide and galanin on the production of nerve growth factor and inflammatory cytokines in cultured human keratinocytes. Neuropeptides 40: 251 - 263.
- Daniel, J. M. (2007) Dancing in and out of the nucleus: p120(ctn) and the transcription factor Kaiso. Biochim.Biophys.Acta 1773: 59 68.

- Décaillot, F. M., Befort, K., Filliol, D., Yue, S., Walker, P. et al. (2003) Opioid receptor random mutagenesis reveals a mechanism for G protein-coupled receptor activation. Nat Struct Biol 10: 629 636.
- Demehri, S., Turkoz, A., and Kopan, R. (2009) Epidermal Notch1 loss promotes skin tumorigenesis by impacting the stromal microenvironment. Cancer Cell 16: 55 66.
- Denda, M., Nakatani, M., Ikeyama, K., Tsutsumi, M., and Denda, S. (2007) Epidermal keratinocytes as the forefront of the sensory system. Exp.Dermatol. 16: 157 161.
- Descargues, P., Sil, A. K., and Karin, M. (2008) IKKalpha, a critical regulator of epidermal differentiation and a suppressor of skin cancer. EMBO J. 27: 2639 2647.
- Dhaka, A., Viswanath, V., and Patapoutian, A. (2006) Trp ion channels and temperature sensation. Annu.Rev.Neurosci. 29: 135 161.
- Dickson, M. A., Hahn, W. C., Ino, Y., Ronfard, V., Wu, J. Y. et al. (2000) Human keratinocytes that express hTERT and also bypass a p16(INK4a)-enforced mechanism that limits life span become immortal yet retain normal growth and differentiation characteristics. Mol.Cell Biol. 20: 1436 1447.
- Doneen, B. A., Chung, D., Yamashiro, D., Law, P. Y., Loh, H. H. et al. (1977) beta-Endorphin: structure-activity relationships in the guinea pig ileum and opiate receptor binding assays. Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun. 74: 656 - 662.
- Dugan, L. L., Kim, J. S., Zhang, Y., Bart, R. D., Sun, Y. et al. (1999) Differential effects of cAMP in neurons and astrocytes. Role of B-raf. J.Biol.Chem. 274: 25842 25848.
- Eckert, R. L., Efimova, T., Dashti, S. R., Balasubramanian, S., Deucher, A. et al. (2002) Keratinocyte survival, differentiation, and death: many roads lead to mitogenactivated protein kinase. J.Investig.Dermatol.Symp.Proc. 7: 36 - 40.
- Eferl, R. and Wagner, E. F. (2003) AP-1: a double-edged sword in tumorigenesis. Nat.Rev.Cancer 3: 859 - 868.
- Eisen, M. B., Spellman, P. T., Brown, P. O., and Botstein, D. (1998) Cluster analysis and display of genome-wide expression patterns. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A 95: 14863 14868.
- Eisinger, D. A. and Ammer, H. (2008a) Delta-opioid receptors activate ERK/MAP kinase via integrin-stimulated receptor tyrosine kinases. Cell Signal 20: 2324 2331.
- Eisinger, D. A. and Ammer, H. (2008b) delta-Opioid receptors stimulate ERK1/2 activity in NG108-15 hybrid cells by integrin-mediated transactivation of TrkA receptors. FEBS Lett 582: 3325 3329.
- Eisinger, D. A. and Ammer, H. (2009) Down-regulation of c-Cbl by morphine accounts for persistent ERK1/2 signaling in delta-opioid receptor-expressing HEK293 cells. J Biol Chem 284: 34819 34828.

- Elias, P. M., Ahn, S., Brown, B., Crumrine, D., and Feingold, K. R. (2002) Origin of the epidermal calcium gradient: regulation by barrier status and role of active vs passive mechanisms. J.Invest Dermatol. 119: 1269 1274.
- Elias, P. M. (2005) Stratum corneum defensive functions: an integrated view. J.Invest Dermatol. 125: 183 200.
- Eliasson, T., Mannheimer, C., Waagstein, F., Andersson, B., Bergh, C. H. et al. (1998) Myocardial turnover of endogenous opioids and calcitonin-gene-related peptide in the human heart and the effects of spinal cord stimulation on pacing-induced angina pectoris. Cardiology 89: 170 - 177.
- Erspamer, V., Melchiorri, P., Falconieri-Erspamer, G., Negri, L., Corsi, R. et al. (1989) Deltorphins: a family of naturally occurring peptides with high affinity and selectivity for delta opioid binding sites. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A 86: 5188 - 5192.
- Evans, C. J., Keith, D. E., Jr., Morrison, H., Magendzo, K., and Edwards, R. H. (1992) Cloning of a delta opioid receptor by functional expression. Science 258: 1952 - 1955.
- Fan, T., Varghese, G., Nguyen, T., Tse, R., O'Dowd, B. F. et al. (2005) A role for the distal carboxyl tails in generating the novel pharmacology and G protein activation profile of mu and delta opioid receptor hetero-oligomers. J Biol Chem 280: 38478 - 38488.
- Faus, I., Hsu, H. J., and Fuchs, E. (1994) Oct-6: a regulator of keratinocyte gene expression in stratified squamous epithelia. Mol.Cell Biol. 14: 3263 3275.
- Feng, Y., He, X., Yang, Y., Chao, D., Lazarus, L. H. et al. (2012) Current research on opioid receptor function. Curr.Drug Targets. 13: 230 - 246.
- Ferone, G., Thomason, H. A., Antonini, D., De, R. L., Hu, B. et al. (2012) Mutant p63 causes defective expansion of ectodermal progenitor cells and impaired FGF signalling in AEC syndrome. EMBO Mol.Med. 4: 192 - 205.
- Finley, M. J., Happel, C. M., Kaminsky, D. E., and Rogers, T. J. (2008) Opioid and nociceptin receptors regulate cytokine and cytokine receptor expression. Cell Immunol. 252: 146 - 154.
- Fischer, D. F., Gibbs, S., van De, P. P., and Backendorf, C. (1996) Interdependent transcription control elements regulate the expression of the SPRR2A gene during keratinocyte terminal differentiation. Mol Cell Biol 16: 5365 5374.
- Fitsialos, G., Chassot, A. A., Turchi, L., Dayem, M. A., Lebrigand, K. et al. (2007) Transcriptional signature of epidermal keratinocytes subjected to in vitro scratch wounding reveals selective roles for ERK1/2, p38, and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase signaling pathways. J Biol Chem 282: 15090 - 15102.
- Fitzsimons, C. P., Monczor, F., Fernandez, N., Shayo, C., and Davio, C. (13-8-2004) Mepyramine, a histamine H1 receptor inverse agonist, binds preferentially to a G protein-coupled form of the receptor and sequesters G protein. J.Biol.Chem. 279: 34431 - 34439.

- Florin, L., Knebel, J., Zigrino, P., Vonderstrass, B., Mauch, C. et al. (2006) Delayed wound healing and epidermal hyperproliferation in mice lacking JunB in the skin. J Invest Dermatol 126: 902 911.
- Forman, L. J., Estilow, S., and Hock, C. E. (1989) Localization of beta-endorphin in the rat heart and modulation by testosterone. Proc.Soc.Exp.Biol.Med. 190: 240 245.
- Frank, S., Madlener, M., and Werner, S. (1996) Transforming growth factors beta1, beta2, and beta3 and their receptors are differentially regulated during normal and impaired wound healing. J Biol Chem 271: 10188 - 10193.
- Fryer, R. M., Hsu, A. K., and Gross, G. J. (2001) ERK and p38 MAP kinase activation are components of opioid-induced delayed cardioprotection. Basic Res Cardiol 96: 136 -142.
- Fuchs, E. and Green, H. (1980) Changes in keratin gene expression during terminal differentiation of the keratinocyte. Cell 19: 1033 1042.
- Fuchs, P. N., Roza, C., Sora, I., Uhl, G., and Raja, S. N. (1999) Characterization of mechanical withdrawal responses and effects of mu-, delta- and kappa-opioid agonists in normal and mu-opioid receptor knockout mice. Brain Res. 821: 480 - 486.
- Fuchs, E. and Raghavan, S. (2002) Getting under the skin of epidermal morphogenesis. Nat.Rev.Genet. 3: 199 - 209.
- Fuchs, E. (2007) Scratching the surface of skin development. Nature 445: 834 842.
- Gailit, J. and Clark, R. A. (1994) Wound repair in the context of extracellular matrix. Curr.Opin.Cell Biol. 6: 717 - 725.
- Gandarillas, A. and Watt, F. M. (1997) c-Myc promotes differentiation of human epidermal stem cells. Genes Dev. 11: 2869 2882.
- Gandarillas, A., Goldsmith, L. A., Gschmeissner, S., Leigh, I. M., and Watt, F. M. (1999) Evidence that apoptosis and terminal differentiation of epidermal keratinocytes are distinct processes. Exp.Dermatol. 8: 71 - 79.
- Garrod, D. R. (1996) Epithelial development and differentiation: the role of desmosomes. The Watson Smith Lecture 1996. J.R.Coll.Physicians Lond 30: 366 - 373.
- Garrod, D. R., Berika, M. Y., Bardsley, W. F., Holmes, D., and Tabernero, L. (2005) Hyperadhesion in desmosomes: its regulation in wound healing and possible relationship to cadherin crystal structure. J.Cell Sci. 118: 5743 - 5754.
- Gavériaux, C., Peluso, J., Simonin, F., Laforet, J., and Kieffer, B. L. (1995) Identification of kappa- and delta-opioid receptor transcripts in immune cells. FEBS Lett 369: 272 276.
- Gavériaux-Ruff, C. and Kieffer, B. L. (2002) Opioid receptor genes inactivated in mice: the highlights. Neuropeptides 36: 62 71.

- Gavériaux-Ruff, C., Karchewski, L. A., Hever, X., Matifas, A., and Kieffer, B. L. (2008) Inflammatory pain is enhanced in delta opioid receptor-knockout mice. Eur J Neurosci 27: 2558 - 2567.
- Gazel, A., Nijhawan, R. I., Walsh, R., and Blumenberg, M. (2008) Transcriptional profiling defines the roles of ERK and p38 kinases in epidermal keratinocytes. J Cell Physiol 215: 292 308.
- Gebhardt, A., Frye, M., Herold, S., Benitah, S. A., Braun, K. et al. (2006) Myc regulates keratinocyte adhesion and differentiation via complex formation with Miz1. J Cell Biol 172: 139 149.
- Gelernter, J. and Kranzler, H. R. (2000) Variant detection at the delta opioid receptor (OPRD1) locus and population genetics of a novel variant affecting protein sequence. Hum.Genet. 107: 86 88.
- George, S. R., Fan, T., Xie, Z., Tse, R., Tam, V. et al. (2000) Oligomerization of mu- and delta-opioid receptors. Generation of novel functional properties. J Biol Chem 275: 26128 - 26135.
- Gharzi, A., Reynolds, A. J., and Jahoda, C. A. (2003) Plasticity of hair follicle dermal cells in wound healing and induction. Exp.Dermatol. 12: 126 136.
- Goldsborough, A., Ashworth, A., and Willison, K. (1990) Cloning and sequencing of POUboxes expressed in mouse testis. Nucleic Acids Res. 18: 1634 -
- Goldsborough, A. S., Healy, L. E., Copeland, N. G., Gilbert, D. J., Jenkins, N. A. et al. (1993) Cloning, chromosomal localization and expression pattern of the POU domain gene Oct-11. Nucleic Acids Res. 21: 127 - 134.
- Goldstein, A., Tachibana, S., Lowney, L. I., Hunkapiller, M., and Hood, L. (1979) Dynorphin-(1-13), an extraordinarily potent opioid peptide. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A 76: 6666 - 6670.
- Gopinath, P., Wan, E., Holdcroft, A., Facer, P., Davis, J. B. et al. (2005) Increased capsaicin receptor TRPV1 in skin nerve fibres and related vanilloid receptors TRPV3 and TRPV4 in keratinocytes in human breast pain. BMC.Womens Health 5: 2 -
- Granier, S., Manglik, A., Kruse, A. C., Kobilka, T. S., Thian, F. S. et al. (2012) Structure of the delta-opioid receptor bound to naltrindole. Nature 485: 400 404.
- Gray's Anatomy, 39th Edition: The Anatomical Basis of Clinical Practice (2005) Susan Standring, Editor-in-Chief. Churchill Livingstone; ISBN 0-443-07168-3.
- Green, M. R. and Couchman, J. R. (1985) Differences in human skin between the epidermal growth factor receptor distribution detected by EGF binding and monoclonal antibody recognition. J.Invest Dermatol. 85: 239 245.
- Green, M. R., Mycock, C., Smith, C. G., and Couchman, J. R. (1987) Biochemical and ultrastructural processing of [125I]epidermal growth factor in rat epidermis and hair follicles: accumulation of nuclear label. J.Invest Dermatol. 88: 259 265.

- Grimm, M. C., Ben-Baruch, A., Taub, D. D., Howard, O. M., Wang, J. M. et al. (1998) Opiate inhibition of chemokine-induced chemotaxis. Ann.N.Y.Acad.Sci. 840: 9 - 20.
- Gross, E. R., Hsu, A. K., and Gross, G. J. (2006) The JAK/STAT pathway is essential for opioid-induced cardioprotection: JAK2 as a mediator of STAT3, Akt, and GSK-3 beta. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 291: H827 H834.
- Guan, J. S., Xu, Z. Z., Gao, H., He, S. Q., Ma, G. Q. et al. (2005) Interaction with vesicle luminal protachykinin regulates surface expression of delta-opioid receptors and opioid analgesia. Cell 122: 619 - 631.
- Gubler, U., Seeburg, P., Hoffman, B. J., Gage, L. P., and Udenfriend, S. (1982) Molecular cloning establishes proenkephalin as precursor of enkephalin-containing peptides. Nature 295: 206 208.
- Guo, J., Wu, Y., Zhang, W., Zhao, J., Devi, L. A. et al. (2000) Identification of G proteincoupled receptor kinase 2 phosphorylation sites responsible for agonist-stimulated delta-opioid receptor phosphorylation. Mol Pharmacol 58: 1050 - 1056.
- Guttman-Yassky, E., Suarez-Farinas, M., Chiricozzi, A., Nograles, K. E., Shemer, A. et al. (2009) Broad defects in epidermal cornification in atopic dermatitis identified through genomic analysis. J.Allergy Clin.Immunol. 124: 1235 1244.
- Hackler, L., Zadina, J. E., Ge, L. J., and Kastin, A. J. (1997) Isolation of relatively large amounts of endomorphin-1 and endomorphin-2 from human brain cortex. Peptides 18: 1635 1639.
- Hahn, J. W., Jagwani, S., Kim, E., Rendell, V. R., He, J. et al. (2010) Mu and kappa opioids modulate mouse embryonic stem cell-derived neural progenitor differentiation via MAP kinases. J.Neurochem. 112: 1431 - 1441.
- Hashmi, S. and Marinkovich, M. P. (2011) Molecular organization of the basement membrane zone. Clin.Dermatol. 29: 398 411.
- Hattori, N., Mochizuki, S., Kishi, K., Nakajima, T., Takaishi, H. et al. (2009) MMP-13 plays a role in keratinocyte migration, angiogenesis, and contraction in mouse skin wound healing. Am.J.Pathol. 175: 533 546.
- Hauser, C., Saurat, J. H., Schmitt, A., Jaunin, F., and Dayer, J. M. (1986) Interleukin 1 is present in normal human epidermis. J.Immunol. 136: 3317 3323.
- Hayward, M. G. and Keatinge, W. R. (1981) Roles of subcutaneous fat and thermoregulatory reflexes in determining ability to stabilize body temperature in water. J.Physiol 320: 229 - 251.
- He, X., Treacy, M. N., Simmons, D. M., Ingraham, H. A., Swanson, L. W. et al. (1989) Expression of a large family of POU-domain regulatory genes in mammalian brain development. Nature 340: 35 - 41.
- Heiss, A., Ammer, H., and Eisinger, D. A. (2009) delta-Opioid receptor-stimulated Akt signaling in neuroblastoma x glioma (NG108-15) hybrid cells involves receptor tyrosine kinase-mediated PI3K activation. Exp.Cell Res. 315: 2115 2125.
- Herold, S., Wanzel, M., Beuger, V., Frohme, C., Beul, D. et al. (2002) Negative regulation of the mammalian UV response by Myc through association with Miz-1. Mol.Cell 10: 509 521.
- Herr, W. and Cleary, M. A. (1995) The POU domain: versatility in transcriptional regulation by a flexible two-in-one DNA-binding domain. Genes Dev. 9: 1679 - 1693.
- Hildebrand, J., Rutze, M., Walz, N., Gallinat, S., Wenck, H. et al. (2011) A comprehensive analysis of microRNA expression during human keratinocyte differentiation in vitro and in vivo. J.Invest Dermatol. 131: 20 29.
- Hildesheim, J., Foster, R. A., Chamberlin, M. E., and Vogel, J. C. (1999) Characterization of the regulatory domains of the human skn-1a/Epoc-1/Oct-11 POU transcription factor. J Biol Chem 274: 26399 26406.
- Hildesheim, J., Kuhn, U., Yee, C. L., Foster, R. A., Yancey, K. B. et al. (2001) The hSkn-1a POU transcription factor enhances epidermal stratification by promoting keratinocyte proliferation. J Cell Sci 114: 1913 - 1923.
- Hildreth, J. E. and August, J. T. (1985) The human lymphocyte function-associated (HLFA) antigen and a related macrophage differentiation antigen (HMac-1): functional effects of subunit-specific monoclonal antibodies. J.Immunol. 134: 3272 3280.
- Hobbs, R. M., Silva-Vargas, V., Groves, R., and Watt, F. M. (2004) Expression of activated MEK1 in differentiating epidermal cells is sufficient to generate hyperproliferative and inflammatory skin lesions. J.Invest Dermatol. 123: 503 515.
- Honnemann, J., Sanz-Moreno, A., Wolf, E., Eilers, M., and Elsasser, H. P. (2012) Miz1 is a critical repressor of cdkn1a during skin tumorigenesis. PLoS.One. 7
- Houghton, A. M., Hartzell, W. O., Robbins, C. S., Gomis-Ruth, F. X., and Shapiro, S. D. (2009) Macrophage elastase kills bacteria within murine macrophages. Nature 460: 637 - 641.
- Hu, E., Kim, J. B., Sarraf, P., and Spiegelman, B. M. (1996) Inhibition of adipogenesis through MAP kinase-mediated phosphorylation of PPARgamma. Science 274: 2100 -2103.
- Hu, S., Xie, Z., Onishi, A., Yu, X., Jiang, L. et al. (2009) Profiling the human protein-DNA interactome reveals ERK2 as a transcriptional repressor of interferon signaling. Cell 139: 610 622.
- Hu, Y., Baud, V., Oga, T., Kim, K. I., Yoshida, K. et al. (2001) IKKalpha controls formation of the epidermis independently of NF-kappaB. Nature 410: 710 714.
- Huang, C., Jacobson, K., and Schaller, M. D. (2004) MAP kinases and cell migration. J.Cell Sci. 117: 4619 4628.
- Hughes, J., Smith, T. W., Kosterlitz, H. W., Fothergill, L. A., Morgan, B. A. et al. (1975) Identification of two related pentapeptides from the brain with potent opiate agonist activity. Nature 258: 577 - 580.

- Ivanov, I. S., Schulz, K. P., Palmero, R. C., and Newcorn, J. H. (2006) Neurorobiology and evidence-based biological treatments for substance abuse disorders. CNS.Spectr. 11: 864 - 877.
- Jahoda, C. A., Reynolds, A. J., Chaponnier, C., Forester, J. C., and Gabbiani, G. (1991) Smooth muscle alpha-actin is a marker for hair follicle dermis in vivo and in vitro. J.Cell Sci. 99 (Pt 3): 627 - 636.
- Jamali, A., Bamdad, T., Soleimanjahi, H., Pakdel, F. G., and Arefian, E. (2007) Acute morphine administration reduces white blood cells' capability to induce innate resistance against HSV-1 infection in BALB/c mice. Neuroimmunomodulation. 14: 16 - 23.
- Jamali, A., Soleimanjahi, H., Moin, M., Mahdavi, M., Hashemi, H. et al. (2012) Withdrawal from morphine reduces cell-mediated immunity against herpes simplex virus generated by natural immunization. Neuroimmunomodulation. 19: 229 234.
- Jang, S. I., Karaman-Jurukovska, N., Morasso, M. I., Steinert, P. M., and Markova, N. G. (2000) Complex interactions between epidermal POU domain and activator protein 1 transcription factors regulate the expression of the profilaggrin gene in normal human epidermal keratinocytes. J.Biol.Chem. 275: 15295 - 15304.
- Jin, W., Lee, N. M., Loh, H. H., and Thayer, S. A. (1994) Opioids mobilize calcium from inositol 1,4,5-trisphosphate-sensitive stores in NG108-15 cells. J.Neurosci. 14: 1920 -1929.
- Johansen, C., Kragballe, K., Henningsen, J., Westergaard, M., Kristiansen, K. et al. (2003) 1alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 stimulates activator protein 1 DNA-binding activity by a phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Ras/MEK/extracellular signal regulated kinase 1/2 and c-Jun N-terminal kinase 1-dependent increase in c-Fos, Fra1, and c-Jun expression in human keratinocytes. J.Invest Dermatol. 120: 561 - 570.
- Johansson, O., Wang, L., Hilliges, M., and Liang, Y. (1999) Intraepidermal nerves in human skin: PGP 9.5 immunohistochemistry with special reference to the nerve density in skin from different body regions. J.Peripher.Nerv.Syst. 4: 43 - 52.
- Jordan, M., Schallhorn, A., and Wurm, F. M. (1996) Transfecting mammalian cells: optimization of critical parameters affecting calcium-phosphate precipitate formation. Nucleic Acids Res. 24: 596 - 601.
- Juhlin, L. (1997) Hyaluronan in skin. J.Intern.Med. 242: 61 66.
- Kahle, A., Feng, Y., and Nelson, A. (2005) Isolation and characterization of the human Cdc2L1 gene promoter. Gene 344: 53 60.
- Kakidani, H., Furutani, Y., Takahashi, H., Noda, M., Morimoto, Y. et al. (1982) Cloning and sequence analysis of cDNA for porcine beta-neo-endorphin/dynorphin precursor. Nature 298: 245 249.
- Kalinin, A. E., Kajava, A. V., and Steinert, P. M. (2002) Epithelial barrier function: assembly and structural features of the cornified cell envelope. Bioessays 24: 789 800.

- Kam, A. Y., Chan, A. S., and Wong, Y. H. (2003) Rac and Cdc42-dependent regulation of c-Jun N-terminal kinases by the delta-opioid receptor. J Neurochem 84: 503 - 513.
- Kane, C. J., Hebda, P. A., Mansbridge, J. N., and Hanawalt, P. C. (1991) Direct evidence for spatial and temporal regulation of transforming growth factor beta 1 expression during cutaneous wound healing. J.Cell Physiol 148: 157 - 173.
- Kang, X., Chao, D., Gu, Q., Ding, G., Wang, Y. et al. (2009) delta-Opioid receptors protect from anoxic disruption of Na+ homeostasis via Na+ channel regulation. Cell Mol.Life Sci. 66: 3505 - 3516.
- Kato, S., Endoh, H., Masuhiro, Y., Kitamoto, T., Uchiyama, S. et al. (1995) Activation of the estrogen receptor through phosphorylation by mitogen-activated protein kinase. Science 270: 1491 - 1494.
- Kauser, S., Schallreuter, K. U., Thody, A. J., Gummer, C., and Tobin, D. J. (2003) Regulation of human epidermal melanocyte biology by beta-endorphin. J Invest Dermatol 120: 1073 1080.
- Kauser, S., Thody, A. J., Schallreuter, K. U., Gummer, C. L., and Tobin, D. J. (2004) Beta-Endorphin as a regulator of human hair follicle melanocyte biology. J Invest Dermatol 123: 184 - 195.
- Kauser, S., Thody, A. J., Schallreuter, K. U., Gummer, C. L., and Tobin, D. J. (2005) A fully functional proopiomelanocortin/melanocortin-1 receptor system regulates the differentiation of human scalp hair follicle melanocytes. Endocrinology 146: 532 -543.
- Kho, H. G., Kloppenborg, P. W., and van, E. J. (1993) Effects of acupuncture and transcutaneous stimulation analgesia on plasma hormone levels during and after major abdominal surgery. Eur.J.Anaesthesiol. 10: 197 - 208.
- Kieffer, B. L., Befort, K., Gavériaux-Ruff, C., and Hirth, C. G. (1992) The delta-opioid receptor: isolation of a cDNA by expression cloning and pharmacological characterization. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89: 12048 12052.
- Kieffer, B. L. and Evans, C. J. (2009) Opioid receptors: from binding sites to visible molecules in vivo. Neuropharmacology 56 Suppl 1: 205 212.
- Kieffer,B.L. and Gavériaux-Ruff, C. (2002) Exploring the opioid system by gene knockout. Prog Neurobiol 66: 285 - 306.
- Kinashi,T. (2005) Intracellular signalling controlling integrin activation in lymphocytes. Nat.Rev.Immunol. 5: 546 - 559.
- Klemke, R. L., Cai, S., Giannini, A. L., Gallagher, P. J., de, L. P. et al. (1997) Regulation of cell motility by mitogen-activated protein kinase. J.Cell Biol. 137: 481 492.
- Knapp, R. J., Malatynska, E., Fang, L., Li, X., Babin, E. et al. (1994) Identification of a human delta opioid receptor: cloning and expression. Life Sci 54: L463 L469.

- Koizumi, S., Fujishita, K., Inoue, K., Shigemoto-Mogami, Y., Tsuda, M. et al. (2004) Ca2+ waves in keratinocytes are transmitted to sensory neurons: the involvement of extracellular ATP and P2Y2 receptor activation. Biochem.J. 380: 329 - 338.
- Komai, H. and McDowell, T. S. (2007) Effects of local anesthetics on opioid inhibition of calcium current in rat dorsal root ganglion neurons. Neurosci.Lett. 418: 298 303.
- Korolenko, T. A., Goncharova, I. A., Anterejkina, L. I., Levina, O. A., and Korolenko, C. P. (2007) Influence of opiate addiction on liver cell damage of patients with viral hepatitis C. Alaska Med. 49: 75 - 78.
- Kossodo, S., Wong, W. R., Simon, G., and Kochevar, I. E. (2004) Effects of UVR and UVRinduced cytokines on production of extracellular matrix proteins and proteases by dermal fibroblasts cultured in collagen gels%. Photochem.Photobiol. 79: 86 - 93.
- Koster, M. I., Kim, S., Mills, A. A., DeMayo, F. J., and Roop, D. R. (2004a) p63 is the molecular switch for initiation of an epithelial stratification program. Genes Dev. 18: 126 - 131.
- Koster, M. I. and Roop, D. R. (2004b) Genetic pathways required for epidermal morphogenesis. Eur.J.Cell Biol. 83: 625 629.
- Koster, M. I. and Roop, D. R. (2004c) The role of p63 in development and differentiation of the epidermis. J.Dermatol.Sci. 34: 3 9.
- Kovacs, D., Flori, E., Maresca, V., Ottaviani, M., Aspite, N. et al. (2012) The eumelanin intermediate 5,6-dihydroxyindole-2-carboxylic acid is a messenger in the cross-talk among epidermal cells. J.Invest Dermatol. 132: 1196 1205.
- Krimm, R. F., Davis, B. M., Noel, T., and Albers, K. M. (2006) Overexpression of neurotrophin 4 in skin enhances myelinated sensory endings but does not influence sensory neuron number. J.Comp Neurol. 498: 455 - 465.
- Krstic, M. D., Rogatsky, I., Yamamoto, K. R., and Garabedian, M. J. (1997) Mitogenactivated and cyclin-dependent protein kinases selectively and differentially modulate transcriptional enhancement by the glucocorticoid receptor. Mol.Cell Biol. 17: 3947 -3954.
- Kuchler, S., Wolf, N. B., Heilmann, S., Weindl, G., Helfmann, J. et al. (2010) 3D-wound healing model: influence of morphine and solid lipid nanoparticles. J.Biotechnol. 148: 24 30.
- Kuilman, T., Michaloglou, C., Vredeveld, L. C., Douma, S., van, D. R. et al. (2008) Oncogene-induced senescence relayed by an interleukin-dependent inflammatory network. Cell 133: 1019 - 1031.
- Kupper, T. S., Ballard, D. W., Chua, A. O., McGuire, J. S., Flood, P. M. et al. (1986) Human keratinocytes contain mRNA indistinguishable from monocyte interleukin 1 alpha and beta mRNA. Keratinocyte epidermal cell-derived thymocyte-activating factor is identical to interleukin 1. J.Exp.Med. 164: 2095 - 2100.

- Laemmli, U. K. (1970) Cleavage of structural proteins during the assembly of the head of bacteriophage T4. Nature 227: 680 685.
- Lalumiere, R. T. and Kalivas, P. W. (2008) Glutamate release in the nucleus accumbens core is necessary for heroin seeking. J.Neurosci. 28: 3170 3177.
- Lang, R. E., Hermann, K., Dietz, R., Gaida, W., Ganten, D. et al. (1983) Evidence for the presence of enkephalins in the heart. Life Sci. 32: 399 406.
- Lanone, S., Zheng, T., Zhu, Z., Liu, W., Lee, C. G. et al. (2002) Overlapping and enzymespecific contributions of matrix metalloproteinases-9 and -12 in IL-13-induced inflammation and remodeling. J.Clin.Invest 110: 463 - 474.
- Lasukova, T. V., Maslov, L. N., Nizkodubova, S. W., Gorbunov, A. S., and Zibulnikov, S. Y. (2009) Role of Intracellular Calcium and Cyclic Nucleotides in Realization of Cardioprotective Effects of delta(1)- and kappa(1)-Opioid Receptor Agonists. Bull.Exp.Biol.Med. 148: 877 - 880.
- Law, P. Y., Erickson-Herbrandson, L. J., Zha, Q. Q., Solberg, J., Chu, J. et al. (2005) Heterodimerization of mu- and delta-opioid receptors occurs at the cell surface only and requires receptor-G protein interactions. J Biol Chem 280: 11152 - 11164.
- Law, P. Y., McGinn, T. M., Campbell, K. M., Erickson, L. E., and Loh, H. H. (1997) Agonist activation of delta-opioid receptor but not mu-opioid receptor potentiates fetal calf serum or tyrosine kinase receptor-mediated cell proliferation in a cell-line-specific manner. Mol Pharmacol 51: 152 - 160.
- Law, P. Y., Wong, Y. H., and Loh, H. H. (2000) Molecular mechanisms and regulation of opioid receptor signaling. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 40: 389 430.
- Lechler, T. and Fuchs, E. (2005) Asymmetric cell divisions promote stratification and differentiation of mammalian skin. Nature 437: 275 280.
- Lecoq, I., Marie, N., Jauzac, P., and Allouche, S. (2004) Different regulation of human deltaopioid receptors by SNC-80 [(+)-4-[(alphaR)-alpha-((2S,5R)-4-allyl-2,5-dimethyl-1piperazinyl)-3-methoxybenz yl]-N,N-diethylbenzamide] and endogenous enkephalins. J.Pharmacol.Exp.Ther. 310: 666 - 677.
- Lee, E. R., Kang, Y. J., Kim, J. H., Lee, H. T., and Cho, S. G. (2005) Modulation of apoptosis in HaCaT keratinocytes via differential regulation of ERK signaling pathway by flavonoids. J.Biol.Chem. 280: 31498 - 31507.
- Lee, E. R., Kim, J. Y., Kang, Y. J., Ahn, J. Y., Kim, J. H. et al. (2006) Interplay between PI3K/Akt and MAPK signaling pathways in DNA-damaging drug-induced apoptosis. Biochim.Biophys.Acta 1763: 958 968.
- Lefkowitz, R. J. and Shenoy, S. K. (2005) Transduction of receptor signals by beta-arrestins. Science 308: 512 - 517.
- Lena, A. M., Cipollone, R., Amelio, I., Catani, M. V., Ramadan, S. et al. (2010) Skn-1a/Oct-11 and DeltaNp63alpha exert antagonizing effects on human keratin expression. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 401: 568 - 573.

- Leo, S., Nuydens, R., and Meert, T. F. (2009) Opioid-induced proliferation of vascular endothelial cells. J.Pain Res. 2: 59 66.
- Leskelä, T. T., Markkanen, P. M., Alahuhta, I. A., Tuusa, J. T., and Petäjä-Repo, U. E. (2009) Phe27Cys polymorphism alters the maturation and subcellular localization of the human delta opioid receptor. Traffic 10: 116 - 129.
- Leskelä, T.T., Lackman, J. J., Vierimaa, M. M., Kobayashi, H., Bouvier, M. et al. (2012) Cys-27 variant of human delta-opioid receptor modulates maturation and cell surface delivery of Phe-27 variant via heteromerization. J.Biol.Chem. 287: 5008 - 5020.
- Li, B. and Wang, J. H. (2011) Fibroblasts and myofibroblasts in wound healing: force generation and measurement. J.Tissue Viability. 20: 108 120.
- Li, C.H. and Chung, D. (1976a) Primary structure of human beta-lipotropin. Nature 260: 622 624.
- Li, C.H., Chung, D., and Doneen, B. A. (1976b) Isolation, characterization and opiate activity of beta-endorphin from human pituitary glands. Biochem.Biophys.Res.Commun. 72: 1542 1547.
- Li, F., Huang, Q., Chen, J., Peng, Y., Roop, D. R. et al. (2010) Apoptotic cells activate the "phoenix rising" pathway to promote wound healing and tissue regeneration. Sci.Signal. 3: ra13 -
- Li, J., Zheng, H., Yu, F., Yu, T., Liu, C. et al. (2012) Deficiency of the Kruppel-like factor KLF4 correlates with increased cell proliferation and enhanced skin tumorigenesis. Carcinogenesis 33: 1239 1246.
- Li, L., Tennenbaum, T., and Yuspa, S. H. (1996) Suspension-induced murine keratinocyte differentiation is mediated by calcium. J.Invest Dermatol. 106: 254 260.
- Lishmanov, A. Y., Maslov, L. N., Lasukova, T. V., Crawford, D., and Wong, T. M. (2007) Activation of kappa-opioid receptor as a method for prevention of ischemic and reperfusion arrhythmias: role of protein kinase C and K(ATP) channels. Bull.Exp.Biol.Med. 143: 187 - 190.
- Liu, X., Yan, S., Zhou, T., Terada, Y., and Erikson, R. L. (2004) The MAP kinase pathway is required for entry into mitosis and cell survival. Oncogene 23: 763 776.
- Lo, R. K. and Wong, Y. H. (2004) Signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 activation by the delta-opioid receptor via Galpha14 involves multiple intermediates. Mol Pharmacol 65: 1427 - 1439.
- Lumpkin, E. A. and Caterina, M. J. (2007) Mechanisms of sensory transduction in the skin. Nature 445: 858 - 865.
- Luttrell, L. M., Roudabush, F. L., Choy, E. W., Miller, W. E., Field, M. E. et al. (2001) Activation and targeting of extracellular signal-regulated kinases by beta-arrestin scaffolds. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A 98: 2449 - 2454.

- Maher, M. T., Flozak, A. S., Stocker, A. M., Chenn, A., and Gottardi, C. J. (2009) Activity of the beta-catenin phosphodestruction complex at cell-cell contacts is enhanced by cadherin-based adhesion. J.Cell Biol. 186: 219 228.
- Mansbridge, J. N. and Hanawalt, P. C. (1988) Role of transforming growth factor beta in the maturation of human epidermal keratinocytes. J.Invest Dermatol. 90: 336 341.
- Mansbridge, J. N., Knapp, A. M., and Strefling, A. M. (1984) Evidence for an alternative pathway of keratinocyte maturation in psoriasis from an antigen found in psoriatic but not normal epidermis. J.Invest Dermatol. 83: 296 301.
- Mansour, S. J., Matten, W. T., Hermann, A. S., Candia, J. M., Rong, S. et al. (1994) Transformation of mammalian cells by constitutively active MAP kinase kinase. Science 265: 966 - 970.
- Marczak, E. D., Jinsmaa, Y., Myers, P. H., Blankenship, T., Wilson, R. et al. (2009) Orally administered H-Dmt-Tic-Lys-NH-CH2-Ph (MZ-2), a potent mu/delta-opioid receptor antagonist, regulates obese-related factors in mice. Eur.J.Pharmacol. 616: 115 121.
- Marie, N., Aguila, B., Hasbi, A., Davis, A., Jauzac, P. et al. (2008) Different kinases desensitize the human delta-opioid receptor (hDOP-R) in the neuroblastoma cell line SK-N-BE upon peptidic and alkaloid agonists. Cell Signal. 20: 1209 1220.
- Marinari, B., Ballaro, C., Koster, M. I., Giustizieri, M. L., Moretti, F. et al. (2009) IKKalpha is a p63 transcriptional target involved in the pathogenesis of ectodermal dysplasias. J.Invest Dermatol. 129: 60 69.
- Marinissen, M. J. and Gutkind, J. S. (2001) G-protein-coupled receptors and signaling networks: emerging paradigms. Trends Pharmacol.Sci. 22: 368 376.
- Markkanen, P. M. and Petäjä-Repo, U. E. (2008) N-glycan-mediated quality control in the endoplasmic reticulum is required for the expression of correctly folded delta-opioid receptors at the cell surface. J Biol Chem 283: 29086 29098.
- Martin, W. R., Eades, C. G., Thompson, J. A., Huppler, R. E., and Gilbert, P. E. (1976) The effects of morphine- and nalorphine- like drugs in the nondependent and morphine-dependent chronic spinal dog. J.Pharmacol.Exp.Ther. 197: 517 532.
- Martin-Kleiner, I., Balog, T., and Gabrilovac, J. (2006) Signal transduction induced by opioids in immune cells: a review. Neuroimmunomodulation. 13: 1 7.
- Maslov, L. N., Lishmanov, Y. B., Oeltgen, P. R., Barzakh, E. I., Krylatov, A. V. et al. (2009) Activation of peripheral delta2 opioid receptors increases cardiac tolerance to ischemia/reperfusion injury Involvement of protein kinase C, NO-synthase, KATP channels and the autonomic nervous system. Life Sci. 84: 657 - 663.
- Matsubayashi, Y., Ebisuya, M., Honjoh, S., and Nishida, E. (2004) ERK activation propagates in epithelial cell sheets and regulates their migration during wound healing. Curr.Biol. 14: 731 735.
- Mayer, D. J. and Liebeskind, J. C. (1974) Pain reduction by focal electrical stimulation of the brain: an anatomical and behavioral analysis. Brain Res. 68: 73 93.

- Mayer, P., Tischmeyer, H., Jayasinghe, M., Bonnekoh, B., Gollnick, H. et al. (2000) A delta opioid receptor lacking the third cytoplasmic loop is generated by atypical mRNA processing in human malignomas. FEBS Lett. 480: 156 160.
- McCarthy, L., Wetzel, M., Sliker, J. K., Eisenstein, T. K., and Rogers, T. J. (2001) Opioids, opioid receptors, and the immune response. Drug Alcohol Depend. 62: 111 123.
- McCrea, P. D., Gu, D., and Balda, M. S. (2009) Junctional music that the nucleus hears: cellcell contact signaling and the modulation of gene activity. Cold Spring Harb.Perspect.Biol. 1
- McGrath, J. A., Eady, R. A. J., and Pope, F. M. (2004) Chapter 3 Anatomy and Organization of Human Skin. Seventh Edition: 3.1 3.84.
- McLennan, G. P., Kiss, A., Miyatake, M., Belcheva, M. M., Chambers, K. T. et al. (2008) Kappa opioids promote the proliferation of astrocytes via Gbetagamma and betaarrestin 2-dependent MAPK-mediated pathways. J.Neurochem. 107: 1753 - 1765.
- Menon, G. K., Grayson, S., and Elias, P. M. (1985) Ionic calcium reservoirs in mammalian epidermis: ultrastructural localization by ion-capture cytochemistry. J Invest Dermatol 84: 508 512.
- Menon, G. K., Elias, P. M., Lee, S. H., and Feingold, K. R. (1992) Localization of calcium in murine epidermis following disruption and repair of the permeability barrier. Cell Tissue Res. 270: 503 - 512.
- Menon, G. K. and Kligman, A. M. (2009) Barrier functions of human skin: a holistic view. Skin Pharmacol.Physiol 22: 178 189.
- Menter, J. M., Patta, A. M., Hollins, T. D., Moore, C. L., and Willis, I. (1998) Photoprotection of mammalian acid-soluble collagen by cuttlefish sepia melanin in vitro. Photochem.Photobiol. 68: 532 - 537.
- Menzebach, A., Hirsch, J., Hempelmann, G., and Welters, I. D. (2003) Effects of endogenous and synthetic opioid peptides on neutrophil function in vitro. Br.J.Anaesth. 91: 546 550.
- Meunier, J. C., Mollereau, C., Toll, L., Suaudeau, C., Moisand, C. et al. (1995) Isolation and structure of the endogenous agonist of opioid receptor-like ORL1 receptor. Nature 377: 532 535.
- Michaloglou, C., Vredeveld, L. C., Soengas, M. S., Denoyelle, C., Kuilman, T. et al. (2005) BRAFE600-associated senescence-like cell cycle arrest of human naevi. Nature 436: 720 - 724.
- Millar, S. E. (2002) Molecular mechanisms regulating hair follicle development. J.Invest Dermatol. 118: 216 225.
- Misery, L., Hermier, M., Staniek, V., Kanitakis, J., Gaudillere, A. et al. (1999) Congenital insensitivity to pain with anhidrosis: absence of substance P receptors in the skin. Br.J.Dermatol. 140: 190 191.

- Miyatake, M., Rubinstein, T. J., McLennan, G. P., Belcheva, M. M., and Coscia, C. J. (2009) Inhibition of EGF-induced ERK/MAP kinase-mediated astrocyte proliferation by mu opioids: integration of G protein and beta-arrestin 2-dependent pathways. J.Neurochem. 110: 662 - 674.
- Molina, P. E. (2002) Stress-specific opioid modulation of haemodynamic counter-regulation. Clin.Exp.Pharmacol.Physiol 29: 248 - 253.
- Mollereau, C., Parmentier, M., Mailleux, P., Butour, J. L., Moisand, C. et al. (1994) ORL1, a novel member of the opioid receptor family. Cloning, functional expression and localization. FEBS Lett. 341: 33 38.
- Mulder, K. W., Wang, X., Escriu, C., Ito, Y., Schwarz, R. F. et al. (2012) Diverse epigenetic strategies interact to control epidermal differentiation. Nat.Cell Biol. 14: 753 763.
- Muller, E. J., Williamson, L., Kolly, C., and Suter, M. M. (2008) Outside-in signaling through integrins and cadherins: a central mechanism to control epidermal growth and differentiation? J.Invest Dermatol. 128: 501 516.
- Murphy, L. O., MacKeigan, J. P., and Blenis, J. (2004) A network of immediate early gene products propagates subtle differences in mitogen-activated protein kinase signal amplitude and duration. Mol.Cell Biol. 24: 144 153.
- Mutolo, D., Bongianni, F., Einum, J., Dubuc, R., and Pantaleo, T. (2007) Opioid-induced depression in the lamprey respiratory network. Neuroscience 150: 720 729.
- Nagy, N. and McGrath, J. A. (2010) Blistering skin diseases: a bridge between dermatopathology and molecular biology. Histopathology 56: 91 99.
- Nakajima, K., Tamai, K., Yamazaki, T., Toyomaki, Y., Nakano, H. et al. (2008) Identification of Skn-1n, a splice variant induced by high calcium concentration and specifically expressed in normal human keratinocytes. J Invest Dermatol 128: 1336 -1339.
- Nakanishi, S., Inoue, A., Kita, T., Nakamura, M., Chang, A. C. et al. (1979) Nucleotide sequence of cloned cDNA for bovine corticotropin-beta-lipotropin precursor. Nature 278: 423 427.
- Narita, M., Kuzumaki, N., Miyatake, M., Sato, F., Wachi, H. et al. (2006) Role of deltaopioid receptor function in neurogenesis and neuroprotection. J.Neurochem. 97: 1494 - 1505.
- Natarajan, E., Omobono, J. D., Guo, Z., Hopkinson, S., Lazar, A. J. et al. (2006) A keratinocyte hypermotility/growth-arrest response involving laminin 5 and p16INK4A activated in wound healing and senescence. Am.J.Pathol. 168: 1821 -1837.
- Neumüller, R. A. and Knoblich, J. A. (2009) Dividing cellular asymmetry: asymmetric cell division and its implications for stem cells and cancer. Genes Dev. 23: 2675 2699.

- Nguyen, T. T., Scimeca, J. C., Filloux, C., Peraldi, P., Carpentier, J. L. et al. (1993) Coregulation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase, extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1, and the 90-kDa ribosomal S6 kinase in PC12 cells. Distinct effects of the neurotrophic factor, nerve growth factor, and the mitogenic factor, epidermal growth factor. J.Biol.Chem. 268: 9803 - 9810.
- Nissen, J. B. and Kragballe, K. (1997) Enkephalins modulate differentiation of normal human keratinocytes in vitro. Exp.Dermatol. 6: 222 229.
- Noda, M., Furutani, Y., Takahashi, H., Toyosato, M., Hirose, T. et al. (1982) Cloning and sequence analysis of cDNA for bovine adrenal preproenkephalin. Nature 295: 202 206.
- Nolte, S. V., Xu, W., Rennekampff, H. O., and Rodemann, H. P. (2008) Diversity of fibroblasts--a review on implications for skin tissue engineering. Cells Tissues.Organs 187: 165 176.
- Nurnberger, F., Lee, T. F., Jourdan, M. L., and Wang, L. C. (1991) Seasonal changes in methionine-enkephalin immunoreactivity in the brain of a hibernator, Spermophilus columbianus. Brain Res. 547: 115 - 121.
- Nyberg, F., Sanderson, K., and Glamsta, E. L. (1997) The hemorphins: a new class of opioid peptides derived from the blood protein hemoglobin. Biopolymers 43: 147 156.
- Okajima, F., Tomura, H., and Kondo, Y. (1993) Enkephalin activates the phospholipase C/Ca2+ system through cross-talk between opioid receptors and P2-purinergic or bradykinin receptors in NG 108-15 cells. A permissive role for pertussis toxinsensitive G-proteins. Biochem.J. 290 (Pt 1): 241 - 247.
- Okura, T., Varga, E. V., Hosohata, Y., Navratilova, E., Cowell, S. M. et al. (2003) Agonistspecific down-regulation of the human delta-opioid receptor. Eur.J.Pharmacol. 459: 9 - 16.
- Okuyama, R., Nguyen, B. C., Talora, C., Ogawa, E., Tommasi, d., V et al. (2004) High commitment of embryonic keratinocytes to terminal differentiation through a Notch1-caspase 3 regulatory mechanism. Dev.Cell 6: 551 562.
- Ordaz-Sanchez, I., Weber, R. J., Rice, K. C., Zhang, X., Rodriguez-Padilla, C. et al. (2003) Chemotaxis of human and rat leukocytes by the delta-selective non-peptidic opioid SNC 80. Rev.Latinoam.Microbiol. 45: 16 - 23.
- Ozarda, I. Y., Ozyurt, G., Kilicturgay, S., Uncu, G., and Ulus, I. H. (2002) The decline in serum choline concentration in humans during and after surgery is associated with the elevation of cortisol, adrenocorticotropic hormone, prolactin and beta-endorphin concentrations. Neurosci.Lett. 324: 41 44.
- Parenty, G., Appelbe, S., and Milligan, G. (2008) CXCR2 chemokine receptor antagonism enhances DOP opioid receptor function via allosteric regulation of the CXCR2-DOP receptor heterodimer. Biochem.J. 412: 245 - 256.

- Parrish, E. P., Steart, P. V., Garrod, D. R., and Weller, R. O. (1987) Antidesmosomal monoclonal antibody in the diagnosis of intracranial tumours. J.Pathol. 153: 265 -273.
- Partridge, M., Green, M. R., Langdon, J. D., and Feldmann, M. (1989) Production of TGFalpha and TGF-beta by cultured keratinocytes, skin and oral squamous cell carcinomas--potential autocrine regulation of normal and malignant epithelial cell proliferation. Br.J.Cancer 60: 542 - 548.
- Pattinson, K. T. (2008) Opioids and the control of respiration. Br.J.Anaesth. 100: 747 758.
- Petäjä-Repo, U. E., Hogue, M., Laperriere, A., Walker, P., and Bouvier, M. (2000) Export from the endoplasmic reticulum represents the limiting step in the maturation and cell surface expression of the human delta opioid receptor. J Biol Chem 275: 13727 -13736.
- Petäjä-Repo, U. E., Hogue, M., Laperriere, A., Bhalla, S., Walker, P. et al. (2001) Newly synthesized human delta opioid receptors retained in the endoplasmic reticulum are retrotranslocated to the cytosol, deglycosylated, ubiquitinated, and degraded by the proteasome. J Biol Chem 276: 4416 4423.
- Petäjä-Repo, U. E., Hogue, M., Leskelä, T. T., Markkanen, P. M., Tuusa, J. T. et al. (2006) Distinct subcellular localization for constitutive and agonist-modulated palmitoylation of the human delta opioid receptor. J Biol Chem 281: 15780 - 15789.
- Peart, J. N., Gross, E. R., and Gross, G. J. (2005) Opioid-induced preconditioning: recent advances and future perspectives. Vascul.Pharmacol. 42: 211 218.
- Pello, O. M., Martinez-Munoz, L., Parrillas, V., Serrano, A., Rodriguez-Frade, J. M. et al. (2008) Ligand stabilization of CXCR4/delta-opioid receptor heterodimers reveals a mechanism for immune response regulation. Eur.J.Immunol. 38: 537 - 549.
- Pelton, R. W., Nomura, S., Moses, H. L., and Hogan, B. L. (1989) Expression of transforming growth factor beta 2 RNA during murine embryogenesis. Development 106: 759 - 767.
- Perez-Moreno, M., Jamora, C., and Fuchs, E. (2003) Sticky business: orchestrating cellular signals at adherens junctions. Cell 112: 535 548.
- Perlson, E., Hanz, S., Ben-Yaakov, K., Segal-Ruder, Y., Seger, R. et al. (2005) Vimentindependent spatial translocation of an activated MAP kinase in injured nerve. Neuron 45: 715 - 726.
- Persson, A. I., Thorlin, T., Bull, C., and Eriksson, P. S. (2003) Opioid-induced proliferation through the MAPK pathway in cultures of adult hippocampal progenitors. Mol.Cell Neurosci. 23: 360 - 372.
- Pert, A. and Yaksh, T. (1974) Sites of morphine induced analgesia in the primate brain: relation to pain pathways. Brain Res. 80: 135 140.
- Pert, A. and Yaksh, T. (1975) Localization of the antinociceptive action of morphine in primate brain. Pharmacol.Biochem.Behav. 3: 133 138.

- Pert, C.B. and Snyder, S. H. (1973) Opiate receptor: demonstration in nervous tissue. Science 179: 1011 1014.
- Peukert, K., Staller, P., Schneider, A., Carmichael, G., Hanel, F. et al. (1997) An alternative pathway for gene regulation by Myc. EMBO J. 16: 5672 5686.
- Pierce, K. L., Luttrell, L. M., and Lefkowitz, R. J. (2001) New mechanisms in heptahelical receptor signaling to mitogen activated protein kinase cascades. Oncogene 20: 1532 1539.
- Pincelli, C., Fantini, F., and Giannetti, A. (1994) Nerve growth factor and the skin. Int.J.Dermatol. 33: 308 - 312.
- Pillai, S., Bikle, D. D., Eessalu, T. E., Aggarwal, B. B., and Elias, P. M. (1989) Binding and biological effects of tumor necrosis factor alpha on cultured human neonatal foreskin keratinocytes. J.Clin.Invest 83: 816 - 821.
- Piros, E. T., Prather, P. L., Law, P. Y., Evans, C. J., and Hales, T. G. (1996) Voltagedependent inhibition of Ca2+ channels in GH3 cells by cloned mu- and delta-opioid receptors. Mol Pharmacol 50: 947 - 956.
- Pitonzo, D., Yang, Z., Matsumura, Y., Johnson, A. E., and Skach, W. R. (2009) Sequencespecific retention and regulated integration of a nascent membrane protein by the endoplasmic reticulum Sec61 translocon. Mol.Biol.Cell 20: 685 - 698.
- Pittelkow, M. R., Cook, P. W., Shipley, G. D., Derynck, R., and Coffey, R. J., Jr. (1993) Autonomous growth of human keratinocytes requires epidermal growth factor receptor occupancy. Cell Growth Differ. 4: 513 - 521.
- Plotnikov, A., Zehorai, E., Procaccia, S., and Seger, R. (2011) The MAPK cascades: signaling components, nuclear roles and mechanisms of nuclear translocation. Biochim.Biophys.Acta 1813: 1619 - 1633.
- Poderoso, C., Converso, D. P., Maloberti, P., Duarte, A., Neuman, I. et al. (2008) A mitochondrial kinase complex is essential to mediate an ERK1/2-dependent phosphorylation of a key regulatory protein in steroid biosynthesis. PLoS.One. 3: e1443
- Porter, R. M., Leitgeb, S., Melton, D. W., Swensson, O., Eady, R. A. et al. (1996) Gene targeting at the mouse cytokeratin 10 locus: severe skin fragility and changes of cytokeratin expression in the epidermis. J.Cell Biol. 132: 925 936.
- Potten, C. S. (1981) Cell replacement in epidermis (keratopoiesis) via discrete units of proliferation. Int.Rev.Cytol. 69: 271 318.
- Poulson, N. D. and Lechler, T. (2010) Robust control of mitotic spindle orientation in the developing epidermis. J.Cell Biol. 191: 915 922.
- Provitera, V., Nolano, M., Pagano, A., Caporaso, G., Stancanelli, A. et al. (2007) Myelinated nerve endings in human skin. Muscle Nerve 35: 767 775.

- Przewlocki, R. (2004) Opioid abuse and brain gene expression. Eur.J.Pharmacol. 500: 331 349.
- Pullikuth, A. K. and Catling, A. D. (2007) Scaffold mediated regulation of MAPK signaling and cytoskeletal dynamics: a perspective. Cell Signal. 19: 1621 1632.
- Qiu, C., Sora, I., Ren, K., Uhl, G., and Dubner, R. (2000) Enhanced delta-opioid receptormediated antinociception in mu-opioid receptor-deficient mice. Eur J Pharmacol 387: 163 - 169.
- Quaglio, G. L., Lugoboni, F., Pajusco, B., Sarti, M., Talamini, G. et al. (2003) Hepatitis C virus infection: prevalence, predictor variables and prevention opportunities among drug users in Italy. J.Viral Hepat. 10: 394 400.
- Raman, M. and Cobb, M. H. (2003) MAP kinase modules: many roads home. Curr.Biol. 13: R886 R888.
- Rangarajan, A., Talora, C., Okuyama, R., Nicolas, M., Mammucari, C. et al. (2001) Notch signaling is a direct determinant of keratinocyte growth arrest and entry into differentiation. EMBO J. 20: 3427 - 3436.
- Ranzato, E., Mazzucco, L., Patrone, M., and Burlando, B. (2009) Platelet lysate promotes in vitro wound scratch closure of human dermal fibroblasts: different roles of cell calcium, P38, ERK and PI3K/AKT. J Cell Mol Med 13: 2030 - 2038.
- Rapaka, R. S. and Porreca, F. (1991) Development of delta opioid peptides as nonaddicting analgesics. Pharm.Res. 8: 1 8.
- Ray, L. B. and Sturgill, T. W. (1988) Characterization of insulin-stimulated microtubuleassociated protein kinase. Rapid isolation and stabilization of a novel serine/threonine kinase from 3T3-L1 cells. J.Biol.Chem. 263: 12721 - 12727.
- Reichelt, J., Bauer, C., Porter, R., Lane, E., and Magin, V. (1997) Out of balance: consequences of a partial keratin 10 knockout. J.Cell Sci. 110 (Pt 18): 2175 2186.
- Reichelt, J., Furstenberger, G., and Magin, T. M. (2004) Loss of keratin 10 leads to mitogenactivated protein kinase (MAPK) activation, increased keratinocyte turnover, and decreased tumor formation in mice. J.Invest Dermatol. 123: 973 - 981.
- Reichelt, J. and Magin, T. M. (2002) Hyperproliferation, induction of c-Myc and 14-3-3sigma, but no cell fragility in keratin-10-null mice. J.Cell Sci. 115: 2639 - 2650.
- Reinscheid, R. K., Nothacker, H. P., Bourson, A., Ardati, A., Henningsen, R. A. et al. (1995) Orphanin FQ: a neuropeptide that activates an opioidlike G protein-coupled receptor. Science 270: 792 - 794.
- Rheinwald, J. G., Hahn, W. C., Ramsey, M. R., Wu, J. Y., Guo, Z. et al. (2002) A two-stage, p16(INK4A)- and p53-dependent keratinocyte senescence mechanism that limits replicative potential independent of telomere status. Mol.Cell Biol. 22: 5157 5172.
- Rios, C., Gomes, I., and Devi, L. A. (2004) Interactions between delta opioid receptors and alpha-adrenoceptors. Clin.Exp.Pharmacol.Physiol 31: 833 836.

- Ritter, S. L. and Hall, R. A. (2009) Fine-tuning of GPCR activity by receptor-interacting proteins. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 10: 819 830.
- Rola, R., Jarkiewicz, M., and Szulczyk, P. (2008) Modulation of Ca2+ channel current by mu opioid receptors in prefrontal cortex pyramidal neurons in rats. Acta Neurobiol.Exp.(Wars.) 68: 10 25.
- Romani, N., Brunner, P. M., and Stingl, G. (2012) Changing views of the role of Langerhans cells. J.Invest Dermatol. 132: 872 881.
- Rook, J. M., Hasan, W., and McCarson, K. E. (2008) Temporal effects of topical morphine application on cutaneous wound healing. Anesthesiology 109: 130 136.
- Rook, J. M., Hasan, W., and McCarson, K. E. (2009) Morphine-induced early delays in wound closure: involvement of sensory neuropeptides and modification of neurokinin receptor expression. Biochem.Pharmacol. 77: 1747 - 1755.
- Rook, J. M. and McCarson, K. E. (2007) Delay of cutaneous wound closure by morphine via local blockade of peripheral tachykinin release. Biochem.Pharmacol. 74: 752 757.
- Roosterman, D., Goerge, T., Schneider, S. W., Bunnett, N. W., and Steinhoff, M. (2006) Neuronal control of skin function: the skin as a neuroimmunoendocrine organ. Physiol Rev 86: 1309 - 1379.
- Rozenfeld, R. and Devi, L. A. (2007) Receptor heterodimerization leads to a switch in signaling: beta-arrestin2-mediated ERK activation by mu-delta opioid receptor heterodimers. FASEB J 21: 2455 2465.
- Ruiz, S., Santos, M., Segrelles, C., Leis, H., Jorcano, J. L. et al. (2004) Unique and overlapping functions of pRb and p107 in the control of proliferation and differentiation in epidermis. Development 131: 2737 2748.
- Ryan, A. K. and Rosenfeld, M. G. (1997) POU domain family values: flexibility, partnerships, and developmental codes. Genes Dev 11: 1207 1225.
- Sahyoun, N., McDonald, O. B., Farrell, F., and Lapetina, E. G. (1991) Phosphorylation of a Ras-related GTP-binding protein, Rap-1b, by a neuronal Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinase, CaM kinase Gr. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A 88: 2643 2647.
- Saitoh, A., Yoshikawa, Y., Onodera, K., and Kamei, J. (2005) Role of delta-opioid receptor subtypes in anxiety-related behaviors in the elevated plus-maze in rats. Psychopharmacology (Berl) 182: 327 334.
- Salemi, S., Aeschlimann, A., Reisch, N., Jungel, A., Gay, R. E. et al. (2005) Detection of kappa and delta opioid receptors in skin--outside the nervous system. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 338: 1012 - 1017.
- Samways, D. S. and Henderson, G. (2006) Opioid elevation of intracellular free calcium: possible mechanisms and physiological relevance. Cell Signal. 18: 151 161.

- Sappino, A. P., Schurch, W., and Gabbiani, G. (1990) Differentiation repertoire of fibroblastic cells: expression of cytoskeletal proteins as marker of phenotypic modulations. Lab Invest 63: 144 - 161.
- Schauer, E., Trautinger, F., Kock, A., Schwarz, A., Bhardwaj, R. et al. (1994) Proopiomelanocortin-derived peptides are synthesized and released by human keratinocytes. J.Clin.Invest 93: 2258 - 2262.
- Saraceno, R., Kleyn, C. E., Terenghi, G., and Griffiths, C. E. (2006) The role of neuropeptides in psoriasis. Br.J.Dermatol. 155: 876 882.
- Scherrer, G., Imamachi, N., Cao, Y. Q., Contet, C., Mennicken, F. et al. (2009) Dissociation of the opioid receptor mechanisms that control mechanical and heat pain. Cell 137: 1148 - 1159.
- Schmidt, A. and Koch, P. J. (2007) Desmosomes: just cell adhesion or is there more? Cell Adh.Migr. 1: 28 32.
- Schneider, A., Peukert, K., Eilers, M., and Hanel, F. (1997) Association of Myc with the zinc-finger protein Miz-1 defines a novel pathway for gene regulation by Myc. Curr.Top.Microbiol.Immunol. 224: 137 146.
- Schoop, V. M., Mirancea, N., and Fusenig, N. E. (1999) Epidermal organization and differentiation of HaCaT keratinocytes in organotypic coculture with human dermal fibroblasts. J Invest Dermatol 112: 343 - 353.
- Scott, M. G., Pierotti, V., Storez, H., Lindberg, E., Thuret, A. et al. (2006) Cooperative regulation of extracellular signal-regulated kinase activation and cell shape change by filamin A and beta-arrestins. Mol.Cell Biol. 26: 3432 3445.
- Segil, N., Roberts, S. B., and Heintz, N. (1991) Mitotic phosphorylation of the Oct-1 homeodomain and regulation of Oct-1 DNA binding activity. Science 254: 1814 -1816.
- Shahabi, N. A., McAllen, K., and Sharp, B. M. (2006) delta opioid receptors stimulate Aktdependent phosphorylation of c-jun in T cells. J Pharmacol Exp Ther 316: 933 - 939.
- Sharma, G. D., He, J., and Bazan, H. E. (2003b) p38 and ERK1/2 coordinate cellular migration and proliferation in epithelial wound healing: evidence of cross-talk activation between MAP kinase cascades. J Biol Chem 278: 21989 21997.
- Sharma, G. D., He, J., and Bazan, H. E. (2003a) p38 and ERK1/2 coordinate cellular migration and proliferation in epithelial wound healing: evidence of cross-talk activation between MAP kinase cascades. J.Biol.Chem. 278: 21989 21997.
- Sharpe,G.R., Fisher, C., Gillespie, J. I., and Greenwell, J. R. (1993) Growth and differentiation stimuli induce different and distinct increases in intracellular free calcium in human keratinocytes. Arch.Dermatol.Res. 284: 445 450.
- Sharpe, G. R., Gillespie, J. I., and Greenwell, J. R. (1989) An increase in intracellular free calcium is an early event during differentiation of cultured human keratinocytes. FEBS Lett. 254: 25 - 28.

- Shaul, Y. D., Gibor, G., Plotnikov, A., and Seger, R. (2009) Specific phosphorylation and activation of ERK1c by MEK1b: a unique route in the ERK cascade. Genes Dev. 23: 1779 - 1790.
- Shaul, Y. D. and Seger, R. (2006) ERK1c regulates Golgi fragmentation during mitosis. J.Cell Biol. 172: 885 897.
- Shaul, Y. D. and Seger, R. (2007) The MEK/ERK cascade: from signaling specificity to diverse functions. Biochim.Biophys.Acta 1773: 1213 1226.
- Simon, E. J., Hiller, J. M., and Edelman, I. (1973) Stereospecific binding of the potent narcotic analgesic (3H) Etorphine to rat-brain homogenate. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A 70: 1947 1949.
- Simonin, F., Valverde, O., Smadja, C., Slowe, S., Kitchen, I. et al. (1998) Disruption of the kappa-opioid receptor gene in mice enhances sensitivity to chemical visceral pain, impairs pharmacological actions of the selective kappa-agonist U-50,488H and attenuates morphine withdrawal. EMBO J. 17: 886 - 897.
- Singer, A. J. and Clark, R. A. (1999) Cutaneous wound healing. N.Engl.J.Med. 341: 738 746.
- Slominski, A., Tobin, D. J., Shibahara, S., and Wortsman, J. (2004) Melanin pigmentation in mammalian skin and its hormonal regulation. Physiol Rev. 84: 1155 1228.
- Slominski, A., Wortsman, J., Mazurkiewicz, J. E., Matsuoka, L., Dietrich, J. et al. (1993) Detection of proopiomelanocortin-derived antigens in normal and pathologic human skin. J.Lab Clin.Med. 122: 658 - 666.
- Slominski, A. T., Wortsman, J., Luger, T., Paus, R., and Solomon, S. (2000) Corticotropin releasing hormone and proopiomelanocortin involvement in the cutaneous response to stress. Physiol Rev. 80: 979 - 1020.
- Slominski,A.T., Zmijewski, M. A., Zbytek, B., Brozyna, A. A., Granese, J. et al. (2011) Regulated proenkephalin expression in human skin and cultured skin cells. J.Invest Dermatol. 131: 613 - 622.
- Slominski, A. T., Zmijewski, M. A., Skobowiat, C., Zbytek, B., Slominski, R. M. et al. (2012) Sensing the environment: regulation of local and global homeostasis by the skin's neuroendocrine system. Adv.Anat.Embryol.Cell Biol. 212: v - 115.
- Solly, K., Wang, X., Xu, X., Strulovici, B., and Zheng, W. (2004) Application of real-time cell electronic sensing (RT-CES) technology to cell-based assays. Assay.Drug Dev.Technol. 2: 363 372.
- Soloaga, A., Thomson, S., Wiggin, G. R., Rampersaud, N., Dyson, M. H. et al. (2003) MSK2 and MSK1 mediate the mitogen- and stress-induced phosphorylation of histone H3 and HMG-14. EMBO J. 22: 2788 - 2797.
- Solomon, C., Kremer, R., White, J. H., and Rhim, J. S. (2001) Vitamin D resistance in RAStransformed keratinocytes: mechanism and reversal strategies. Radiat.Res. 155: 156 -162.

- Sora, I., Li, X. F., Funada, M., Kinsey, S., and Uhl, G. R. (1999) Visceral chemical nociception in mice lacking mu-opioid receptors: effects of morphine, SNC80 and U-50,488. Eur.J.Pharmacol. 366: R3 R5.
- Sora, I., Takahashi, N., Funada, M., Ujike, H., Revay, R. S. et al. (1997) Opiate receptor knockout mice define mu receptor roles in endogenous nociceptive responses and morphine-induced analgesia. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A 94: 1544 - 1549.
- Sorrell, J. M. and Caplan, A. I. (2004) Fibroblast heterogeneity: more than skin deep. J.Cell Sci. 117: 667 675.
- Sorrell, J. M. and Caplan, A. I. (2009) Fibroblasts-a diverse population at the center of it all. Int.Rev.Cell Mol.Biol. 276: 161 - 214.
- Spampinato, S. and Goldstein, A. (1983) Immunoreactive dynorphin in rat tissues and plasma. Neuropeptides 3: 193 212.
- Spaniol, P., Bornmann, C., Hauptmann, G., and Gerster, T. (1996) Class III POU genes of zebrafish are predominantly expressed in the central nervous system. Nucleic Acids Res. 24: 4874 4881.
- Spencer, R. J., Jin, W., Thayer, S. A., Chakrabarti, S., Law, P. Y. et al. (1997) Mobilization of Ca2+ from intracellular stores in transfected neuro2a cells by activation of multiple opioid receptor subtypes. Biochem Pharmacol 54: 809 818.
- Staiano-Coico, L., Khandke, L., Krane, J. F., Sharif, S., Gottlieb, A. B. et al. (1990) TGFalpha and TGF-beta expression during sodium-N-butyrate-induced differentiation of human keratinocytes: evidence for subpopulation-specific up-regulation of TGF-beta mRNA in suprabasal cells. Exp.Cell Res. 191: 286 - 291.
- Stark, H. J., Baur, M., Breitkreutz, D., Mirancea, N., and Fusenig, N. E. (1999) Organotypic keratinocyte cocultures in defined medium with regular epidermal morphogenesis and differentiation. J Invest Dermatol 112: 681 - 691.
- Steele, P. A., Aromataris, E. C., and Riederer, B. M. (1996) Endogenous opioid peptides in parasympathetic, sympathetic and sensory nerves in the guinea-pig heart. Cell Tissue Res. 284: 331 - 339.
- Sturgill, T. W., Ray, L. B., Erikson, E., and Maller, J. L. (1988) Insulin-stimulated MAP-2 kinase phosphorylates and activates ribosomal protein S6 kinase II. Nature 334: 715 -718.
- Sugihara, T. M., Kudryavtseva, E. I., Kumar, V., Horridge, J. J., and Andersen, B. (2001) The POU domain factor Skin-1a represses the keratin 14 promoter independent of DNA binding. A possible role for interactions between Skn-1a and CREB-binding protein/p300. J Biol Chem 276: 33036 - 33044.
- Suomela, S., Kariniemi, A. L., Snellman, E., and Saarialho-Kere, U. (2001) Metalloelastase (MMP-12) and 92-kDa gelatinase (MMP-9) as well as their inhibitors, TIMP-1 and 3, are expressed in psoriatic lesions. Exp.Dermatol. 10: 175 183.

- Suzuki, S., Chuang, L. F., Yau, P., Doi, R. H., and Chuang, R. Y. (2002) Interactions of opioid and chemokine receptors: oligomerization of mu, kappa, and delta with CCR5 on immune cells. Exp.Cell Res. 280: 192 - 200.
- Szabo, I., Rojavin, M., Bussiere, J. L., Eisenstein, T. K., Adler, M. W. et al. (1993) Suppression of peritoneal macrophage phagocytosis of Candida albicans by opioids. J.Pharmacol.Exp.Ther. 267: 703 - 706.
- Taddese, S., Jung, M. C., Ihling, C., Heinz, A., Neubert, R. H. et al. (2010) MMP-12 catalytic domain recognizes and cleaves at multiple sites in human skin collagen type I and type III. Biochim.Biophys.Acta 1804: 731 - 739.
- Takahashi, H., Ibe, M., Nakamura, S., Ishida-Yamamoto, A., Hashimoto, Y. et al. (2002) Extracellular regulated kinase and c-Jun N-terminal kinase are activated in psoriatic involved epidermis. J.Dermatol.Sci. 30: 94 - 99.
- Takahashi, K., Nakanishi, S., and Imamura, S. (1993) Direct effects of cutaneous neuropeptides on adenylyl cyclase activity and proliferation in a keratinocyte cell line: stimulation of cyclic AMP formation by CGRP and VIP/PHM, and inhibition by NPY through G protein-coupled receptors. J.Invest Dermatol. 101: 646 - 651.Takeda,K., Takeuchi, O., Tsujimura, T., Itami, S., Adachi, O. et al. (1999) Limb and skin abnormalities in mice lacking IKKalpha. Science 284: 313 - 316.
- Takeda, K., Takeuchi, O., Tsujimura, T., Itami, S., Adachi, O. et al. (1999) Limb and skin abnormalities in mice lacking IKKalpha. Science 284: 313 316.
- Takemoto, H., Tamai, K., Akasaka, E., Rokunohe, D., Takiyoshi, N. et al. (2010) Relation between the expression levels of the POU transcription factors Skn-1a and Skn-1n and keratinocyte differentiation. J Dermatol Sci 60: 203 205.
- Tamura, Y., Simizu, S., and Osada, H. (2004) The phosphorylation status and anti-apoptotic activity of Bcl-2 are regulated by ERK and protein phosphatase 2A on the mitochondria. FEBS Lett. 569: 249 - 255.
- Terenius, L. (1973) Stereospecific interaction between narcotic analgesics and a synaptic plasma membrane fraction of rat cerebral cortex. Acta Pharmacol.Toxicol.(Copenh) 32: 317 320.
- Terskiy, A., Wannemacher, K. M., Yadav, P. N., Tsai, M., Tian, B. et al. (2007) Search of the human proteome for endomorphin-1 and endomorphin-2 precursor proteins. Life Sci. 81: 1593 1601.
- Thelu, J., Rossio, P., and Favier, B. (2002) Notch signalling is linked to epidermal cell differentiation level in basal cell carcinoma, psoriasis and wound healing. BMC Dermatol 2:
- Thomason, H. A., Cooper, N. H., Ansell, D. M., Chiu, M., Merrit, A. J. et al. (2012) Direct evidence that PKCalpha positively regulates wound re-epithelialization: correlation with changes in desmosomal adhesiveness. J.Pathol. 227: 346 356.

- Thorlin, T., Eriksson, P. S., Persson, P. A., Aberg, N. D., Hansson, E. et al. (1998) Deltaopioid receptors on astroglial cells in primary culture: mobilization of intracellular free calcium via a pertussis sensitive G protein. Neuropharmacology 37: 299 - 311.
- Tobin, D. J. and Kauser, S. (2005) Beta-endorphin: the forgotten hair follicle melanotropin. J.Investig.Dermatol.Symp.Proc. 10: 212 216.
- Tohgo, A., Pierce, K. L., Choy, E. W., Lefkowitz, R. J., and Luttrell, L. M. (2002) beta-Arrestin scaffolding of the ERK cascade enhances cytosolic ERK activity but inhibits ERK-mediated transcription following angiotensin AT1a receptor stimulation. J.Biol.Chem. 277: 9429 - 9436.
- Tominaga, M., Ogawa, H., and Takamori, K. (2007) Possible roles of epidermal opioid systems in pruritus of atopic dermatitis. J.Invest Dermatol. 127: 2228 2235.
- Toriseva, M., Laato, M., Carpen, O., Ruohonen, S. T., Savontaus, E. et al. (2012) MMP-13 regulates growth of wound granulation tissue and modulates gene expression signatures involved in inflammation, proteolysis, and cell viability. PLoS.One. 7: e42596
- Toyoda, M., Nakamura, M., and Morohashi, M. (2002) Neuropeptides and sebaceous glands. Eur.J.Dermatol. 12: 422 - 427.
- Traverse, S., Seedorf, K., Paterson, H., Marshall, C. J., Cohen, P. et al. (1994) EGF triggers neuronal differentiation of PC12 cells that overexpress the EGF receptor. Curr.Biol. 4: 694 - 701.
- Trefzer, U., Brockhaus, M., Loetscher, H., Parlow, F., Kapp, A. et al. (1991) 55-kd tumor necrosis factor receptor is expressed by human keratinocytes and plays a pivotal role in regulation of human keratinocyte ICAM-1 expression. J.Invest Dermatol. 97: 911 -916.
- Treisman, R. (1996) Regulation of transcription by MAP kinase cascades. Curr.Opin.Cell Biol. 8: 205 215.
- Troullos, E., Hargreaves, K. M., and Dionne, R. A. (1997) Ibuprofen elevates immunoreactive beta-endorphin levels in humans during surgical stress. Clin.Pharmacol.Ther. 62: 74 - 81.
- Tsou, K. and Jang, C. S. (1964) Studies on the site of analgesic action of morphine by intracerebral micro-injection. Sci.Sin. 13: 1099 1109.
- Tsuruta, D., Green, K. J., Getsios, S., and Jones, J. C. (2002) The barrier function of skin: how to keep a tight lid on water loss. Trends Cell Biol. 12: 355 357.
- Tuusa, J. T., Markkanen, P. M., Apaja, P. M., Hakalahti, A. E., and Petäjä-Repo, U. E. (2007) The endoplasmic reticulum Ca2+-pump SERCA2b interacts with G protein-coupled receptors and enhances their expression at the cell surface. J Mol Biol 371: 622 - 638.
- Tuusa, J. T., Leskela, T. T., and Petäjä-Repo, U. E. (2010) Human delta opioid receptor biogenesis is regulated via interactions with SERCA2b and calnexin. FEBS J 277: 2815 - 2829.

- Ulmann, L., Rodeau, J. L., Danoux, L., Contet-Audonneau, J. L., Pauly, G. et al. (2009) Dehydroepiandrosterone and neurotrophins favor axonal growth in a sensory neuronkeratinocyte coculture model. Neuroscience 159: 514 - 525.
- Utikal, J., Polo, J. M., Stadtfeld, M., Maherali, N., Kulalert, W. et al. (2009) Immortalization eliminates a roadblock during cellular reprogramming into iPS cells. Nature 460: 1145 1148.
- Valacchi, G., Sticozzi, C., Pecorelli, A., Cervellati, F., Cervellati, C. et al. (2012) Cutaneous responses to environmental stressors. Ann.N.Y.Acad.Sci. 1271: 75 81.
- Vaughan, M. B., Howard, E. W., and Tomasek, J. J. (2000) Transforming growth factorbeta1 promotes the morphological and functional differentiation of the myofibroblast. Exp.Cell Res. 257: 180 - 189.
- Wallace, L., Roberts-Thompson, L., and Reichelt, J. (2012) Deletion of K1/K10 does not impair epidermal stratification but affects desmosomal structure and nuclear integrity. J.Cell Sci. 125: 1750 - 1758.
- Wang, D., Wang, H., Wu, G., Yang, Y., Yang, J. et al. (2009) Protein kinase C mediates the effects of delta-opioid receptor stimulation on survival and apoptosis in neonatal cardiomyocytes cultured in serum-deprived condition. Pharmazie 64: 466 471.
- Wang, G. Y., Wu, S., Pei, J. M., Yu, X. C., and Wong, T. M. (2001) Kappa- but not deltaopioid receptors mediate effects of ischemic preconditioning on both infarct and arrhythmia in rats. Am.J.Physiol Heart Circ.Physiol 280: H384 - H391.
- Wang, H. B., Zhao, B., Zhong, Y. Q., Li, K. C., Li, Z. Y. et al. (2010) Coexpression of deltaand mu-opioid receptors in nociceptive sensory neurons. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A 107: 13117 - 13122.
- Wang, J., Barke, R. A., Charboneau, R., Loh, H. H., and Roy, S. (2003) Morphine negatively regulates interferon-gamma promoter activity in activated murine T cells through two distinct cyclic AMP-dependent pathways. J.Biol.Chem. 278: 37622 - 37631.
- Wang, J. F., Shun, X. J., Yang, H. F., Ren, M. F., and Han, J. S. (1993) Suppression by [D-Pen2, D-Pen5]enkephalin on cyclic AMP dependent protein kinase-induced, but not protein kinase C-induced increment of intracellular free calcium in NG108-15 cells. Life Sci. 52: 1519 1525.
- Wang, X., Pasolli, H. A., Williams, T., and Fuchs, E. (2008) AP-2 factors act in concert with Notch to orchestrate terminal differentiation in skin epidermis. J.Cell Biol. 183: 37 -48.
- Watson, A., Morris, V. L., and Chan, B. M. (2009) Coordinated integrin and growth factor regulation of primary keratinocyte migration mediated through extracellular signal regulated kinase and phosphoinositide 3-kinase. Arch.Dermatol.Res. 301: 307 317.
- Watt, F. M. (2002) Role of integrins in regulating epidermal adhesion, growth and differentiation. EMBO J. 21: 3919 3926.

- Watt, F. M., Frye, M., and Benitah, S. A. (2008) MYC in mammalian epidermis: how can an oncogene stimulate differentiation? Nat.Rev.Cancer 8: 234 242.
- Weihe, E., McKnight, A. T., Corbett, A. D., Hartschuh, W., Reinecke, M. et al. (1983) Characterization of opioid peptides in guinea-pig heart and skin. Life Sci. 33 Suppl 1: 711 - 714.
- Weihe, E., McKnight, A. T., Corbett, A. D., and Kosterlitz, H. W. (1985) Proenkephalin- and prodynorphin- derived opioid peptides in guinea-pig heart. Neuropeptides 5: 453 -456.
- Welter, J. F., Gali, H., Crish, J. F., and Eckert, R. L. (1996) Regulation of human involucrin promoter activity by POU domain proteins. J.Biol.Chem. 271: 14727 14733.
- Welters, I. D., Menzebach, A., Goumon, Y., Langefeld, T. W., Teschemacher, H. et al. (2000) Morphine suppresses complement receptor expression, phagocytosis, and respiratory burst in neutrophils by a nitric oxide and mu(3) opiate receptor-dependent mechanism. J.Neuroimmunol. 111: 139 - 145.
- Wenk, H. N. and Honda, C. N. (1999) Immunohistochemical localization of delta opioid receptors in peripheral tissues. J Comp Neurol 408: 567 579.
- Wintzen, M., de, W. S., Out-Luiting, J. J., van Duinen, S. G., and Vermeer, B. J. (2001) Presence of immunoreactive beta-endorphin in human skin. Exp.Dermatol. 10: 305 -311.
- Wolf, N. B., Kuchler, S., Radowski, M. R., Blaschke, T., Kramer, K. D. et al. (2009) Influences of opioids and nanoparticles on in vitro wound healing models. Eur.J.Pharm.Biopharm. 73: 34 - 42.
- Wortzel, I. and Seger, R. (2011) The ERK Cascade: Distinct Functions within Various Subcellular Organelles. Genes Cancer 2: 195 209.
- Wu, N., Rollin, J., Masse, I., Lamartine, J., and Gidrol, X. (2012) p63 regulates human keratinocyte proliferation via MYC-regulated gene network and differentiation commitment through cell adhesion-related gene network. J.Biol.Chem. 287: 5627 -5638.
- Yang, J. Y., Michod, D., Walicki, J., Murphy, B. M., Kasibhatla, S. et al. (2004) Partial cleavage of RasGAP by caspases is required for cell survival in mild stress conditions. Mol.Cell Biol. 24: 10425 - 10436.
- Yano, S., Komine, M., Fujimoto, M., Okochi, H., and Tamaki, K. (2004) Mechanical stretching in vitro regulates signal transduction pathways and cellular proliferation in human epidermal keratinocytes. J.Invest Dermatol. 122: 783 - 790.
- Yasuda, K., Raynor, K., Kong, H., Breder, C. D., Takeda, J. et al. (1993) Cloning and functional comparison of kappa and delta opioid receptors from mouse brain. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A 90: 6736 - 6740.
- Ye, Z. C. and Cai, Y. P. (1995) Changes of opioid contents in brain and plasma through the hibernation bout cycle of ground squirrels. Sheng Li Xue.Bao. 47: 610 614.

- Yeo, A., Samways, D. S., Fowler, C. E., Gunn-Moore, F., and Henderson, G. (2001) Coincident signalling between the Gi/Go-coupled delta-opioid receptor and the Gqcoupled m3 muscarinic receptor at the level of intracellular free calcium in SH-SY5Y cells. J.Neurochem. 76: 1688 - 1700.
- Yi, R., O'Carroll, D., Pasolli, H. A., Zhang, Z., Dietrich, F. S. et al. (2006) Morphogenesis in skin is governed by discrete sets of differentially expressed microRNAs. Nat.Genet. 38: 356 - 362.
- Yu, N., Atienza, J. M., Bernard, J., Blanc, S., Zhu, J. et al. (2006) Real-time monitoring of morphological changes in living cells by electronic cell sensor arrays: an approach to study G protein-coupled receptors. Anal.Chem. 78: 35 - 43.
- Yukawa, K., Butz, K., Yasui, T., Kikutani, H., and Hoppe-Seyler, F. (1996) Regulation of human papillomavirus transcription by the differentiation-dependent epithelial factor Epoc-1/skn-1a. J.Virol. 70: 10 16.
- Yukawa, K., Yasui, T., Yamamoto, A., Shiku, H., Kishimoto, T. et al. (1993) Epoc-1: a POUdomain gene expressed in murine epidermal basal cells and thymic stromal cells. Gene 133: 163 - 169.
- Yuki, T., Haratake, A., Koishikawa, H., Morita, K., Miyachi, Y. et al. (2007) Tight junction proteins in keratinocytes: localization and contribution to barrier function. Exp.Dermatol. 16: 324 - 330.
- Yung, Y., Yao, Z., Hanoch, T., and Seger, R. (2000) ERK1b, a 46-kDa ERK isoform that is differentially regulated by MEK. J.Biol.Chem. 275: 15799 15808.
- Yuspa, S. H., Kilkenny, A. E., Steinert, P. M., and Roop, D. R. (1989) Expression of murine epidermal differentiation markers is tightly regulated by restricted extracellular calcium concentrations in vitro. J.Cell Biol. 109: 1207 1217.
- Zadina, J. E., Hackler, L., Ge, L. J., and Kastin, A. J. (1997) A potent and selective endogenous agonist for the mu-opiate receptor. Nature 386: 499 502.
- Zagon, I. S., Wu, Y., and McLaughlin, P. J. (1996) The opioid growth factor, [Met5]enkephalin, and the zeta opioid receptor are present in human and mouse skin and tonically act to inhibit DNA synthesis in the epidermis. J.Invest Dermatol. 106: 490 -497.
- Zaki, P. A., Bilsky, E. J., Vanderah, T. W., Lai, J., Evans, C. J. et al. (1996) Opioid receptor types and subtypes: the delta receptor as a model. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 36: 379 - 401.
- Zhang, H., Shi, Y. G., Woods, J. H., Watson, S. J., and Ko, M. C. (2007) Central kappaopioid receptor-mediated antidepressant-like effects of nor-Binaltorphimine: behavioral and BDNF mRNA expression studies. Eur.J.Pharmacol. 570: 89 - 96.
- Zhang, H., Torregrossa, M. M., Jutkiewicz, E. M., Shi, Y. G., Rice, K. C. et al. (2006a) Endogenous opioids upregulate brain-derived neurotrophic factor mRNA through delta- and micro-opioid receptors independent of antidepressant-like effects. Eur.J.Neurosci. 23: 984 - 994.

- Zhang, Z., Huettner, P. C., Nguyen, L., Bidder, M., Funk, M. C. et al. (2006b) Aberrant promoter methylation and silencing of the POU2F3 gene in cervical cancer. Oncogene 25: 5436 5445.
- Zhou, X., Richon, V. M., Wang, A. H., Yang, X. J., Rifkind, R. A. et al. (2000) Histone deacetylase 4 associates with extracellular signal-regulated kinases 1 and 2, and its cellular localization is regulated by oncogenic Ras. Proc.Natl.Acad.Sci.U.S.A 97: 14329 - 14333.
- Zhu, Y., King, M. A., Schuller, A. G., Nitsche, J. F., Reidl, M. et al. (1999) Retention of supraspinal delta-like analgesia and loss of morphine tolerance in delta opioid receptor knockout mice. Neuron 24: 243 - 252.
- Zhuang, D., Mannava, S., Grachtchouk, V., Tang, W. H., Patil, S. et al. (2008) C-MYC overexpression is required for continuous suppression of oncogene-induced senescence in melanoma cells. Oncogene 27: 6623 6634.
- Zhurinsky, J., Shtutman, M., and Ben-Ze'ev, A. (2000) Differential mechanisms of LEF/TCF family-dependent transcriptional activation by beta-catenin and plakoglobin. Mol.Cell Biol. 20: 4238 4252.
- Xu,C., Hong, M. H., Zhang, L. S., Hou, Y. Y., WANG, Y. H. et al. (2010) Serine 363 of the {delta}-opioid receptor is crucial for adopting distinct pathways to activate ERK1/2 in response to stimulation with different ligands. J Cell Sci 123: 4259 - 4270.